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1903.
NEW ZEALAND.

NATIVE AFFAIRS COMMITTEE:
REPORT ON THE MAORI LAND LAWS AMENDMENT BILL AND THE MAORI COUNCILS BILL,

TOGETHER WITH MINUTES OF EVIDENCE.

(Mr. R.M. HOUSTON, Chairman.)

Beport brought up on Tuesday, the 10th November, 1903, and ordered to be printed.

ORDERS OF REFERENCE.

Extracts from the Journals of the House of Representatives.
Thursday the 2nd day of July, 1903.

Ordered, " That Standing Order No. 211 be suspended, and that a Committee, consisting of nineteen members,
be appointed to consider all petitions, reports, returns, and other documents relating to affairs speoially affecting
the Native race that may be brought before the House this session, and from time to time to report thereon to the
House; with power to call for persons and papers, Aye to be a quorum: the Committee to consist of Mr. Field,
Mr. A. L. D. Fraser, Mr. Harding, Mr. Heke, Mr. Herries, Mr. Houston, Mr. Jennings, Mr. Kaihau, Mr. Major,
Mr. Mander, Mr. Moss, Mr. Parata, Mr. Pere, Mr. Remington, Sir W. R. Russell, Right Hon. R. J. Seddon,
Mr. Vile, Mr. Willis, and the mover."—(Hon. Mr. Carroll.)

Wednesday, the 30th Day of September, 1903.
Ordered, " That the Maori Land Laws Amendment Bill and the Maori Councils Bill be referred to the Native

Affairs Committee."—(Hon. Mr. Carroll.)

REPOBT.
MAORI LAND LAWS AMENDMENT BILL.

I am directed to report that the Native Affairs Committee, to whom was referred the above-
mentioned Bill, have duly considered the same, and are of opinion that it should be allowed to
proceed, subject to the amendments as shown on a copy of the Bill attached hereto, and that the
evidence taken should be printed.

The Committee having taken evidence on the subject, recommend that no legislative action
be taken by the Government this session with regard to agreements between Europeans and Maoris
relating to timber.

10th November, 1903. E. M. Houston, Chairman.

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE.
Tuesday, 27th October, 1903.

(No. 1.)
The Chairman : In regard to this Maori Land Laws Amendment Bill, I have to state that I

sent notice to people interested in connection with it in my district, informing them that con-
sideration of the Bill had been adjourned in order to permit the taking of evidence regarding
clause 31a. I have, in reply, received a letter from them stating that they are unable to attend
this Committee on account of the great distance they are away from Wellington, and they
have forwarded affidavits here in connection with it, which I think should be read to the Com-
mittee. I will ask the Clerk to read the letter first of all.

[Letter read as follows.]
I—l. 3a.
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Sic,— Kawakawa, 23rd October, 1903.
Owing to the great distance between this district and Wellington, and the shortness of

notice we received of your inquiry into and taking of evidence with regard to the Native Land
Laws Amendment Bill, we are unable to be represented before your Committee.

We respectfully request that you will permit our evidence to be laid before your Committee
in the form of a declaration which accompanies this.

In order to enable this communication to reach you in time for your sitting, we have had to
despatch a messenger with it for a distance of twenty miles.

Yours, &c,
Veenon H. Beed.

The Chairman, Native Affairs Committee, Wellington. Wm. Stewaet.
In the matter of the Maori Land Laws Amendment Bill and the inquiry of the Committee

for Native Affairs.
We, the undersigned, do solemnly and sincerely declare—

1. That on the 15th day of July, 1902, by agreement, we purchased from the Natives a
kahikatea (white-pine) bush near Kawakawa, Bay of Islands, for the price of £2,000.

2. That about six months prior to the signing of the said agreement the Natives had held
meetings and had decided upon the boundaries of and price for the said bush.

3. That the Natives are still satisfied with the terms of the said agreement.
4. That the bush is on papatupu land, but the ownership is now being ascertained by the

Maori Land Council.
5. That we didnot consider, in entering into the said agreement, that we were violating the

spirit of any laws relating to Native lands, for the reasons following :—
(a.) We considered the laws relating to Native lands were directed against the sales of

land in the ordinary meaning of the word "land," with the intention that the
Natives should not become landless.

(b.) We considered the said laws were not made with the intention of preventing Natives
dealing with growing crops—such as oats, wheat, maize, flax, timber, &c.

(c.) We were following the practice pursued by others for years past in purchasing timber
upon papatupu land, which has never been interfered with and has worked satis-
factorily to the Natives.

6. That our dealing has been bondfide and is satisfactory to the Natives, and is not such an
agreement as ought to be declared void by statute as a fraud upon the Natives.

7. That the effect of declaring our agreement void by statute would be that we should have no
redress against the Natives for the recovery of the purchase-money paid the Natives.

8. That the proviso in the Bill to the effect that the Council may ratify an agreement would
be useless to us, as the Natives will not hand over the land upon which the said timber stands for
administration by the Council, and thus our agreement would be rendered void.

9. That in this district in the past, growing oats, maize, flax, and timber upon papatupu lands
have been freely sold by the Natives.

10. That we consider the said Bill should not be made retrospective.
And we make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by

virtue of an Act of the General Assembly of New Zealand intituled " The Justices of the Peace Act,
1882." Veenon H. Beed.

Wm. Stewaet.
Declared at Kawakawa, in the Bay of Islands, this 23rd day of October, 1903, before me—

B. A. Hall, J.P., a Justice of the Peace in and for the Colony of New Zealand.
Hon. Mr. Carroll: That discloses a contract with Natives for timber on papatupu land.
Mr. Vile : £2,000 was paid for it.
Hon. Mr. Carroll: It does not matter if they paid a million ; it does not alter the fact.
The Chairman: Of course, as these gentlemen are not present before the Committee, we have

not the opportunity of cross-questioning them with regard to the affidavit.
Hon. Mr. Carroll : Ido not think the facts are disputed. As far as I know they are correctly

stated there, excepting that on behalf of the Maoris the Native Council up there have impounded
the money paid.

Mr. Fraser: Idonot think there should be any encouragement given to the Natives to sell
papatupu land.

Mr. Field : The sole point is as to whether the document held by these gentlemen is a legal
one or not. If it is a legal one we should not interfere with it; if it is illegal these gentlemen run
their own risk.

Mr. Hone Heke : In dealing with timber on papatupu land there is no basis of law for it.
Mr. Fraser : There are several witnesses present waiting to be examined.

Thomas Shailee Weston Examined. (No. 2.)
1. Mr. Fraser.] What are you ?—Solicitor, Wellington.
2. You have acted, I understand, for clients in regard to timber leases on Native land ?—The

firm of Skerrett and Wylie, of which I am now a partner, have so acted.
3. Have you the notes of any special agreements that were entered into?—There were four

agreements drawn up by us for Gamman and Co., sawmillers, of Palmerston North, over four
blocks, Nos. 2b, 3b, 4b, and sb, Baetihi, containing a total area of 10,000 acres.

4. Mr. Hone Heke.] Give us the separate areas of these blocks?—2b, 3,561 acres; 3b, 1,943
acres ; 4j<, 3,237 acres; sb, 1,174 acres.

5. Mr. Fraser.] Can you remember what the terms of those agreements were ?—No; I did
not go through them. I have checked them.
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6. Have you advised Messrs. Gamman and Co. that their transactions are perfectly

within the four corners of the law?—Yes ; Mr. Skerrett advised them so last year, and that advice
has been given to other sawmillers.

7. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] The four corners of the law? What Act?—The common law. There
is nothing in the Native Land Acts prohibiting the sale of timber fit for sawmillers' purposes at the
time the agreements are made.

8. Mr. Fraser.] Is there anything you would like to say further ?—No ; except that all these
agreements have been duly executed in the presence of a Maori interpreter, and have a Maori
translation and a plan of the land on each. All the forms of the law relating to alienation of land
by Natives have been complied with, except obtaining the Trust Commissioner's certificate, which
is not necessary.

9. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] They come under no Native Land Act ?—No.
10. What forms of law have been complied with?—We have complied with all the formalities

laid down in the Native Land Acts relating to land, with the exception of obtaining the Trust
Commissioner's certificate.

11. In case of accident you made use of the form of the Act of 1894?—lt is quite clear that
the Natives understood what they were doing.

12. Mr. Fraser.] In the same way as if it were an agreement for a crop of potatoes?— Yes..
13. Mr. Field.] You took the provisions of the Land Act of 1894 as a fair guide as to the

method of execution of these documents?—Yes.
14. Mr. Vile.] You took every precaution to see that the Natives understood the transac-

tions ?—Yes ; I may say that the expense of obtaining these agreements was considerable, because
at least from twenty to forty signatures had to be obtained, and an interpreter had to be present
at the taking of each of these signatures.

15. Mr. Fraser.] I suppose you know that the land had passed through the Court ?—Yes.
16. Mr. Field. Can you give the Committee any information as to the consideration to be

paid to the Natives?—No; I was not a member of the firm then, so I am not in a position
to say.

17. Mr. Wi Pere.] In your opinion, Mr. Weston, are these agreements entirely valid: was any
wrongful means resorted to in connection with them ?—-I think they are straight agreements.

18. Is there any reason why they should be submitted to any one to be passed and validated?
—No; that was not the law when they were taken.

19. In regard to the timber ?—Yes.
20. Is that because the timber is growing on the land that there is no reason to do this?—lt

is because under the English common law timber is a chattel simply.
21. Therefore timber does not come under the law ?—lt does not come under the NativeLand

Acts.
22. You say it is merely timber : can you explain why it is that house-blocks when planted

in the ground and a house is built on them—they are timber undoubtedly—and yet according to law
you are not allowed to remove them ? Because you have described timber to be what it is I have
asked you that question ?—Timber is like a crop of wheat, it grows, and its end is to be taken from
the land.

23. That, of course, was the provision that was made when the Council was constituted, that
no matter what thing of a vegetable nature was growing on the land, only the Council should have
the disposal of it: is not grass like timber?—Yes, certainly ;it is cut, and when it is turned into
hay you can sell it. You do not want to make a conveyance of it. This opinion was very
carefully considered by Mr. Skerrett, and it has gone through the North Island and been considered
by other solicitors and been acted upon by their clients.

24. Mr. Hone Heke.] Can you give us the law in regard to land and growing timber?—Yes.
25. What is timber considered when it is growing?—Any timber that is fit for sawmilling

purposes at the time an agreement is taken can certainly be sold by the Natives without it being
considered an interest in land, and therefore coming under the operation of the Native Land Acts.

26. I am asking a question: Is timber considered part of the land where it is growing?
—I could not tell you whether it is part of the land or not, but it is not considered to be an interest
in land. The reason for it is no doubt that in the nature of things timber, like a crop, leaves the
land.

27. Can the Natives sell that growing timber straight out ?—Yes ; all timber fit for sawmilling
purposes.

28. You do not know of any place where Natives, to enable them to get rid of their timber,
really become the employers of a European?—No ; Ido not know of any case of that kind. I can
only speak of the agreements drawn by our firm.

29. The feature of the Native land laws which has to be complied with is the translation ?—
The translation, the map, and the requisite witnesses—namely, a Justice of the Peace, and
a Native interpreter—who have to be present at the signing of each Native's signature.

30. Do you know the features of the Native land laws regarding the leasing of Native land?
—Yes.

31. You know there is a provision enabling the Court to consider whether the consideration
for the land is sufficient?—Yes.

32. That is a provision in regard to this timber?—That is not necessary. The Court has
no jurisdiction to do it. It would be asking them to do what they have no power to do

33. Mr. Hemes.] Your opinion is that there is nothing in the Native land laws that affects
the timber?—No.

34. Does that apply both to growing and felled timber ?—lt applies to all timber fit for saw-
milling purposes at the time the agreement is given. It would not apply to very young timber.
It must be a matured crop.
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35. These agreements are for growing timber ?—They are for timber fit for sawmilling pur-
poses, whether standing or lying on the ground.

36. Mr. Vile.] You consider that matured timber is in the same position as matured flax, or
any other matured crop?—Yes ; just the same.

37. You know that it is proposed to make all these transactions illegal and retrospective ?—
Yes.

38. Do you know whether there have been many transactions of this description—transactions
besides the four you have acted professionally in?—l know of others. Mr. Skerrett's opinion has
gone to other solicitors who have acted on it.

39. By general repute, and from your position to hear these things, you having been mixed up
with sawmillers, have you heard of many other transactions such as the four you have acted pro-
fessionally in ?—I have heard of others. The proposed change would be a very drastic change.
It would hit a large number of sawmillers, because, owing to the scarcity of timber land, rights like
these have been taken up very much during the last few years. Of course, the danger is this :to
ask them to go before the Maori Council now would be unfair in this way, that there has been such
a rapid growth in the value of timber during the last few years that it wouldbe difficult to say what
would be a fair value at the time the agreements were taken when the country was not opened up.

40. Do you know anything about the big Taupo syndicate?—No.
41. Mr. Field.] You have seen the proposed clause 31a, have you not?—Yes. With regard

to future contracts the clause is very strong. If you only allow the Native owner to cut and
remove the timber the only chance of enforcing the agreement is by an action for damages, and an
action for damages is sometimes abortive. It would give every chance for litigation to arise.

42. Assuming that a sawmiller has a contract with Natives for a block of timber, and the
contract can be sustained in a Court of law, but which, nevertheless, in the point of view of a fair-
minded man, would be shocking to his conscience, owing to the terms given to the Natives : what
would you do in a case like that? Perhaps you would not like to express an opinion ?—Well, the
country is not very much opened up yet, and it is only during the last few years that a good deal
of roading has been going on.

43. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] You consider, Mr. Weston, that, according to the law, standing
timber on land would be a chattel?—Yes ; that is the basis of the whole thing.

44. Mr. Fraser.] With your previous proviso, that it is matured timber?—Yes.
45. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] Timber, whether matured or not, would be timber?—I do not think

young trees are contemplated. It must be timber fit for cutting.
46. You declare, of course, that your contracts are perfectly legal and will hold good in

a Court of law?—Yes.
47. Do you register them?—No ; we have not registered. I question whetherwe couldregister

them under the Land Transfer Act.
48. You are secured by your contract in any Court of law on what is not a registrable

document ?—Yes. Under our Land Transfer Act Ido not think you can register. It is not an
interest in land within the meaning of the Land Transfer Act.

49. You have complied with all the forms required by theAct for the protection of the Natives,
by having a Native interpreter, witnesses, and so forth ?—Yes.

50. Except one of the requirements of the law, and that is by some official—the Trust Com-
missioner under the Native Land Act—to see whether the consideration is fair or otherwise : that is
omitted?—Yes; there is no jurisdiction for the Court to interfere or to grant such a certificate.

51. And there is no remedy, I infer from yourremarks, in the case of a transaction the terms
of which would shock the conscience of members ?—Yes, there is certainly a remedy. In equity, if
there was a fraud, I think these agreements would be set aside.

52. How would they come before the Court ?—The Native would be looked upon as a person
under a disability, and if it could be shown that the case was so shocking as to satisfy the Court that
the Native did not know what he was doing the contract would be set aside.

53. That would be the remedy ?—Yes.
54. What would be the remedy of the sawmiller if the Native revoked his contract ?—Now

you open up a question which I cannot answer straight away. I think he could go on the land
and take the timber, as the timber is sold to him.

55. Mr. Fraser.] He could go for damages ?—Yes; but that is rather a brutumfulmen in cer-
tain cases. You find in practice, however, that the Natives in the interior of the North Island are
straight dealers.

56. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] The question is, what they could do ?—Yes; what their legal right is.
57. You wish to impress upon the minds of the Committee that the value of the consideration

should not be gauged from what the value through the opening-up of the country is now, and that
it should not be based on the present valuation ?—No.

58. But when there was not that rise in timber and the country was not opened up?—Yes.
59. The Baetihi blocks forming the subject of the agreements are on the Pipiriki Boad, are

they not?—I could not say. It would be very awkward to get the timber into the market.
60. You have not been up through that country ? —No ; but I know the locality. I have been

interested in sawmilling myself.
61. Mr. Hone Heke.] You know section 117 of " The Native Land Court Act, 1894 "?- -Yes.
62. The restriction there is not strong enough to prevent the sale of growing timber?—No.
63. The Chairman.] Would you consider maize, oats, flax, or potatoes as a matured crop, the

same as timber?—Yes.
64. Then, if a Native were legally entitled to sell a crop of oats or maize, would you infer

from that that he would be entitled to sell a crop of timber?—Yes; the English cases are clear
on that.
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65. With regard to the papatupu, land, if a Native were entitled to sell a crop of oats or maize

would you consider that illegal ?—No.
66. Then, if you do not consider it illegal to sell a crop of potatoes, oats, or maize, the same

would apply to timber ?—Yes ; that is so. It cannot prevent a Native using the land to the best
advantage.

Geoege Albert Gamman examined. (No. 3.)
67. Mr. Fraser.] You were one of the partners of Gamman and Co., timber-merchants,

Palmerston North ?—That is so.
68. Mr. Weston has just told the Committee of an agreement his firm has drawn up for your

company in connection with land at Baetihi ?—Yes, that is correct.
69. How many acres are there in that property ?—Just about 10,000 acres.
70. How many acres of milling-timber are there in that property ?—I should say there would

be about 6,000 acres of milling-timber.
71. What are the timbers?—White-pine, rimu, matai, and some totara.
72. What do you mean by ;' some totara " : do you mean isolated trees?—Yes ; it is ordinary

rimu and white-pine bush, with a little totara.
73. How long is your agreement for?—Twenty-one years.
74. The Chairman.] Have you a copy of the agreement with you ?—No, I have not.
75. Mr. Fraser.] I suppose you can give us an idea of what the terms are?—Well, there are

a good many clauses in it.
76. Did the Natives approach you with regard to leasing this land ? —They approached my

firm.
77. Can you tell the Committee the price you were paying for royalty for these timbers?—

2d. on white-pine, 3d. on rimu, 6d. on matai, and Is. 6d. on totara. That is per 100 ft. superficial,
sawn measurement.

78. Can you tell the Committee—I do not want you to put an extravagant value on it—what
rent or payment per acre the Natives should get on this basis ? —I should say they would get
about £3 10s. an acre.

79. So that for these 6,000 acres of milling-timber they would receive £21,000?—Yes.
80. How many miles is this land from the railway at the present time?—About forty or fifty—

nearer fifty than forty.
81. Can you tell the Committee what you estimate your outlay to be on this land before you

commence operations?—We have decided to put all our plant on this place, and that would mean
the outlay of £15,000 before we commenced operating on it.

82. You pay the Natives the royalty you have already stated: now, what protection have the
Natives from being defrauded in the amount of timbercut?—They have aright under the agreement
to have any one they choose to inspect our books.

83. Any solicitor or representative could inspect your books at any time?—That is so.
84. With regard to the profit side of the timber, the Natives get on an average 7d. per 100

superficial feet for this timber?—Yes ; between 6d. and 7d.
85. What is the nearest point to the main trunk line ?—Ohakune.
86. Taking the nearest point on the railway now, what would be the freight from there to

your market at the present time—I am not talking of fifty years hence ?—About 4s. per 100ft.
87. The Natives get 7d. and the Government get 4s. : now, what would be yourprofit per 100 ft.

after paying all expenses ?—We reckon that if we get Is. per 100ft. profit all through we do very
well.

88. Have you other leases of timber from Europeans ?—At Dannevirke we have.
89. Do you pay royalty there ? —Yes.
90. What do you pay to Europeans?—We have a sliding-scale from 4d. to 6d. It would be

an average of about sd.
91. Who is the European?—Mr. Bathbone. lam referring to rimu.
92. And white-pine ?—Not white-pine. lam referring to rimu, and that is about the average.

It is only approximate, as far as I can say.
93. Is that property adjacent to the railway?—The railway runs through it.
94. In fact, there is a siding on the block, is there not?—Yes.
95. What is the freight from there on the train ? —Erom there to Wellington—that is the

market at the present time—it is 35., the exact figure.
96. Turning to the land at Baetihi, are there any adjoining properties occupied by Euro-

peans ? —Yes; they are settled all round.
97. Is there similar timber on this land adjoining ?—Yes, in many places. It was much better,

but it has been destroyed.
98. You mean destroyed by being fallen and burned?—Yes.
99. They were Crown lands?—Yes.
100. And they are Crown tenants now ?—Yes.
101. When land has been cleared and burned, does it not enhance the danger of fire destroy-

ing the remaining bush?—Yes, very much, because the fire of these settlers burns the edges of the
block and increases the danger every year. One of our 5,000-acre blocks at Dannevirke was fired
right through, and more timber was destroyed than we have cut there.

102. How many hands do you anticipate employing when you start work?—About as many
as we employ now—from 120 to 130 men.

103. You would employ 120 to 130men for how long ? —About ten years.
104. Do you insure these men ?—Yes.
105. What is the rate now ?~£3 6s. per cent.
106. What is the insurance on your plant ?—£7 per £100.
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107. Mr. Remington.] Have you made any arrangements with the European settlers in the
Baetihi district to take any of their timber ?—No.

108. Have you heard of any sawmillers who have ?—I cannot say I have.
109. Do you know whether there are any mills established there at the present time?—-Yes.
110. How do they get their timber away ?—I think they ship it from Pipiriki, and send it

down by steamer. They are much nearer than we are. We are many miles further away.
111. Are you aware of any other agreements having been entered into for cutting Native

timber in that district ?—No, I do not know of any.
112. Did you base your estimates of the value of timber on the cost it would be to get it away

to the market ?—Yes, we always do that.
113. I mean, had there been a railway-station within three or five miles of where you propose

to cut the timber, would you have given more to the Maoris for the timber ?—No ; we have cal-
culated that there will be a railway there some time, and that that would be a means of getting
the timber away. We considered that it would be a fair value, as we know there will be an in-
creased freight.

114. You understand the nature of the proposed legislation regarding timber ?—Yes.
115. And you consider that it would have a retrospective effect?—Yes.
116. So far as the agreements you have entered into are concerned, would you have any

objection to them being submitted to any competent tribunal for the purpose of estimating whether
fair consideration was given to the Natives under the circumstances ?—I think it would be fair
to have thatreferred to our solicitors; but Ido not think we should make any objection, as far as I
can tell.

117. Did you intend establishing a mill at an early date there ?—Under the conditions of the
agreement, we have to make a start in about two years. I am not quite sure, but I think there is
some clause to that effect in the agreement. We are looking forward to putting theplants we have
at Dannevirke up there.

118. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] You have practically five years before you can sell timber from
there ?—Yes.

119. Mr. Remington.] In the meantime are you paying the Natives anything for the use of
this land?—On the completion of the deed we are paying them £800 on top of the royalty we
agreed to pay.

120. Mr. Wi Pere.] Are you not willing to submit this agreement of yours to the Maori
Council to be approved of by them ? That is all this clause proposes to do?—-I am not prepared
to say that definitely just now. I would like some little time to consider that.

121. I understand you to say that your people are afraid of the effect of this proposed legisla-
tion ?—That is so.

122. Have youread the clause that proposes to deal with these timber agreements ?—-I think
I am acquainted with it.

123. And what part of it are you afraid of ?—We understand our rights are to be cancelled,
and we are to have no further dealings or rights of cutting timber.

124. Which part of the clause provides for that?—We understand that it is of a retrospective
nature.

125. Can you quote any part of the section which says so ?—I would like to look at the clause.
[Clause referred to.] Our deed has not been done through the Council.

126. This clause 31a reads that " Every sale, contract, or agreement for the sale or disposal of
timber growing or standing on any Maori land," and so on ; " provided that in case of any such
agreement entered into before the passing of this Act application may be made to the Council for
ratification of the same " ?—Yes.

127. And upon such application the " Council may, after inquiry and subject to the approval
of the Governor in Council, ratify, or modify and ratify, any such agreement " : perhaps it is that
power to modify that distresses you ?—lt seems to me that it is a matter for our solicitors, and I
would not like to say anything about that.

128. Mr. Hone Heke.] How far is this Baetihi bush over which you have acquired theright to
cut timber from the route of the proposed railway-line?—The railway-line is surveyed through a
corner of the block.

129. Which is the nearest railway-station at the present time to the block ?—Mangaweka.
130. Is Ohakune a station?—Ohakune is the name of a small township there.
131. Does the railway route go near Ohakune ?—I understand it does.
132. How far is that from Ohakune?—I think probably a mile and a half.
133. And how far is your block—that is, the near edge of your block—from Ohakune ?—Within

probably a quarter of a mile to some of it.
134. Then, how does the statement you have given in reply to Mr. Fraser come in, when you

answered that this block is fifty miles from the railway?—He asked me this question, " What is
the nearest station at the present time ? " and I said, " Fifty miles."

135. So that when the railway-line is constructed it will actually run on the edge of the block
that you have acquired the right to the timber over?—That is so.

136. In fact, the near part of the block is not more than a mile away ?—Yes, I understand
that is where the surveyed route is.

137. Have you had any lengthy experience in milling?—Since I was about twenty years old I
have been at it.

138. Mr. Herries.] Do we understand that you have started at Baetihi ?—We have net yet.
139. Is it your intention, when you start, to employ Maori or white labour?—There is a

clause in the agreement providing for both.
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140. When do you propose to start, if the legislation remains as it is now?—I think in about
twelve months from now.

141. You will not wait until the Main Trunk Bailway reaches there ?—We expect to have the
full plants in by that time. We would not expect to start with the full plant at first.

142. How would you expect to get your timber out then ?—We would expect to get it down
the river.

143. Have you heard any objection on the part of the Maoris to your cutting timber ?—No ;
we got on pretty well, excepting that there is a split between the Baetihi Maoris and the
Maunganui-o-te-ao.

144. Do you think these representations are due in any way to the Maoris ?—I do not think so.
145. Mr. Mandtr.] How many others have purchased timber rights besides yourselves ?—I do

not know of anybody else.
146. You have no idea of the extent of the timber which has been purchased ?—No. All round

this block the Government holds the land. This particular part of the Waimarino was the only
part we could get, except in the north.

147. Is there any risk of the railway being deviated at all from the point where it touches
you ?—There is a fair risk.

148. There is no positive certainty that the railway will go where the line has been surveyed?
—No.

149. Therefore you run a considerable risk ?—Yes.
150. You say this land is surrounded by Government land ?—Settlers are all round it, and I

presume it is Crown land.
151. I understand you to say that the Crown settlers had felled and burned a quantity of

valuable timber?—Yes.
152. Do you think the Crown land, in its original state, was as valuable for timber purposes

as that which you have got ?—Yes ; I think part of it was more valuable.
153. Have you any idea what the Government paid for that land?—No.
154. They bought that land right out, and not only for the timber rights ?—I understand so.
155. Mr. Jennings.] Is the block of 10,000 acres you have purchased in the southern part of

the Waimarino ?—I am not quite clear whether it is part of the Waimarino or not, but it borders
on the Waimarino. It might be included in the South Waimarino. There is no doubt that it is
part of the same forest that runs through the Waimarino.

156. Do you think the railway will be constructed in about two years' time, and will pass
through this particular block ? —As a matter of fact, we thought it would be there now.

157. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] You have stated that Ohakune, which is marked on the main trunk
line as a station, is only a quarter of a mile away from the nearest part of your block ?—Yes.

158. And I think you led the Committee to infer from your remarks that you did not intend
to start thoroughly, beyond putting up your plant, to get your milling operations into full swing
until the railway reaches that point ?—Yes ; or somewhere near about it.

159. In answer to a question Mr. Fraser put to you, you replied that it would cost 4s. per
100ft. to cart the timber to the nearest railway-station at the present time ?—I said the present
freight would be about 4s. by rail.

160. Then, it is not the intention of your firm to cart any timberto the nearest railway-station
now ?—No ; that would be absolutely impossible.

161. If you did start operations at all previous to the railway reaching an adjacent point to
your block, what would you do : would you carry it by means of the Wanganui Biver ?—We should
probably endeavour to get orders while the railway-construction was going on.

162. Then, practically, you would hold all the rights you possess for a fitting opportunity—it
may be for three or five years ?—No; we would do what is fair.

163. You would not cart your timber at a loss?—No; but we are prepared to stand a little
loss.

164. Have you paid any money to the Natives ?—I could not say definitely what was paid.
165. Was it a large amount ?—I do not know what it was.
166. Did your firm anticipate any risks in regard to the venture ?—Yes, we do.
167. From the very start you did?—Yes. We have two risks: one is that of the line

deviating, and the other is the risk of fire.
168. What reasons have you to apprehend any deviation?—No more than what has been done

in the past.
169. Just the bare possibility that it might be so?—Yes.
170. The Chairman.] You said that some of this bush was surrounded by Government land

that had been taken up by settlers?—Yes.
171. Was there any large amount of timber on that Government land ?—Yes.
172. Were the settlers aware that they would be allowed to sell it?—l think the mills have

been working on part of it.
173. But most of it was felled and burnt ?—Yes.
174. And you are not aware whether they were allowed to sell the timber or not ?—I could

not say.

Thursday, 29th October, 1903.
C. P. Skerrett, Solicitor, examined. (No. 4.)

1. The Chairman.] You are asked by the Committee to produce an agreement which the
Committee understand was prepared by you for Messrs. Gamman and Co., mill-owners. The
Committee wish to get some evidence from you with regard to the agreement. Have you the
agreement with you ?—Yes, and I am quite willing to produce it for inspection by members of the
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Committee, but think I should be permitted to ask for two stipulations—first, that this agreement
should be treated as confidential, except for such purposes as the Committee may think proper forthe purpose of making up theirminds on theparticular matter under consideration ; and, secondly
that the agreement should not be printed as part of the evidence. >

2. The Committee agreed to that course before you were called in?—l am glad to hear that.
I now hand in the agreement; but, perhaps, it would be better if I explained the meaning of the
different clauses.

3. Perhaps it would ? —The agreement is made between the Natives mentioned in the schedule
and Messrs. Gamman and Co. [Clauses referred to at length.' I may say that the agreement is
based on a rule that undoubtedly prevails in England—namely, that a person owning apiece of land
can sell the standing timber on the land as a chattel, and the purchaser acquires what is known in
law as a license, which is distinct from an estate, to cut such timber. I understand that if a
gentleman in England becomes what is called " hard up," and desires to sell part of the timber on
his estate, he calls in a timber-merchant, who goes round and marks the trees he intends to
purchase. A contract is made, and that timber is then the property of the timber-merchant, who
cuts it when convenient. But that right gives him no interest in the land on which the timber
stands. Parliament, of course, is the highest Court in the land, but all Courts have adopted the
principle that legislation should not be retrospective so as to affect right acquired before the
passing of such legislation. I quite admit that there are cases where the Legislature would act
quite rightly in making legislation retrospective. Where it is thought there has been fraud or
overreaching, or anything of that kind, then there is a justification for retrospective legislation.
But I venture to suggest to the Committee that where there is no such thing, it is inconsistentwith
the principle guiding this and all other Courts to made legislation retrospective. The agreement
has not been prepared without the very gravest consideration as to its validity, and we are quite
prepared to take the risk as to whether it is valid or not.

4. Mr. Remington.] The agreement has not been prepared with the distinct idea that it was
evading the Maori Land Act?—No. It is in consonance with the English law.

5. The Natives sell the chattel interest in the timber when felled?—-Yes.
6. Mr. Hone Heke.] The basis of this agreement is not made, at least, from the Native land

leases of this country ? —No.
7. What is your opinion with regard to the provision in " The Native Land Act, 1894," sec-

tion 117, which restricts any dealings in regard to Native land?—My opinion is that it would apply
only to a contract or instrument creating an estate or interest in land, and does not apply to any
chattel interest.

8. What is the law now in regard to standing timber on the land : is not standing timber
regarded as part of the land ?—For some purposes ; but the timber maybe sold as a chattel interest
apart from the land itself.

9. And in instances where the timber is considered to be part of the land the timber cannot be
removed ?—Yes. Take an illustration : I sell a building containing a number of fixtures that are
attached more or less to the land ; the sale would primd facie include the fixtures, but I may sell
those fixtures without selling the land. I sell the fixtures only, and if Ido the purchaser acquires
a chattel interest, and what is known in law "as a grant to go in and takeand remove the fixtures.
The timber is part of the land in this respect—that if you sell the land you sell the timber ; but if
you sell the timber apart from the land the timber passes like the fixtures

10. Mr. Vile.] You sell the timber standing just as you would sell a house ?—Yes.
11. Mr. Hone Heke.] Has it not been laid down that timber is part of the land, and therefore

in the assessment of value that timber is included in the valuation?—Undoubtedly.
12. And that would not prevent any person owning the land with timber upon it from selling

the timber as a chattel, as you say?—No.
13. In the case of land leased to any person for the purpose of grazing, and no provision being

made in the lease authorising the lessee to cut and sell the timber, has he any power to do so ?—
You have raised an extremely difficult question. I have had to consider it. My view is that if a
piece of forest land is leased to a person that person can fell and remove the timber, providing he
does it for the purpose of converting the land into cultivation or pasture. Ido not think a saw-
miller would be allowed to go on the land to remove the timber only for the purpose of selling it.
I think the lessee would be restrained from doing that. If a timber-merchant acquires a piece of
land and makes up his mind to cut out portion of it, he may do so, providing he afterwards cuts
out the remaining timber. He must not riddle out the trees on the land, and leave the remainder
of the bush standing. If I had not had to consider the question I should have felt very much at a
loss to answer it.

14. Mr. Herries.] You are speaking of leases?—Yes.
15. That has nothing to do with this question?—Nothing whatever to do with it.
16. One of your remarks expressed a doubt—or Mr. Weston, one of your partners, expressed a

doubt—as to whether you could cut the timber when growing ?—Yes. The agreement provides,
ex abundanti cautela, for the case of it being doubtful whether property can pass in growing timber.

17. There could be no possible doubt, even if there was a doubt about the other thing, if the
timber was felled, that it could be sold?—No doubt whatever.

18. And, so far as the Native land laws are concerned, is there anything to prevent the Maori
owners selling the timber after it is felled ?—None whatever.

19. There can be no doubt?—None. I prepared the agreement in this particular matter, but
I »aye an opinion long before this agreement was contemplated, and this agreement is based on the
opinion of Mr. Bell as well as my own.

20. Your opinion is that the timber is a growing crop?—Yes.
21. And therefore is a chattel ?—Yes,
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22. Does it make any difference whether the crop is matured or not ? —I do not think so.
23. They could cut a tree whether it was matured or not ?—Yes.
24. And would not be liable for impeachment for waste ?—That involves the existence of some

other person who is not the vendor. Here we are dealing with the freeholders. They have not
got a freehold interest, but they have an estate as nearly as possible analogous. They have a
statutory right of disposal by sale, subject to statutory restriction ; a right of devise by will;
and in the event of intestacy, then the Court appoints successors ; so that there is no one who
can object to the waste.

25. It is open under the agreement for the Maoris, if they repented of their bargain, to test the
matter in Court ?—Undoubtedly, if. under the agreement, a Native thinks he has been deceived
or that the agreement is invalid. All that is open to him.

26. Supposing a Native does not carry out his bargain, what is the security?—I should prefer
not to discuss that. I agree that the position of the sawmiller is a very precarious one in law, but
it is not desirable that I should discuss it further. I should hope the agreement would be carried
out loyally.

27. But the sawmiller risks a good deal?—He risks all his plant. He may erect expensive
works and the Natives may say, "I am not going to deliver this timber to you." The sawmiller
has no interest in the land, and there might be a difficulty in enforcing his rights.

28. It is said that some of these contractors are spoiling the Natives; but, on the other hand,
the purchaser is in a very precarious condition ?—Yes.

29. And he has very little chance of enforcing his agreement ?—Very slight.
30. Has there been, to your knowledge, any dissatisfaction on thepart of the Maori owners ?—

I cannot answer that question, because I have not been in communication with the Maori
owners.

31. But so far as your knowledge goes?—As far as my knowledge goes, absolutely none.
32. Mr. Moss.] Was every precaution taken to let the Natives understand that agreement

when executing it?—l cannot say personally, except that it was placed in the hands of a respect-
able and able interpreter for the purpose of its execution, and there is a very complete typewritten
statement in Maori of the contents.

33. Did they sign the Maori copy?—No; it is attached to the agreement in the usual way.
34. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] Who is the interpreter you refer to?—Mr. George Cook, of Foxton.

That was before it was submitted to the Maoris. It is taken before Mr. Hawkins, of Wanganui,
and George Cook, licensed interpreter of the first grade.

35. There is no chance of the Natives being misled or not understanding what they were
signing?—No.

36. Mr. Field.] Was any solicitor acting for the Natives ? —I cannot say.
37. You suggested that it would be improper for the Legislature, and contrary to the practice

in the British Constitution, to legislate retrospectively. The difficulty of the Committee, or of
some of the members of it, is this: that it was thought that in some cases perhaps the Natives had
been got the better of by the sawmillers. Do you suggest that it would be improper for the Legis-
lature to step in and invalidate or review every contract with the Natives ? or, if that is not your
opinion, how would you suggest to weed out the fair contracts from the unfair ones ?—I think this:that the Committee is wholly incompetent, owing to their engagements and to the circumstances
under which they sit, to consider whether an agreement is a fair, reasonable, or honest one. That
must necessarily, I submit, be left to the ordinary law of the land. If the Natives have been dis-
honestly treated they have their remedy, and there is no lack of lawyers waiting to espouse their
cause ; and I can assure you that litigation with the Natives, even if successful, does not always
mean that the successful litigant gets his costs. My opinion is that, whatever the Committee does
with contracts executed subsequently to the Bill, they ought not to do anything that will affect
agreements under the existing law.

38. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] When you say that things should be allowed to remain under the
existing law, you do not refer to those laws that govern and affect dealings in Native land?—No ;
I mean laws apart.

39. And I think it is your opinion that the agreements and contracts for the timber standing
on these blocks which are mentioned in the deed are not dealings in land?—That is my
opinion.

40. Were they dealings with land, of course ?—They would be void.
41. Did you have to refer to the English law in drawing up this agreement ?—Yes, very care-

fully.
42. Because there was no provision in our Native Land Acts to enable any such contracts to

be entered into ?—That is quite true.
43. You said that the sawmillers were undertaking very great risk ?—Yes.
44. That there was a possibility of a Native failing to carry out his bargain, and that there

was no remedy for the sawmiller?—I said there was no very satisfactory remedy.
45. It was just possible he might come out second best ? —Just so.
46. In fact, it is a speculation on the part of the sawmiller ?—Yes.
47. Essentially so ?—Yes.
48. There are good timber prospects there, and he is anxious to be first in the field to secure

preferential rights? —Yes; but under this contract they have to start at once. I believe these
lands are in the vicinity of the main trunk line, and directly railway facilities are given they are
bound to start to cut and continue cutting. That is an expressed clause of the agreement.

49. Mr. Gamman said it would be impossible to send sawn timber away before four or five years,
but that they would start operations and set up the plant. They would have a monopoly of 10,000
acres, 6,000 of which is timber land, for that time?—That is so.

2—l. 3a.
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50. On the matter of what is a chattel, in answer to a questionput uy Mr. Heke, you said you
considered growing timber is not part of the land?—I say that for some purposes it is part
of the land, but that it can be sold as a chattel.

51. I think you illustrated that by referring to other fixtures put on land which could be sold
without in any way affecting the right of the land ?—Yes.

52. This growing timber would be something of natural growth, and not planted by human
hands ?—Yes ; but that does not make any difference.

53. You said that any Native owner who was joined in that contract can revoke his contract
or refuse to sell his timber after having contracted that he should, and you were not certain as to
the remedy of the sawmiller?—Yes.

54. Would you be satisfied if any of the Native owners—so as to have this question settled—
took the first step and refused to carry out the bargain, or took steps in the Supreme Court to
obtain an injunction to restrain the sawmiller from using the timber?—I have no objection to that;
but I think the Crown should fight on fair terms and give the ordinary security for cost. I have
no objection to this matter being tested, and the sooner it is tested—if the Natives desire it—the
better.

55. Would you prefer that course to any attempt being made by the Legislature to provide
for an examination of or inquiry into these transactions with a view to modifying or ratifying
the present contracts?—Yes, I should prefer it to go to the Supreme Court.

56. Supposing a Native does not go to the Supreme Court, and simply refuses to carry out
his part of the bargain ?—We should have to go there then.

57. The Chairman.] What is the term of the lease?—There is no specific term. All the
timber on the land is sold under this clause and it has to be cut within a reasonable time.

58. Mr. Field.]. Mr. Gamman told us it was for twenty-one years?—l do not think there is
any specified time mentioned. [Agreement referred to.] Directly the railway is completed they
will have to go on cutting timber according to the regular and ordinary course of a timber-
merchant's business.

59. The Chairman.] Then, if the railway does not go there for forty or fifty years they need
not go on with the work?—That is quite true ; but, if that is so, the contract is quite useless to
them, because their profit is to be made by the cutting-down of the timber and its sale.

60. What is the area of this block over which they will have timber rights?—What the
total area is Ido not know. I must ask you to get that from Mr. Gamman.

61. There is nothing specified as to the amount of timber likely to be cut?—No.
62. If the Natives had the power to lease the land, and there was nothing specified with regard

timber, would the lessee have the right to cut that timber ?—Yes, provided he does it for the purpose
of clearing the land and laying it down in grass.

63. He can sell it and dispose of it as he likes ?—Yes. It would be unreasonable if he could
fell the timber and burn it and yet not sell it.

64. Then, you would consider the Government would be acting absurdly if they enforced such
a provision?—It is not law. This matter has been very much considered in America, but we have
not had many cases in New Zealand. The law I have placed before the Committee has been
deduced from the American authorities.

65. It is common-sense anyhow?—Yes, it is common-sense.
66. Mr. Parata.] Does that agreement bind all the timber for sawmilling purposes ?—lt is

timber fit for sawmilling purposes only.
67. Mr. Hone Heke.] In regard to the provisions of the agreement treating of totara, the

royalty for first-class heart of totara is Is. 6d. Can you give us any idea of what would be the
position of second-class and third-class timber : would the Natives receive payment for that?—I
have not the least idea. I should think it would be included in the term " other timber."

68. Then, the second-grade and third-grade timber would come within the royalty of 2d. ?—
Yes, I think so.

69. Mr. Fraser.] Is there any provision in that lease to the effect that while the timber is
being felled the Natives may run stock ?—They may do what they like with it.

70. The Natives can occupy and use the land as they like ?—Yes.
71. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] Can they burn?—They cannot burn, because there is a provision made

against it in this agreement. It would be absurd to enter into this agreement and let them put a
match to the timber.

72. But they might discard this agreement?—They would have to fight for it. I have a very
strong opinion as to its validity.

George Alfred Gamman further examined. (No. 5.)
73. Mr. Herries.] There was a question asked by Mr. Heke of Mr. Skerrett with regard to

the royalty for totara: it is Is. 6d. for first-class totara, is it not ?—That is so.
74. What do you pay for second-class totara?—lt is worth very little. For some timber

we pay half-price, but if the totara is very bad it has not a saleable value.
75. That would be half-price ?—Yes.
76. When did you propose to start cutting timber?—We thought in about twelve months'

time.
77. Do you expect not to start until the railway goes to Ohakune?—No; we propose to

start when it is practicable to cart timber— when the railway gets within reasonable distance of
the block.

78. And what do you call a reasonable distance ?—About ten or twelve miles.
79. You are prepared to bond fide cut timber as soon as you can—you do not intend to

hold it for speculative purposes?—No. We have four plants, and one will be ready to be
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shifted in about twelve months—when we have finished the timber on which it is at present
engaged. The whole lot of our timber will be cut out in four or five years from now, and we
propose to put all our plants in this new place. We do not intend to hold the property any time
longer than it is practicable to work it.

80. You are going to use the plants you have at present to cut out this timber ?—Yes, that is
our intention.

81. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] You would not start cutting this timber through this block until the
railway gets within ten or twelve miles?—That is so.

82. It would not pay you to do so before that?—No.
83. You will be compelled to wait until the railway gets there ?—Yes. There is only one

other outlet, by way of the Wanganui Biver.
84. And you do not propose to use that ?—No.
85. Although you might get your plant in now and start your general milling business, you

cannot say when you intend to start ?—No. We might get it out by way of Wanganui.
86. But the prospects of getting timber down the Wanganui are not at all encouraging ? —No.
87. Have you been on the block ?—Yes.
88. You have inspected the timber ?—Yes.
89. What proportion is there, roughly speaking, of totara, rimu, kahikatea, and matai?—l

should think fully one-third of the bush is white-pine ; the other third is rimu and matai, but here
and there totara. The proportion of totara is very small.

90. You put a third down for rimu, a third down for white-pine, and the rest would be matai?
—Matai, miro, and totara.

91. What estimate have you made of the quantity of timber per acre on the 6,000 acres?
What would it cut per acre ?—Boughly, I should estimate there would be from 15,000ft. to
18,000ft. per acre.

92. Mr. Hone Heke.] Mixed bush ?—Yes; that is on the milling-timber.
93. Mr. Marnier.] About 10,000,000ft. in the lot?—Yes.
94. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] You said yesterday that your plant at the present time was in use at

Dannevirke, where you are carrying on a milling business ?—That is so.
95. In the bush you contracted for with Mr. Bathbone ?—Yes. As a matter of fact, we have

four plants there. One is on Mr. Bathbone's block.
96. How long ago is it since you got the lease from Mr. Bathbone?—l could not say to a year

or so. I should think probably about five years ago.
97. Do you think the price of timber five years ago was anything near what it is now ?—No,

it was much lower.
98. Considerably lower?—Yes. We have everything to contend with now. Insurance rates

are higher, and wages are higher ; and the expense of producing timber was much lower five years
ago.

99. For the purpose of comparison, the royalty you paid five years ago would not be of any
value in connection with the rate you pay now, circumstances being so different?—That is so.

100. Did you say your intention was to cut out the bush at Dannevirke and then transplant
your plants to these blocks?—Yes.

101. How long do you think it will take you to finish at Dannevirke ? —I said that one mill
would probably fall out in about twelve months, two plants in about two years, and the last one
in about five years.

102. The Chairman.] In cutting your timber do you classify it as first, second, and third
class ?—We never have third-class timber. We have first and second class.

103. You only make two classes of timber ?—Yes.
104. These prices you have quoted—2d., 3d., 6d., and Is. 6d.—are all first class?— Yes.
105. How do you pay the Natives for second-class timber?—ln the case of rimu and white-

pine it is not like kauri—it is almost valueless. In the case of totara it would probably be sold
at matai and rimu rates. The royalty would be paid as on matai or rimu.

106. Mr. Fraser.] You said your mill would be free to go there in twelve months ?—Yes.
107. What would you do then ?—We should have to select the site for the mill, put in a rail-

way-siding and tramway, and we have to build a house for the men, put up the stables and the
blacksmith's shop, and do a lot of work.

108. As a matter of fact, you have practically a year's work before you could set your mill
going?—Yes.

109. Mr. Hone Heke.] In reply to an interjection by Mr. Mander, I think I heard you say
that miro timber is used as rimu ?—Yes, usually.

110. So by your agreement, although you sell miro as rimu for 3d., you will sell this as other
timber, according to your agreement, at 2d. ?—ln all our deeds we have not one clause bearing on
miro, because it is always agreed that miro and rimu are classed as the same thing.

111. You say that you give 3d. for rimu and you sell miro timber as rimu, but according to
your agreement you sell it for 2d. ?—Yes; that was meant to cover tawa and other trees not men-
tioned. We are quite prepared to take miro as rimu. We have never mentioned anything about
miro, but a man expects to get rimu rates for miro. It is a thing that has been omitted, being a
timber that is only scattered through the bush and never taken into consideration.

112. Are there any other trees that you treat as rimu or matai?—I do not think so.
113. In reply to Mr. Carroll, you made an estimate of the quantity of timber growing on the

country before you entered into a contract with the Natives ?—He asked me if I had any estimate
of the value of the timber, and I said the estimate I made was 15,000ft. to 18,000ft. per acre—
that is, on the milling acreage.

114. This 15,000ft. to 18,000 ft. is a very low estimate, is it not ?—I do not think so.
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115. Is not a kahikatea bush considered to contain more superficial feet than totara or any
other timber?—lt depends greatly upon the bush. If you take the North Waimarino totara and.
compare that bush you would find it would contain three times the amount that the South Wai-
marino contains.

116. You are picking out one particular case ?—I would have to see the bush before I could
give an answer. There are many things to consider.

117. In your experience have you not found that kahikatea trees run from 3,000 ft. to 10,000ft.
per tree ?•—No, I have never seen that.

118. Is not 3,000 ft. a low estimate for totara and kahikatea?—Any amount of them only
turn out 300 ft.

119. I suppose you have not heard of the operations of the Taupo Timber Company in dealing
with the timber-cutting ?—I have heard a little.

120. There a survey of 3 acres was taken, and the quantity of timber was found to be 90,000 ft. ?
—I presume that is on paper. Ido not think they would cut it. There is no bush in the Baetihi
that would cut that.

121. Is not 50,000ft. a low estimate for mixed bush?—On an average bush it is a big
estimate.

122. It is an estimate that can be realised ?—lt might be down in the Taupo district, but you
are taking the biggest-diameter trees in New Zealand.

123. What do you consider a price of this kind—kahikatea delivered to the mill-owner is paid
for at Is. lOd. per 100 ft. :is that a small price or a big price ?—I understand that would be for
labour included. That would not be paid as a royalty.

124. Boyalty on timber delivered including all labour?—lt would be very difficult to say unless
I saw the place and considered the cost of getting it to the mill.

125. I include all that ?—The usual cost would be about Is. 6d., but 1 have not seen the
place.

126. What would you consider 6d. to 9d. per 100ft. paid for kahikatea as royalty without any
labour?—That is the highest royalty I have heard paid for white-pine.

127. The labour in this case is hauling to the water-line—I speak of timber up at Kawhia?—
Yes.

128. Would 6d. and 9d. be capable of being paid to these Natives with whom you have a
contract at Baetihi. Would it be a proper price for kahikitea?—No; most of the white-pine
is sent to Australia, and there wouldbe quite 2s. 6d. freight paid to send it free to a seaport town.

129. What is your opinion with regard to the price of matai per 100 ft., ruling at 2s. 6d. to
Bs. from Levin way ?—The royalty is higher than we have ever heard about. We have never paid
any royalty like that, and we are on the main line at Dannevirke.

130. Can you tell me the ruling price for first-class rimu?—Whereabouts—at what place?
131. What is the market price now ?—lt depends upon whether it is at Wellington, Danne-

virke, or elsewhere.
132. Can you tell us what the ruling price for rimu is?--It depends upon where it is.
133. The ruling price for kauri at Auckland is 17s. per 100 ft. first class, rimu is 14s. first

class, and totara is £1 to £1 ss. first class?—I might say that the price at Dannevirke at the
present time for white-pine on the railway-trucks is ss. 6d., rimu 7s. Id., rimu at Wanganui 7s. 6d.,
and at Palmerston North 7s.—that is, to merchants.

134. What is the price of first-class rimu in Wellington ?—Add 3s. to the price I have already
given, and that will give the merchants' price in Wellington.

135. Mr. Fraser.] Those prices are phts the railage ?—Yes.
136. Mr. Hone Heke.] What would you be prepared to deliver first-class rimu in Wellington

at from Dannevirke ?—los. Id. would be the price.
137. The Chairman.] That, of course, means in quantity?.—That is the price we are getting.

That is the wholesale price by the truck.
138. Mr. Hone Heke.] What is the general price for felling and cutting of timber per 100ft. ?

—We pay sd. per 100 ft.
139. Is not 4d. the general rule?—No, it is all sd. up our way.
140. What do you pay for hauling from the stump to the mill ?—We do not do anything by

contract. We do it ourselves. Sometimes it costs half-a-crown. It costs us all manner of prices.
141. Have you any knowledge of people being employed for hauling?—Yes.
142. What price have you paid?—The contracts usually run up our way for felling and

cutting, and delivery to the mill, 2s. a hundred.
143. Is not Is. 6d. the general rule?—lt is alsolutely impossible at the present time to do it.
144. Is not the price of milling Is. 6d. to 2s.—that is, the actual cutting ?—That would be

without including anything for wear-and-tear in the mill.
145. What did you say your railage was from Dannevirke to Wellington ?—3s.
146. Have you been through the King-country ? —Yes, a good bit of it.
147. Have you been to Taumarunui?—Yes.
148. What would you pay for railage of timber from Taumarunui to Auckland ?—I have no

idea.
149. Mr. Jennings.] In regard to correct measurement of timber, how are the rights of the

Natives safeguarded ?—I mentioned yesterday that there was a clause in the agreement to that
effect, but after seeing Mr. Skerrett I find that there is no such clause. It is a recognised law,
and so it was quite unnecessary.

150. Mr. Vile.] Have you any idea what the cost of the railway freight on timber would be
from your place?—I can only give an approximate answer to that. Based on the freight from
Dannevirke to Wellington, I think it would be about 4s. 6d.
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John William Ellis, of Otorohanga, examined. (No, 6.)
151. The Chairman.] Have you any connection with the previous witness, Mr. Gamman ?—

None whatever.
152. Mr. Fraser.] You have certain properties leased from the Natives for sawmilling

purposes?—Hardly that; we buy logs from the Natives.
153. The Chairman.] Have you any agreement ?—Yes. I suppose it will not be necessary

to publish it ?
154. No, the same rule will be made with regard to your agreement as with others. It will

not be published, but the Committee will have an opportunity of asking you questions upon it?—
This is only a copy of the agreement [agreement produced], but it is an exact copy. [Provisions
of agreement read.] The price paid for totara—felling, cross-cutting, and delivery on the wagon or
truek—is 2s. 6d. per 100 ft.; matai and rimu, Is. 6d. ; kahikatea (white-pine), Is. 4d.—all log-
measurement.

155. Mr. Moss.] Would that include sap?—That includes everything—log-measurement.
156. The Chairman.] That is, girth-measurement ?—Yes. We give them an extra 6d. on

first-class heart of matai.
157. Mr. Jennings.] Who decides as to whether it is first class?—We have to decide. After

it leaves the yard it so appears on the tickets.
158. Mr. Remington.] When is it delivered?—When it passes the boundary-line. Square

totara piles are ss. per 100 superficial feet in length ; totara fencing-posts, £1 Bs. per 100 posts ;
split strainers or sleepers, £2 ss. per 100 ; and fencing-battens, £1 2s. per 100.

159. Mr. Vile.] Is that for totara?—Yes. The waste is all put into the split stuff. House-
blocks are £1 Is. 6d. per 100.

160. The Chairman.] What are the dimensions of those blocks?— There is no dimension
given.

161. No specified lengths or sizes ?—No.
162. Mr. Hone Heke.] What is the name of the block over which you have this concession ?—

Hohotaka.
163. Can you give us the area?—No; it has not been surveyed yet.
164. Can you give us any idea of the timber-area?—lt is about 2,000 acres.
165. Is this the only Native block you have timber rights over?—No, we have blocks at

Otorohanga and at Mangapeehi —Tiroa is the Native name.
166. What is the timber-area at Mangapeehi ?—3,000 or 4,000 acres is the milling-area, but

the bulk of the block is open pumice.
167. What is the block at Otorohanga?—There are several blocks there.
168. What would be the timber-area there?—We have been working there twelve years.

There are about 200 acres left, I should say.
169. Whereabouts is this Hohotaka Block?— The nearest railway-station would be Matapuna,

just on the banks of the Wanganui Biver. It is where the railway-bridge is being put over the
Wanganui Biver, beyond Taumarunui.

170. What is the mileage from there to Auckland?— 178 miles. The railage is 3s. lid. from
there to Auckland.

171. Have you any price with the Natives for other timber that you may cvt—other than
white-pine or rimu and matai ?—lt is all included in the one price of Is. 6d. I think it is specified
" any other timber."

172. There is none of this timber that you intend paying for on the saw ?—lt is all ou the log-
measurement.

173. The bonus is on matai only?—Yes.
174. In the event of the owners not felling and cutting, you would employ people to do that

part of the work?—They have already let a contract to do that work for them.
175. They have already let a contract for the cutting ?—Yes ; to ourselves, on a separate deed.
176. Can you give us the contract price ?—The price is Is. per 100 ft. log-measurement.
177. That leaves how much?—ls. 6d. for totara, 4d. for white-pine, and 6d. for rimu.
178. Mr. Jennings.] How long have you been conducting milling operations in the King-

country ?—Between twelve and thirteen years.
179. Have you had any complaints from or disputes with the Natives during the whole of

that time?—No ; our tenants are the most envied people in the King-country.
180. Mr. Herries.] Has this land gone through the Court ?—Yes.
181. You know who the owners are ?—Yes.
182. Have you seen the proposed new clause in the Bill?—I do not know that I have seen

the new one. I have seen the first one in the proposed Bill.
183. What is your objection to having your leases modified or ratified by the Maori Land

Council ?—They are given no power to do it; there is the trouble.
184. But if they were given power would you object to having your leases modified or

ratified by them?—l would sooner have them submitted to an independent tribunal—say, the
Supreme Court. I understand an Order in Council has to be issued, so that the Maori Council is
simply a buffer.

185. Who drew up your leases ?—A firm of solicitors—Messrs. Earl and Campbell, of
Auckland.

186. And they assure you that they are perfectly legal?—Yes.
187. If any Native thought that a lease was not legal it is perfectly competent for him to sue

in the Supreme Court, I presume?— Yes.
188. You are quite prepared to defend an action on the deeds you have got ?—Yes.
189. And you are satisfied that they are legal, and you would defend an action ?—The lawyers

tell us so.
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190. Would yourather adopt that course, and defend an action in the Supreme Court, than
submit to the course proposed in the Bill that you have seen ?—I should prefer to have it tested in
the Court. It seems to me that the Council have no real power in the matter.

191. What amount of capital have you invested in the Native blocks ?—One of our mills is on
Native land, one on the Mangapeehi Station, and the other is a sawmill on a site leased from the
Wellington Land Board. I may state that we were forced into the Native bush. We had a block
from the Wellington Board, and when we had cut the first 100 acres we were told that we could
not cut any more, and we were forced to look round for more to keep the plant going.

192. Supposing this legislation was passed, and your lease was declared invalid, and you could
not get that decision reviewed, what would be your loss of capital ?—£30,000.

193. You have already got that invested ?—Yes.
194. You would actually lose that in hard cash ?—Yes ; it would simply mean ruin to us.
195. Are there any other people up your way who would be in the same position if this

legislation were carried?—The Maoris have a mill of their own, but we are the only European
sawmillers who have started.

196. Do you know of any other people who have milling-rights as well as you ?—I know
of other people negotiating.

197. Do you know of any actually completed arrangements made?—Only by rumour.
198. Mr. Jennings.] Mr. Harrison has arranged for a small bush on this side of the tunnel,

has he not?—Yes.

Friday, 30th October, 1903.
John William Ellis further examined. (No. 7.)

1. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] At our last meeting you gave the names of the blocks that you con-
tracted for in your timber leases ?—Yes.

2. And they were?—Hohotaka.
3. Mr. Fraser.] Is that the 2,000-acre area?—Yes.
4. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] And the next block?—Tiroa.
5. What area?—3,ooo to 4,000 acres milling-timber. And Mangawhero ; that is nearly cut

out—there are about 200 acres left.
6. These are under title from orders of the Native Land Court ?—Yes.
7. Are there many owners in those blocks ?—Yes; there are about one hundred in the

Hohotaka.
8. And Tiroa?—Something over one hundred. lam not quite sure of the exact number.
9. And Mangawhero—that is practically cut out ?—Yes ; that is a small block.
10. Did you contract with the whole of the owners?—With the whole in Tiroa, but the other

is not fully completed. It is complete as far as it goes, but the deed provides that it is not neces-
sary that all should sign to complete agreement.

11. Why is it not necessary for all to sign?—l do not say it is not necessary. It provides
that the agreement applies only to the interests of those who do sign.

12. Have the interests been allocated?—No ; not in this block.
13. In the matter of deceased owners, how do you treat the reputed successors?—The actual

successors that have been appointed have signed the agreement.
14. There are no cases in which their successors have to be appointed ?—Yes ; but they are

now gazetted to be dealt with in the Court.
15. You did not deal with them ?—Yes.
16. You have taken their presumed successors ?—Yes, in some cases.
17. Anticipating confirmation by the Court ?—Yes.
18. You said you were not quite clear as to your objection to the clause, or to the Maori

Council being placed in the position to ratify transactions in regard to timber between the Natives
and the sawmillers : I think you said the Councils had no power?—Yes.

19. Is that your only objection ?—Partly; my objection is because it is a legal question, and
they are not possibly competent to deal with it.

20. Then, you would make that exception, that in legal phases you would not submit your
transactions to them for decision ?—I should prefer them to be submitted to a Judge of the
Supreme Court.

21. Then, if it came to a question, apart from the settlement of a legal point, as to the bona
■fides and equities of the transaction, would you still have the same objection to the Maori Council ?
—Why divide the inquiry ? And, besides, an Order in Council is necessary to confirm action of
Council.

22. Put your answer in this way: that without the Order in Council you would be quite satis-
fied with the Maori Council?—Yes ; I am not afraid to submit it to any tribunal.

23. Leaving aside the settlement of any legal question, leaving aside also the issue of any
Order in Council that may be necessary, and taking the bonafides of any contract and the equities
thereof, would you prefer the Supreme Court to settle the matter on these grounds in preference
to the Maori Council ?—I have no reason to doubt the fairness of the Maori Council, but it seems
undesirable to divide the matter into two parts.

24. In any case you prefer the Supreme Court ?—Yes, I think so.
25. Supposing the Supreme Court rules you out on a point of law and declares the contracts

to be invalid, and you still had a show of your own transaction being tested on the ground of
equity and fair dealing, would you not like to have a validating tribunal ?—Yes; but if the
Supreme Court ruled that it was not legal it would be of no use bringing it before them again.
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26. Supposing, as we have had a Validation Board specially set up to inquire into the bona
fides of transactions between the Natives and Europeans, and to confirm and validate them,
irrespective of any technicalities of law : supposing it was necessary for you to go before any
tribunal, which tribunal would you prefer—the Council, or any other tribunal?—l have no objec-
tion to the Council so long as they have power to settle the matter themselves.

27. If they had power to settle their judgment you would have no objection ?—No.
28. Talking about timber land; take the land you are connected with : what do you estimate

would be the number of feet per acre ?—lt varies very much. I should say from 30,000 ft. to
40,000 ft. would be about the average.

29. Mr. Mander.] Is that log timber or sawn timber ?—That would be log-measurement.
30. What percentage do you reckon you lose on timber between log and mill measurement ?—

About 25 per cent. The timbers we are working are very faulty timbers—rimu, matai, and totara
—and there is a large amount of loss.

31. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] Into your bushes you have constructed tram-lines ? —Yes; one nearly
eleven miles long.

32. And the labour required to be performed by the Natives is the felling of the timber and
placing it on the trucks ?—Yes.

33. That is all in the price you gave us yesterday ?—Yes.
34. Mr. Fraser.] Delivered in the boundaries of the blocks?—ln the case we are speaking of

it is on the trucks.
35. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] I understand you have tapped these bushes with a tramway, which you

built yourselves, at your own expense ?—Yes.
36. And it is there on the scene of the timber which is being felled?—Yes.
37. And as the Natives fell it it is put on the trucks ?—Yes.
38. The distance of the tram is eleven miles ?—Yes; that is about the present length of the

tram.
39. You have to bring the timber eleven miles ?—Yes; we shall have to bring it further in

some instances. We extend our tramway as we extend into the bush.
40. And the further the distance you have to carry it the tramway would lengthen ?—Yes.
41. And under these conditions you give how mucbper foot ?—This is a different block.
42. Well, take that one block?—The royalty paid for the block the tramway is in is different.
43. What do you pay for timber in the Tiroa block ?—ls. for totara, and 4d. for all other

timber—that is, log-measurement.
44. Are there any other conditions ?—1 may say that when we first started cutting at Manga-

whero we had timber-measurement (superficial) and log-measurement, and the Maoris, of their own
accord, asked us to alter the system to log-measurement, as sawn-timber measurement was so con-
fusing.

45. What were you proposing to pay for sawn timber?—Bd.or 9d.
46. When was that ?—About twelve years ago, when we started at Mangawhero. We give 6d.

for kahikatea and 9i. for rimu on that block, log-measurement.
47. In the other case you gave us yesterday, was that in the Hohotaka?—Yes.
48. You have no tram in the Hohotaka?—No.
49. How do you work ?■—We have not started there. We intend to put a tramway down

about three miles to where we have a mill in the Government bush. We have secured the right
to lay a tram from the Wellington Land Board, and also the Auckland Board, into the Hohotaka
bush.

50. What are your terms in the Hohotaka?—l am giving you the net terms : Is. 6d. for totara,
6d. for rimu and matai (with a bonus of 6d. on first-class heart of matai only), and 4d. for kahi-
katea.

51. Do you supply the Auckland market with timber?—Yes; we have a small yard in Auck-
land.

52. What is your freightage ?—From that block 3s. lid. per 100ft.—from Hohotaka.
53. What are your quotations for Auckland—what do you sell it at ?—The main or principal

class, 13s. a hundred. We compete with the medium kauri. I may say the conditions of the
Auckland market are rather peculiar. There is practically 10per cent, allowed on all timber sold
in Auckland.

54. You allow that to purchasers?—Yes. That is not so in the other markets of New Zealand,
I think.

55. On all your small and large quantities ?■—As far as we are concerned we allow it on all.
As a matter of fact, we allow 17-| per cent, on practically all the timber that goes to Auckland.

56. To the sellers?—Yes.
57. What is the mileage from Hohotaka to Auckland ?—From where our mill is it is 180 miles.
58. You sell timber, of course, in the Provincial District of Auckland—in the Waikato and

other places?—Yes; we have a through freight to Auckland.
59. There is not much difference in the freight ?—No ; to Cambridge from Mangapeehi it is

2s. lid., as against Auckland 3s.
60. You are quite agreeable and quite satisfied to have a test case as to the validity of these

transactions brought in the Supreme Court without any legislation ?—Well, of course, we are not
anxious for it.

61. But you would prefer that to any legislation?—Yes.
62. The Chairman.] You have said that you would prefer to submit the question of the

legality of this agreement to a Judge of the Supreme Court: would you prefer to submit the
question of the price you have paid for the timber to a Judge of the Supreme Court, or to any other
tribunal ?—As I said before, it seems a pity to divide the inquiry into two parts. A Judge of the
Supreme Court should be capable of deciding the whole matter.
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63. On the question of the price of the timber?—He could call in expert evidence the same as
any other tribunal. We could defend the rate of the royalty before any tribunal whatever.

64. Mr. Fraser.] Following up the questions put by Mr. Carroll, you have been instructed
and advised that these transactions are legal ?—Yes.

65. You say you would not object to the Government taking a test case into the Supreme
Court ?—I do not know that I would put it in that way.

66. Do you say you would not object to the Government taking a test case into the Supreme
Court with regard to the validity of your transactions in lieu of legislation ?—Yes, I would like the
matter settled.

67. In preference to legislation?—Yes.
68. Of course, you would add the proviso that your costs should be guaranteed ?—Certainly,

I should like to add that.
69. Speaking as a business-man, do you consider it right that the Government should take

proceedings to force you into a Court of inquiry in a matter of this, kind ?—No.
70. Do you not object to the Government interfering in a matter of this kind, where you deal

with the Natives on a fair basis?—l certainly do. We have been at work for over twelve years,
and it seems to me rather late in the day to raise the question.

71. Have the Government purchased any lands in the vicinity of these blocks?—Yes.
72. Can you tell the Committee the price the Government paid for those lands?—The land

adjoining Tiroa was bought for the Government at 3s. an acre.
73. Timber and all?— Yes.
74. Have you any idea of the area that was bought ?—lt is a very extensive area.
75. How long ago was that?—1 suppose it was completed—l am speaking from memory—

three or four years ago.
76. I want to take you to the Mangawhero Block?—Yes.
77. That is an 800-acre block?—Yes, the bush part.
78. Are you are aware that the Government negotiated for the purpose of that block?—l do

not know that they particularly negotiated for the purchase of it; but for an adjoining block the
price was 6s. an acre.

79. For land of a similar class ?—Yes; in one subdivision of the Mangawhero bush.
80. Mr. Remington.] Is that similar timber country to what you have acquired ?—Yes.
81. Mr. Fraser.] You have cut 600 acres out of the Mangawhero Block ?—Yes.
82. How much have you paid the Natives up to the present?—Between £6,000 and £7,000.
83. You have still 200 acres to cut?—Yes.
84. And further payments have still to be made to the Natives ?—Yes.
85. Do you know the land that is leased by the Taupo Timber Syndicate ?—I have been

through it.
86. Do you know the area that they have leased from the Natives?—The bush is between

6,000 and 7,000 acres. I have only their own figures to go by for that.
87. It is given as 6,245 acres in their prospectus: what class of timber is that?—Chieflv

totara—a very good class of totara.
88. Is the 6,245 acres the area of the timber or the area of the whole block ?—I can only go

by their own statement; it is the area of the timber.
89. And it is chiefly totara?—Yes.
90. Do you know what the company are paying the Natives for that ?—They say themselves

they are paying £2 an acre.
91. You'are aware no doubt that they were given permission to go on this block by Order

in Council issued by the Government?—Yes.
92. You have had considerable experience in timber, I presume ?—Yes.
93. I would like to ask you, as an expert, what, in your opinion, wouldbe a fair price to pay

for that 6,245 acres ?—I hardly think that is a fair question. It is a hard question to answer
right off.

94. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] You have not been on the block, have you ?—Yes.
95. Bight over it?—l have been over it in several directions.
96. Mr. Fraser.] Perhaps you will have no objection to saying this : that as a totara block it

is of the very highest order?—Yes, it is of the very highest order.
97. I do not know whether you have already given it, but it does not matter if you repeat it:

in the Tiroa Block what is the freight on the railway to the market?—Three shillings. That is, to
our big market—Auckland.

98. And you give the freight from the Hohotaka Block as 3s. lid.?—Yes. We are now
paying £6,000 annually for freight. That is altogether apart from the timber we do not pay freight
on, and does not include the fares paid by employees travelling on the line, and the freight for
what goods, &c, they get up.

99. Is there a clause in your agreement with regard to the Natives checking the output ?—
Yes ; they are empowered to check the output by the agreement, and, as a matter of fact, they do
appoint generally two of themselves.

100. Has there ever been any expression of discontent among the Natives ?—No; just the
opposite.

101. Then, we can safely say it is an amicable and friendly arrangement between the Natives
and the Europeans ?—Decidedly.

102. Did it ever occur to you to apply for an Order in Council for permission to deal with the
Natives?—No. I have applied in other cases, and have not succeeded in getting them.

103. For timber rights ?—Not for timber rights ; but where I live I have tried to get an Order
in Council for land for a home, and cannot get that.
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104. I take it, then, that you were so satisfied with the legal opinion given by your solicitors

that you did not consider it necessary to apply for an Order in Council for these blocks ?—Yes.
105. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] How do you pay the Natives—monthly, or when ?—Quarterly.
106. Are their interests defined, so as to enable~you to know the proportions?— Yes; they are

defined by the Native Land Court.
107. Who gives the receipts for the money ?—lt is done individually in most cases. The

trustees sign for the children.
108. And the other Natives come and take their share ?—Yes.
109. Hitherto they have worked together as a body, with no disagreement among themselves ?

—Yes. Of course, there are occasional minor disagreements, but they settle them themselves.
There is no dispute about the division of the money, because that is laid down by the Native
Land Court.

110. Speaking of the Taupo Timber Company, you have no direct knowledge, except what you
have gleaned from their report, as to the price and terms, and other things ?—No, except common
hearsay.

111. Do you know whether they ever negotiated or tried to get land along the Main Trunk
Bailway line?—Yes.

112. The Taupo Timber Company?—lt was not the Taupo Timber Company, but it would
be people representing them—at Taumarunui.

113. Practically the same people ?—Yes.
114. And they failed to get timber leases along the railway-line at Taumarunui?—lt was

generally reported that they were not satisfied with the timber.
115. You do not know that they have been refused permission by Order in Council to treat

for a lease of timber along the line?—No, I do not.
116. But you do know that they had been negotiating ?—I know they were up there examining

the land for a considerable time.
117. That is in the vicinity of where you are ?—Yes; in the vicinity of the Hohotaka

Block.
118. Were there others besides yourselves and the Taupo Timber Company engaged in

negotiating for timber rights there?—Yes, there are others.
119. And they did not succeed ?—Yes, they have succeeded.
120. What others are there besides yourselves in that locality?—l can only speak from

hearsay.
121. But there are no mills at work except yours ?—Only ours.
122. Of course, you are aware that all that land is within the prescribed area—within the

Bohe Potae ?—Yes.
123. Where the State decided there should be no private transactions or negotiations in

land ?—Yes.
124. You were in the district, I presume, at the time of the purchase of the Waimarino Block

by the Government?—Yes.
125. At that time, and immediately afterwards, were there parties or companies after timber

land in that part of the country?—I do not think so. This is quite a new thing. I explained
yesterday that we were practically driven on to the Maori land there because the Wellington Land
Board asked us to put up a mill to complete a contract for sleepers instead of splitting them, but
when we had cut out the land they had allotted us we could not get any more from them.

126. And therefore you were forced on to the Native land to carry on your timber operations ?
—Yes.

127. I suppose you were the pioneers of the sawmilling industry in that district?—Yes, with
the exception of a Maori-owned mill, we are the only sawmillers in the King-country.

128. All through the Native-land-purchasing operations of the Government you were the only
millers carrying on a timber business ?—Yes.

129. You do not know of any others who made the attempt?—No ; of course, there have been
numbers of others cutting sleepers and firewood.

130. I mean apart from that ?—Yes.
131. Mr. Hone Heke.] I would like to get you away back to Hohotaka: I think you said

a while ago that the timber was sold first class at 13s.?—Ordinary building-timber. That
is virtually the first class.

132. How many grades do you give for totara?—Four grades.
133. Should I be right in saying that the first grade would be sold at 13s.?—No; totara

is classed differently.
134. Mr. Mander.] What average of timber per acre would you consider there is on this Taupo

Block ?—I do not know that lam competent to judge. The manager told me they had so far cut
80,000 ft. to the acre.

135. Do you think it would average half that—4o,ooo ft ?—That is what they put it at in
their prospectus.

136. Your timber you said averaged 30,000 ft. to 40,000 ft ?—Yes.
137. What do you consider the royalty worth on your own block—the totara—per 100ft?—

Is. 6d. is what we are giving. That is equivalent to 2s. on sawn timber.
138. If there were 40,000 ft. per acre on that land it would be worth £30 per acre ?—lf it was

all totara, but it is not all totara.
139. I do not suppose it would be unreasonable to value it at £28 per acre for royalty ?—I

put my own valuation, roughly, at about £13 per acre on the Hohotaka Block. Of course, there is
a certain amount of kahikatea and other timbers amongst it.

3—l. 3a.
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140. I was asking you about the Taupo bush : I want to get at what you consider the timber
to be worth?—l cannot say. We are Crown tenants, or rather, tenants of the Wellington Land
Board. I may say that we offered the Maoris at Hohotaka the same as we are giving to the
Wellington Land Board, and could not deal with-them.

141. You estimated your timber at something like 30,000 ft. or 40,000 ft. per acre of timber
standing on it ?—Yes.

142. That would not average Is. all round?— No.
143. You do not think it would be unreasonable to estimate the output of timber on the Taupo

Block at £28 an acre, valuing it by the royalty ?—I should think not.
144. Do you think it is a righteous principle for the Government to make one law to invalidate

another?—I do not, certainly.
145. Do you think it right if you enter into contracts, and make a very good bargain, that the

Government should step in and invalidate your bargain ?—No.
146. It is a mutual arrangement between two parties, and both parties are satisfied ?—Yes.

It is a very unusual thing. If we had broken the law it would be a different matter.
147. You would not have gone into the business if you had had any idea that the Government

would legislate retrospectively without first going before the Court and proving you guilty of a
grave offence?—No. Ido not feel like a criminal at all. I feel more like a good colonist.

148. Would you have built your mill there if you had not felt sure of getting sufficient
timber to recoup you for your outlay, and give you a reasonable profit ?—No. It cost us about
£10,000 to get our first log out at Mangapeehi.

149. What do you consider a reasonable margin between the wholesale and retail price of
timber?—-As I have said, we allowed 17-| per cent, in Auckland.

150. But if you were selling your whole output to anybody what would you consider a reason-
able price, taking into consideration bad debts and loss in the timber ?—We have not had any
experience of that sort, but it would make a wonderful difference.

151. Mr. Jennings.] How does the land take the grass after the bush is felled ?—The bulk of
it is pumice country. It does take grass, but how long it would hold Ido not know.

152. Mr. Field.] Do I understand you to say that in the case of the Mangawhero Block the
Government were endeavouring to purchase land, timber and all, at 6s. an acre?—That is so.
They did buy some adjoining, at 6s. an acre.

153. And you have paid the Natives in timber royalties alone over £6,000?—Yes. Of course,
the Mangawhero Block is not entirely bush.

154. But what the Government was endeavouring to buy was part of this particular bush?—
Yes.

155. What is the quality of the soil on that land?—lt is very good land. Kahikatea swamp
when drained is the best land in the country.

156. In making these contracts with the Natives were they fully advised, and did they under-
stand the transactions ?—They are fully advised by licensed interpreters.

157. Do they have pakeha or half-caste advisers who can explain to them what the timber
is worth and the prices to be paid ? —Yes. These things are not settled in one day, one week, or
one month ; the discussions are very full.

158. They have plenty of advisers well able to advise them ?—Yes. A lot of them interested
in the Hohotaka Block live in Hawke's Bay.

159. You were drawing a comparison between the timber royalties you are paying the Govern-
ment as Crown tenants and the prices you are paying the Natives ?—Yes.

160. Will you tell us the difference ?—We pay 2s. for heart of totara ; this is, of course, on sawn
timber. We pay Is. for the rest of the totara—for what is generally known as " O.B." timber
(ordinary building).

161. And how do the prices you are paying the Government compare with what you are
paying the Natives, taking into consideration the facilities you have for getting the timber out ?—
The Government timber is right on the side of the railway-line, and you can almost put the timber
on therails.

162. Then, you are paying the Natives really higher royalties than you are paying the Crown ?
—Yes ; about 25 per cent, advance. It is 2s. on heart and Is. on the rest of the log for totara to
the Crown.

163. Some questions have been asked you as to the prices paid by the Taupo Timber Com-
pany for their land ?—Yes.

164. I presume it is only fair to state that the difficulties the Taupo Timber Company have
to overcome are very serious ones ?—Yes; there are some fifty miles of tramway to lay.

165. That would, of course, detract a good deal from the value of the timber?—Yes.
166. Mr. Remington.] What price per acre did you pay, as far as you know, for the Crown

timber on the area you had from the Crown ?—I do not think I could answer that straight off.
167. Boughly speaking?—:lt would be absolutely guess-work. Of course, it is not actually

finished. We are only able to cut the totara out. I should say, roughly, we paid £8 or £9 per
acre. I may say it is a burnt bush. A bush-fire had been through it, and there was a good deal of
waste through it. We have still a lot of timber there stacked. We do not pay the Government
until we have sold the timber. They are very good terms, and we were quite satisfied with the
Government, and we did not want to get away from them.

168. In your transactions in native timber have you had any dispute over the payment ?—
No.

169. They have had no occasion to complain because you were not paying sufficient royalty ?
—No.

170. They never expressed dissatisfaction because they considered the royalty paid was too
small?—No. Of course, where there are a hundred owners in a block you may get little com-
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plaints at different times; but Ido not know that they have ever objected to the amount of the
royalty. When the Natives thoroughly understand a bargain they very seldom try to repudiate
it.

171. In your answer to the Native Minister you said that you would not mind submitting the
validity of your agreement to a Judge of the Supreme Court: do I understand you have a desire
to do so?—I have no desire to, certainly.

172. Nor do you think that an agreement entered into, that you thought perfectly legal and
valid, should be submitted for test to a legal tribunal?—I do not think there should be anything of
that sort. It seems to me to be very late in the day to raise that question.

173. Beviewing the value of the timber, if it were possible to do so, in the light of present-
day circumstances would afford no criterion as to what it was worth twelve years ago, nor could
you go back to that position if you tried?—I do not think so. We are paying decidedly higher
royalties for the Hohotaka bush than we are paying the Crown on similar land.

174. The Chairman.] Mr. Bemington is trying to elicit from you whether timber is higher in
value now than it was twelve years ago ?—That is so.

175. Mr. Remington.] At that time there was what is called a slump in timber, and there was
not the demandfor good timber that there is to-day ?—No ; and we donot know what the trade will
be like twelve years hence.

176. The Chairman.] You take the risk—the glorious uncertainty of that?—Yes.
177. Mr. Wi Pere.] How many classes of totara are there ?—Four.
178. Will you describe them?—Best—the heart; rough heart; ordinary building—that would

be mostly sap ; and second class—bark, and so on.
179. That is the practice with that class of timber, to have four classes ?—Well, of course, each

district varies in some respects.
180. I do not think you ought to say that, because there are only two descriptions of totara—•one is red and the other is white ; and no matter what description of tree it is, it is always the

same—one is white in colour and the other is red ?—I would like to point out the honeycomb.
181. Only where the kaikaka has got inside the tree ; but there are only two colours—red and

white ?—I should very much like you to come up and see the timber we have stacked there, and
you would see the different classes, and honeycomb in the totara heart.

182. Kaikaka is only the white totara ?—I may say we are only novices in working totara,
and are following the practice of other districts.

183. Ido not want Mr. Ellis to think lam finding fault with his agreement. lam surprised
to hear that there are four different classes of totara, because I will bring all the Maoris in the
place to prove that this is not the case. I want to say that if there are speeches to be made lam
certainly going to say what I have to say. My second question is, Who do you want to give effect
to your agreement ?—I believe the law has already given effect to it.

184. Has it been registered ?—lt is only an agreement.
185. Under which law do you consider it is already confirmed?—Under the common law.
Mr. Wi Pere : I should like to know under which law it is—what part of the law it is—that

you consider has made this agreement valid. Ido not want this brought into the Supreme Court,
but just in the cheapest way to give effect to it, and then it is quite open; because Mr. Ellis's
agreement, as compared with another agreement brought up here, is an all-right one. I can only
describe the other agreement as being a Satan.

186. Mr. Hone Heke.] How many grades do you make out of totara?—Four.
187. Will you tell us the price for which you dispose of your first grade in Auckland?—We

dispose of it on the truck at Mangapeehi.
188. On the truck, what would you sell your first grade at?—Sixteen shillings is our price to

the Public Works and other Government Departments.
189. How do you deal with the other grades—second, third, and fourth ?—Bough heart is

lis. 6d.—that is, on the trucks. The other grade is 135., freight paid, the 0.8. ; that is a big
class.

190. Not on the truck ?—No. There is a great difference between them.
191. How do you deal with the second class?—The second class is 10s., also freight paid.
192. How many grades do you make in matai ?—There are four grades in matai.
193. Are they the same as the other?—They are not quite the same.
194. Do you mind giving me the grades?—Heart, rough heart, 0.8., and what we call a

fencing class.
195. How do you dispose of the first —heart :on the truck?—No, not on the truck. At 155.,

freight paid.
196. How do you dispose of the second grade?—That is 135., freight paid, also.
197. And the third, 0.8. ?—The second is rough heart, 125., and the other is 135., 0.8. ;

freight paid in each case.
198. And this fencing class? —That is 7s. on the truck.
199. How do you deal with the rimu—in grades ? —We have four grades in that.
200. On the same lines as the matai?—Hardly the same.
201. Do you mind giving them?—Heart, rough heart, 0.8., second class.
202. On the truck?—No ; freight paid.
203. What would be the first?—lss.
204. Bough heart ?—lis. 6d.
205. Freight paid?—Yes.
206. 0.8. ?—l2s. 6d., freight paid.
207. And second class ?—9s. 6d. Freight paid in all cases.
208. And the kahikatea—four grades?—Kahikatea is an export timber.
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209. In bulk or timber?—In timber. First class for export is worth about 6s. 6d. That is
what we sold our last shipment at in Auckland.

210. And second class?—We get for second class 7s. retail.
211. Do you know of the Huhutirau Block ?—Yes.
212. Can you give us the names of the parties who acquired the right over that timber?—l do

not know that I can. Mr. Stewart has been the negotiator.
213. Whereabouts is the block ?—Huhutirau is on the Taringamutu Biver, near the main

trunk line.
214. Do you know of any persons round about the King-country, and away towards Tau-

marunui, or on the coast, who are paying the Natives 2s. per hundred for their totara ?—There is
no totara round the coast.

215. Well, in the King-country or at Taumarunui ?—I believe some are paying 2s. for sawn
heart totara.

216. Withregard to the new clause in the Bill: supposing the Natives were willing to transfer
the timber land to the Maori Council for the Council to give a title to any European who desires to
acquire timber rights, would you have any objection to dealing with the Council?—l have no
objection to a good title if the Council can give it; but, unfortunately, they have not been able so
far to give one.

217. The Council apparently has been in a position to be possessed of timber areas?—I was
not referring particularly to timber areas. The Council so far does not seem to be able to give
titles.

218. lam not speaking of land, but of land carrying timber: would you have any objection, if
the Natives handed over their timber rights to the Council, to allow the Council to administer
them ?—No, I do not think any one could have an objection to that.

219. Which system would you prefer, dealing directly with the Council, or dealing for it in
your own way by getting the consent and signatures of the Natives ?—I am very well satisfied with
the way we have been managing it so far.

220. You consider it would be far more satisfactory to deal direct with the Natives, notwith-
standing the enormous expense involved in getting the signatures and paying agents ?—Well, the
Council would submit it to auction very likely.

221. That would be your objection ?—There would be no possibility of direct dealing in that
way.

222. Supposing that were the case, if the timber land were transferred to the Council would
you not prefer to compete for it in the open market if the Council had the right to administer it on
behalf of the owners ?—lt would depend upon the terms. I have already said I like dealing with
the Wellington Land Board, a Government Department, for timber.

223. Would you prefer to deal privately with the Natives than to deal with the Council,
supposing the Council had the right to deal with the timber on behalf of the Natives and to dis-
pose of it by public auction ?—I have no objection. I have tried to help the Council as much as I
can in land matters.

224. I take it, from the provisions in your agreement, that you would like to see the Natives get
fair value for their timber ?—Yes.

225. You would have no objection to the Council disposing of the timber by public auction if
the timber country of the Natives were transferred over to it?—No. As I read the Act, we have
power to deal with the Natives, and to apply for ratification to the Council under clause 28.

226. With regard to your preference for a Judge of the Supreme Court to deal with this
matter, do you not think a Judge of the Supreme Court is not in a position to deal with agreements
in regard to timber on lines that would suit Europeans or Natives, because they have no know-
ledge?—The main question is the legality of the transaction.

227. We have it from you, and also from Mr. Skerrett, that you are perfectly sure the thing
is legal ?—Yes ; and we have already given evidence that the prices we are paying are at least on
an equality with the Government prices on its own timber.

228. You would have no objection to legislation being drawn up for the purpose of enabling
agreements or contracts with Natives for timber rights to be submitted to some tribunal—either
the Native Land Court or Native Land Council—for review before confirmation?—l think the law
already provides for that.

229. However, you would not object to any clause that might be brought down to carry
out that intention ?—So long as it is not retrospective. That is why I support the Council in
land matters, because it is set up to see fair play as between the Natives and the Europeans.

230. You know the law with regard to Native leases—that they have power to review and
power to refuse confirmation ?—Yes.

231. A system of that kind you would not object to?—No; certainly not. I would like
to tell the Committee that there is a sawmiller on land near Botorua who will submit himself
to the Committee to give evidence, and produce his agreement, if required. He has just erected
a mill that has cost £5,000, near Mamaku, and does not want to come unless it is absolutely
necessary.

232. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] Can you say of your own knowledge that this sawmiller is similarly
situated to yourself?—l want to bring out this point: that within a mile of the mill the
Estates Company have large areas of bush land that they are selling for £2 10s. per acre, and
have so sold it within the last few weeks.

233. Whatever he has must stand on its own merits?—Yes ; I was only speaking on behalf of
the Maoris—as a sort of comparison. I refer to David Lundon. Because he has dealt with the
Maoris he is to be ruined.
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234. The Chairman.] If he will come down the Committee will have no objection to hearing
his evidence ; but the Committee have ruled that they will not hear any one unless he brings his
agreement ?—Yes.

235. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] We have only taken individual cases and the Palmerston North
agreements as sample contracts between the Natives and Europeans, as far as they bear on the
proposals of the Government with regard to legislation. These agreements give us a type of the
transactions which may enable us to pronounce upon their merits?— Just so. I should like to get
an expression of opinion as to whether the Committee are satisfied that they have enough evidence
now. It is a long way to bring a man down from the Botorua district, and I do not think his
agreement would vary much from our own.

236. The Chairman.] His place is on the way to Botorua?—Yes; it is out of the King-
country.

237. Mr. Hone Heke.] Where is the Estates Company's land ?—ln the Thames Valley. They
have sold 2,000 acres to an adjoining sawmiller at £2 10s. an acre.

238. Mr. Field.] About how many feet would there be to the acre ?—From 10,000ft. to
15,000 ft.

239. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] Have you inspected the land yourself?—l have just been through
that country and round about it.

240. Mr. Fraser.] Adjoining this property of your own are there any Crown lands ?—Yes.
241. Has the timber being destroyed on this area, or milled ?—No timber has been worked.
242. The timber is still standing ?—Yes.
243. The Chairman.] The land is not occupied by Europeans ?—No.
244. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] You applied, you say, to the Governmentforpermission to contract for

Crown lands?—-Yes, with the Wellington Land Board.
245. And they refused ? —Yes. They gave us an area of 100 acres, but they said they had

been advised not to open the bush until the line was made. It was a question of policy.
246. They would not throw open those timber areas to private companies then?—No.
247. Mr. Fraser.] Is there any danger of fire in that country ?—There is danger of fire in all

totara forests. In the Crown forests we are working out two-thirds of it was destroyed by fire.
248. And you say the Land Board will not lease this property?—Yes. There is one matter I

would like to mention to the Committee ; it does not affect timber rights, but it is an important
matter to a large number of people—that is, the continued restriction over the King-country. The
Government have not been purchasing land there for years, and they still keep that land locked
up. I think it is very unjust. We have been trying lately to form the district into a county, and
our chief trouble is that there are large blocks of Maori land that do not pay rates, while in many
blocks there are only one or two owners. We think it is a great injustice to us to keep the land
locked up like this. It cannot be for the good of the country, because if it were opened it would
be producing something, if it were only leased. When this second schedule in the 1894 Act was
advocated nine years ago there was good reason for it, because the Government were purchasing
land, but now it is quite different, and it is very unjust to keep the land locked up.

249. Mr. Hone Heke.] When did the Government stop buying?—About three years ago.
250. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] The Counties Act is not in force there ?—No, not yet. The unoccu-

pied Native land is the greatest difficulty we have had to fight.
251. Mr. Harding.] Is there any land in the hands of the Natives that the Government

might acquire ?—Yes ; I think the Government could have acquired all this bush we are talking
about.

252. Mr. Hone Heke.] Do you think it would be a good thing for the Natives and others if
the Government were to cease purchasing their land?—Well, I have put some cases before the
Maori Council, and the rentals they would get are almost as much as they would get from the
Government for the freehold.

253. You think it has been a good thing that the Government ceased acquiring Native
land in your district ?—lt should be a good thing.

254. Mr. Fraser.] When the Government ceased to buy the land it lay idle there ?—Yes.
255. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] When did you apply for a county to be set up ?—The measure was

introduced last session—the Kawhia County. Practically all the Crown lands are settled there, or
four-fifths of it; but we are restricted all round there as regards Native lands.

256. You know that there are large blocks there held by a large number of owners, and it is
essentially in the interests of the Natives to have all their interests adjusted on some settled line of
procedure before you deal with their alienation?—There is something to be said for the larger
blocks.

257. Take the Bangitoto-Tuhua, how would you go about that?—When I suggested that you
should take off the restriction you said that the owners would subdivide until they got them down
to two owners, so that they could deal with the land.

258. Supposing there are five or six hundred owners, how would you go about acquiring the
whole of their interests ?—You would have to subdivide.

259. How long would that take?—lt would take a longtime; but there are several large
blocks that could be very soon subdivided. If the country gets the lands settled in small areas by
settlers, it will be of great benefit to all.

260. But there is also the question of the settlement of the Maoris themselves to consider:
that is of equal importance to the European?—Yes, and I was much pleased to see that provision
in this direction in the Bill.

261. And encouragement must be given to the Maori to follow farming pursuits, and so on—
that is, to those who are deserving and capable ?—Yes, that is so.
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Tuesday, 3ed November* 1903.
David Lundon, Sawmiller, of Mamaku, examined. (No. 8.)

1. The Chairman.] You are aware that the Committee have been taking evidence withregard
to the MaoriLand Laws Amendment Bill, especially withregard to clause 31a, and I presume you
have seen the Bill ?—I have seen the clause referred to.

2. The Committee are anxious to ascertain from those who volunteer to give evidence on this
question what they have to say : it is understood that you have some leases with the Natives
with regard to timber rights ?—That is so.

3. Have you an agreement with the Natives with reference to the timber on their lands?—
Yes.

4. Have you got the agreement with you ?—I have.
5. It was resolved by the Committee that the contents of the agreements should not be made

public, but that the witnessesshould be called upon to explain the different features of their agree-
ments for their information ?—Yes.

6. Perhaps you will be good enough to explain to the Committee from your own agreement—
or a precis of it—your position inreference to these timber rights ? —Yes. I have three agreements
with the Natives. There is one Waited which is subdivided into two, but they are practically
the one block, and there is one in the Okoheriki Block. The general purport of the agreement is
that I make arrangements with the Natives to cut the timber, which is furnished to us by them at
our mills, and for which they receive as royalty 6d. per 100ft. They also furnish the labour, for
which they receive Is. per 100ft.

7. Mr. Hone Heke.] Give us the names of the timbers ?—Any marketable timber the bush may
contain, but we are practically only using the rimu. There is a little kahikatea, but very little of
any kind except rimu.

8. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] You contract for all the timber that is marketable ?—The only timber
that we are dealing with is rimu. We have power to take this timber from the Natives, and if
necessary to erect tramways and mills, as agents; and we also hold a power of attorney under the
agreement providing that, in the event of the Natives not supplying the timber to us, we can cut it
ourselves. We have not erected a mill yet on the Okoheriki-Block, although we have the right
under the agreement to select a mill-area or ground for a milling site or sites at any part of the
bush we choose, and also to construct tram-lines for bringing out the timber. The terms on which
we are allowed to acquire the timber rights are for twenty-one years.

9. The Chairman!] And the prices?—Sixpence royalty for all timber or any timber that we
may cut, or, rather, that the Natives may supply us with. They cut it themselves.

10. They deliver it at the mill for 6d. a hundred?—No; they get 6d. a hundred as royalty —
that goes to the owners of the land—and they get Is. a hundred for the labour of felling it. We
do the milling ourselves. The hauling is done at our own cost, both at the skids and along
the tramway to the mill, so that they are practically getting Is. 6d. for royalty and labour.

11. Delivered at the skids?—We haul it to the skids from the stump. The Natives fell the
timber and break it out, and it is hauled by our bullocks and at our expense to the skids and
along to the tram. They supply one man, who helps to haul it off the skids to the tram. We
do all the hauling, and practically the timber is costing us 2s. 6d. at the mill.

12. Mr. Herries.] How do you measure the timber? —ln the log. There is a modification
to this agreement, but I came away in haste and left it behind. When I received the telegram
to attend this meeting I got our solicitor to put the agreements up all together, but afterwards,
to my horror, I found that the modification to the different clauses of this agreement was not
among them. If it is considered desirable I shall be pleased to give an order to have it produced
here. One agreement, however, covers the lot, as they are alike, and each Native has a
copy. The Natives hold the original agreement in one case, and we hold the original in the
others. [Note.— Modified agreement subsequently produced.]

13. The Chairman.] What does the hauling cost?— About Is. a hundred.
14. That is in the round ?—Yes.
15. Then, the timber practically costs you 2s. 6d. a hundred ?—Yes, 2s. 6d. in the mill.
16. Mr. Hone Heke.] You pay the Natives aroyalty of 6d. and Is. a hundred for felling and

cutting ?—That is so. The price is far more than is paid generally in the locality. We acknow-
ledge that the Natives are not able to deal with timber like Europeans, and for that reason they
are paid that sum.

17. The Chairman.] Have you anything further to state ?—lf the agreement is minutely
gone into—it is a long one—it will be necessary to read with it the modified agreement I have
spoken of, because this agreement purports to do certain things which the other one modifies
and alters. I should like your ruling as to whether you would like the modified agreement wired
for, because if you had it you could deal with the two agreements together.

18. Does this modified agreement alter the terms as regards the price ?—Not in any way as
regards the price.

19. In what respect do they differ ?—A few clauses are altered. In this agreement here we
are acting more on a power of attorney as contractees under the Natives as contractors, and we
have power to erect mills and make a certain charge for their erection. Under the modification
there is no charge to be made so long as they keep their agreement with us. It was necessary to
have some modification with regard to the mill. Since then we have been able to acquire a
freehold of about a chain away from the bush, and on that we have erected our mill; and there is
provision that no money shall be received from the Natives for tramways. There is an arrange-
ment that the timber shall be paid for immediately after it is sawn, and the Natives can claim
their money either weekly, fortnightly, monthly, or when they like. We are paying on the log-
measurement. The modified agreement will not show that, but we are. We started the mill on
the log-measurement principle, and we mean to continue it as such.
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20. Mr. Remington.] What date or dates were these agreements made?—About a year ago.

One is dated December, 1902, the next is the same date, and the third is dated 15th August, 1903.
The latter is the Okoheriki agreement. The two dated December of last year are subdivisions of
the Waiteti Block, and the other is Okoheriki, adjoining the same block. We are not bush specu-
lators in any shape or form. We could have got other blocks, but did not want them.

21. What is the area ?—I think there are about 2,000 acres in Waiteti portion. There are
three subdivisions in the Waiteti Block. In the Okoheriki there are about 4,078 acres, but it isnot
all bush. There would be, perhaps, getting on for 3,000 acres of bush, and probably 1,500 acres in
the other block.

22. That would be, roughly speaking, between 4,000 and 5,000 acres of bush ?—That would be
the outside amount; it would probably be less. The bush is ragged at the edges, and we are
not using some of it at all.

23. Have you estimated what it would amount to per acre to the Natives ?—Yes ; it would
be about £10 10s. per acre.

24. That is for the cutting?—That is for the cutting and the royalty. The timber is not very
thick in that locality. The basis of calculation there is about 10,000 ft. to the acre. I think that
is the Government estimate of what the timber will produce there.

25. Mr. Hone Heke.] 10,000 ft. to the acre ?—Yes. The Government estimate for the land
about Mamaku is 10,000ft., and it has been sold on that basis ; but the mill-owners say it does not
not average above 8,000ft.

26. Mr. Remington.] You say that under the agreement the Natives will receive for cutting
out that timberabout £10 10s. per acre ?—That is so.

27. Is there any matai or totara there?—There is no totara to speak of. There might be one
tree in a thousand ; and there is practically no matai.

28. For all practical purposes it is a rimu bush?—Yes. There is nothing else that we have
been cutting.

29. Were these agreements made with a full knowledge of the Native Land Act ?—I do not
know about that. The Native land laws seem to be difficult to understand.

30. They were prepared, I suppose, by competent people, who understand the Native land
laws ?—They were prepared by a solicitor.

31. So far as you are advised they are absolutely valid and legal?—Decidedly.
32. And the Natives themselves are perfectly satisfied with the conditions ?—Perfectly satis-

fied. I have received a telegram from Natives this morning, which I cannot put together myself
because I only understand Maori sufficiently to give parts of it.

The Chairman: The Interpreter will read it.— [Telegram read] "Botorua, 2/11/03.—-To
David Lundon, Wellington.—Be you strong in holding on to our bush, lest it go under the bad
Act now being framed. We are agreeable to the arrangements made by us (i.e., you and ourselves),
as they are satisfactory.—Matehaere, Whaeekiei Naeea [re] Waiteti Nos. 2a and 2b Blocks,
[and] Taui Kebea and others in regard to Okoheriki No. 2c Block. Tamati Poueueu, Chairman

of Committee."
33. Mr. Remington.] In reference to any suggestions that have been made as to it being a

matter of exploitation by the European of the Natives in connection with their bush, so far as the
Natives are concerned they are perfectly satisfied with the arrangements ?—Perfectly satisfied.
The arrangements were given to them as a means of livelihood. The Natives were on the brink of
starvation, and you will see that they all benefit by these agreements in reference to the bush.

34. How often are the payments made to them ? —Monthly or fortnightly, or as often as they
like to take them. We are only starting the new bush, and when Igo back the money for the
Natives will be ready for them. After that they will fix their own time as to when it will be most
convenient to themselves, whether monthly or fortnightly.

35. You have spent a considerable sum of money in opening up the bush ?—Yes, a good deal
—more than £5,000—and there is a good deal more to spend.

36. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] In buying the plant, I suppose?—-Yes, in buying the plant, erecting
the mills, and so on.

37. They are assets that you claim ?—Yes ; the mill is on a freehold.
38. Mr. Hone Heke.] You have spent more than £5,000?—About £5,000.
39. In the laying-down of the tramways and putting up the mill?—-Yes, for general purposes.
40. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] You do not mean to say that you are making a present of that to the

owners?—By no means.
41. Mr. Remington.] The Crown Lands Commissioner of the Auckland Provincial District

has himself had estimates made of the value of the bush in similar localities ?—Yes.
42. And you are paying the full average price as fixed by the Crown ?—Yes.
43. Then, there could be no exploitation whatever?—No chance of it.
44. Have you considered the effect, so far as yourself is concerned, not the Natives, if the

proposed clause in the Bill were given effect to declaring all such agreements illegal ?—lf it
touches our particular cases, as I presume it will, it will have a very serious effect upon us and
also upon the Natives.

45. It would keep them in a state of impoverishment—you say they are already in a bad way—
and you could not possibly go on ?—We could not possibly go on, it would shut us up completely.

46. Mr. Wi Pere.] Which Act is referred to in tnis telegram?—l suppose it is this clause 31.
Why I think it is this particular clause is because the first intimation I had of the intended passing
of this clause 31 was byTamati Poururu, the Chairman of that Committee, bringing to me a clipping
from the Auckland Weekly Neivs and reading it to me in reference to that clause.

47. Was it through that newspaper that Tamati obtained his information?—l presume it was.
He could not have got it in any other way. He furnished me with the information.
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48. Mr. Hone Heke.] Will you give us the number of owners in each of those blocks of yours ?
—I could not give you that right out, but all the owners of the Waiteti Block have signed here.
Those who have not have had their interests cut out by the Land Court; but we have the greater
number of those interested in the area here.

49. Have you any idea of the number of owners who signed your agreement ?—All the owners
of the Waiteti land we are cutting from have signed these two documents. They are all in the
agreements.

50. What number of owners in the Okoheriki Block have signed the agreement?—A hundred,
or something like it.

51. What is the distance from these bushes to Auckland ?—About 160 miles, roughly.
52. What is your nearest railway-station ?—The station we get out at is Mamaku. The mill

is about three miles in from Mamaku, to the northward of it. We have a tramway on the Auckland
side of Botorua.

53. Is there any clause in your agreement in regard to the quantity of timber to be cut during
the year?—Yes ; 10,000ft. a day, more or less. The mill was to be kept going, and the amount men-
tioned is 10,000ft. a day.

54. What are the terms in regard to payment —quarterly, or what?—When they like. There
is no restriction as to when they shall get it.

55. Are there any restrictions in the agreement with regard to the laying-down of tram-lines—
that the Natives should pay for the laying of them ?—That condition is in this agreement, but in
the modification agreement we pay forall. They have, as a matter of fact, been paid for.
They are the contractor's.

56. You say this condition is in this agreement you have here?—Yes. In the modified agree-
ment it is provided that we shall not charge anything for the tramways.

57. Is that the Waiteti agreement you are quoting from?—Yes. We have not commenced
on the Okoheriki Block yet.

58. When was your modified agreement made?—At the same time as this. We signed and
passed the modified agreement on to the Natives, and they signed this and passed it on to us.

59. What was the cause for this modification ?—This original deed was drawn up, and when
we came to meet the Maoris and talk the matter over we said to them—principally myself—" You
can take the mill yourselves if you wish, and run it yourselves, according to the conditions of this
agreement," but the Maoris said, " We prefer to have nothing to do with it," and we took the
liability up for them, but we said we must have their permission to remove the mill when we have
done and the bush is cut out.

60. And under the modification you took nothing from that shilling that you allowed them for
cutting and felling?—Not a farthing.

61. Nothing from the royalty ?—Nothing.
62. Are there any other mills working adjacent to the country you are working in ?—-Yes,

there are three mills. The owners of one are perhaps half a mile from where we are working.
63. Mr. Herries.] Are they working on Native laud ?—No, I do not think so ; I think they are

working on land purctiased on lease from the Government.
64. Mr. Hone Heke.] You say you have spent about £5,000?—Yes.
65. Would that be money spent on the construction of the tramways, the mill, and for other

incidental expenses?—For everything.
66. Have you started to pay the royalties to the Natives ?—We have just started going this

month. The royalty was fixed for the first month—that will be in October. We opened the new
mill on the 7th of last month ; but we had alterations to make which closed it for some time, and
we have been at work for about a fortnight.

67. You have only been at work cutting the bush at Waiteti for a fortnight?—-Off and on.
When you start a new mill you have to alter many little things.

68. Have you been cutting timber in this vicinity before ?—No.
69. You have not had any experience as to the cost of railage to Auckland ?—I have.
70. What is the cost of railage ?—3s. per 100 ft. on from there to Auckland. On our esti-

mated quantity the Bailway Department will get about £10 an acre for the timber carried away
from this bush. Every bit must go by rail.

71. Have you had considerable experience in milling ?—I have.
72. How many grades do you get out of rimu?—Practically four, but two of them are very in-

different. The two principal grades are first and second class. Bimu is very difficult to get more
than two classes from—it is very shaky and resiny.

73. Can you give us your ruling prices?—First class 12s. 6d, second class 9s. 6d., freight paid
to all stations.

74. In all classes ?—ln every case.
75. Mr. Mander.] Is there any discount off that?—l7£ per cent, discount to the Auckland

dealers.
76. Mr. Hone Heke.] Is the first-class ordinary building-timber ?—Yes.
77. And the second grade is second class?—Yes.
78. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] Who classifies the timber?—We do.
79. Mr. Mander.] But the Natives get 6d. royalty all round?—-Yes.
80. Mr. Hone Heke.] What is the other class ?—Clean heart.
81. Would that be of superior quality to the other two classes?—Yes, a quality we do not care

to supply. It is practically out of the market so far as we are concerned. The next class is rough
heart, which is very resiny, and we cannot sell it at all.

82. The kind of timber you go in for is only rimu and a little matai?—Yes. There may be
an odd matai-tree and an odd totara; practically there is none.
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83. You say that the two Waiteti agreements were made in December, 1902 ?—Yes, that

is so.
84. And the Okoheriki agreement is dated August, 1903?—Yes.
85. The Crown Lands Boards Begulations were issued on the 26th September, 1901, and I see

that your agreements are made with the Natives since those regulations were issued : have you
acquired Crown timber up that way since the regulations were issued ?—I have not seen the regu-
lations you refer to. My only knowledge of the price of rimu timber is that the general price paid
is 6d., and I know of thousands and thousands of feet which have been sold at that figure ; in fact,
I know of any quantity that has been offered by Europeans at 4d.

86. What is your objection to clause 31 in the Maori Land Administration Bill ?—My objec-
tion to it is that the clause—as I suppose it will—affects my title with the Natives in this timber.
I do not think it should do so, because I have gone into the bush with the object of benefiting the
Natives as well as myself. There would be equal benefit to both sides. Numerous other blocks

•have been offered to me, which I have refused, because I have the block I wanted. As I said be-
fore, we are not in any shape or form speculators in bush. We are going to erect a bond fide mill
and work this patch, but outside of this I have no wish to go. If this clause affects my titleI
have, of course, the strongest objection to it personally.

87. Supposing these lands contained milling-timber, and were transferred to the Maori Lands
Council, would you not prefer getting your title, to cut that timber, direct from the Maori Council,
instead of going to the expense of appointing agents and a number of people to acquire the signa-
tures of the Natives privately ? —I would prefer to get the title from the Maori Council if it were
possible to get it. In the early stage of my negotiations, which have extended considerably over
twelve months, I approached Judge Edgar and Judge Gilland asked them if it was possible for the
Council to take the matter over, as I would be quite agreeable to assist the Council to get these
lands if it were agreeable to the Natives and they would give me the sanction I already hold ; and
the reply I got from both those gentlemen was that they were quite sure the Council would do
that. I immediately went back to the Natives and had a conversation with them. I suggested to
them that they should put these lands under the Council, with the recommendation that my
arrangement should be carried out. But the reply I got from the Natives was, "We are satisfied
with the arrangement we have made, and are prepared to handle the money ourselves; at all
events, we are not at present ready to hand it over to the Council."

88. Mr. Remington.] Then, the Natives are not willing to hand over these lands to the Council ?
—That is the difficulty.

89. Mr. Fraser.] They are very intelligent Natives up there, are theynot?—Yes; one of them
came to me and read clause 31 himself. That was positively the first intimation I had of it.

90. Mr. Hone Heke.] Supposing a clause were drafted for this Bill, embodying all the con-
ditions under which the Crown Lands Board disposed of its timber to the public, would you have
any reasonable objection to a clause of that kind?—-If you tell me now that the price of timber
has been raised Is. since I have made my arrangements, I would certainly object to paying Is.
after I have arranged to pay 6d., which was the highest possible price paid at the time.

91. Supposing the clause is drafted for the purpose of reviewing the transactions in Maori
timber, and that the conditions in regard to its disposal should be the conditions which are embodied
in the regulations under which the Crown Lands Board disposed of Crown lands timbers ?—Any
alterations may take place in the law in the meantime in regard to the disposal of timber by the
Crown Lands Board, but probably those regulations would not have induced me to enter into a
speculation at the time I did. I entered into the speculation in good faith at the time.

92. Leaving your agreement out altogether, and taking legislation in regard to dealing with
Maori timber, would you have any objection at all to a clause bringing into operationthe provisions
under which the Crown Lands Board under new regulations are disposing of their land ?—That is
asking me to set aside my agreement and take my chance.

93. Supposing your agreements are not legal documents, to what tribunal would you agree to
submit the review of those agreements ? Would you allow the Maori Council to review them?—l
would rather the Supreme Court reviewed them.

94. Mr. Willis.] There has been no disagreement between you and the Natives, I suppose
—you have worked in harmony up to the present, and they are perfectly satisfied in all respects ?
—Yes.

95. With regard to the profits, after paying expenses of felling and cutting, and taking into
consideration the cost of hauling, and that you have to allow this 17J per cent, discount, do you
consider you are getting an unreasonable profit on the timber?—I can assure you there is very
little in it at the present prices. I have three miles of carting to do from the mill to the station.

96. Mr. Mander.] Have the Government sold any land adjoining these properties of yours, or
in the vicinity ?—They have.

97. They have bought it from the Natives?—Yes.
98. Have you any idea what they gave for it ?—The Natives told me they got 3s. an acre for

the land, bush and all.
99. And you say you are giving an average of £10 10s. per acre?—Yes.
100. And do you not buy the land? —No; we do not want it.
101. What do you consider the percentage of loss between log and sawn timber ?—lt is very

large in rimu.
102. Thirty-three per cent. ?—Fully.
103. Do you pay on log-measurement or mill-measurement?—Log-measurement.
104. Mr. Fraser.] You tell the Committee that the Government have purchased land adjoin-

ing these timber-areas of yours at 3s. an acre ?—So the Natives informed me.
105. What class of timber was it? Equal to or better than what you have?—Near Mamaku

I should say it was better.
4—l. 3a.
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106. The purchases have been proceeding up to within the last three years ?—That is so, and
are proceeding now—on the opposite side of the road.

107. All at the same price ?—I do not know that the Government are buying land now.
108. But the Governmentpurchases that you'know of in that locality have been at the rate of

3s. an acre ?—So the Natives have informed me.
109. Can you tell me the names of the blocks adjoining yours that you have been told the

Government paid 3s. for?—Mamaku is one.
110. And you say that the timber is as good as, or possibly better than, that of the land you

have ?—Yes.
111. The Government have sold some of that land to the Europeans right out?—Yes.
112. What price have the Government charged for that land plus the timber?—l2s. 6d. an

acre.
113. The receipts you estimate the Native owners will receive from you for the timber—

disabuse your mind from the royalty—is £2 10s. per acre?—That is so.
114. Have the Natives the use of the land while you are cutting the timber?—Yes, they are

occupying it now.
115. In what way?—Houses are built there, and they are going on to cultivate it as soon as

the bush is felled.
116. So they will have cultivating rights, plus £2 10s. per acre?—That is so.
117. You say you are three miles from a railway-station ?—Yes.
118. And you are 160 miles from a market?—Very near. Botorua is 172 miles from Auck-

land, and I think we are fourteen miles from Botorua.
119. And the freight by train is 3s.?—3s.
120. Mr. Mander.] It will cost you about 9s. to put this timber on the railway-trucks ?—Yes.
121. Mr. Fraser.] And you estimate the revenue to the Government for freight will be about

£10 per acre?—Yes. I take the average railage at 2s. It will probably be more than that.
122. Do you know a property that has been leased by a company known as the Taupo

Syndicate ?—I have heard of the company very often.
123. Do you know the property ?—I know some of it.
124. What class of timber is it on that property?—Totara, matai, and rimu.
125. Is it a rich totara block ?—Yes, very rich—the part that I know is.
126. You are not bound to answer this question unless you like, so I leave it to your dis-

cretion : as an expert, what would you say is the value of the totara country they have?—l
could not give you an estimate.

127. Have all your negotiations with the Natives been of an amicable description?—Quite.
128. And you say they prefer to manage their own affairs, and are not at all anxious to hand

over their administration to the Maori Council ?—That was their answer to me when I tried to put
the matter under the Maori Council.

129. Mr. Herries.] This land has been through the Land Court—the blocks you are dealing
with?—Yes ; all of it, and divided into shares.

130. I suppose you had legal advice before the deed was drawn up by your lawyer ?—Yes.
131. He was satisfied that it was a perfectly legal and valid agreement ?—Yes.
132. And the Maoris are satisfied that it is legal too ?—Yes.
133. It does not deal with the land?—No.
134. Has the land any restriction on it beyond clause 117 ?—That I am not aware of. That

has a wide scope.
135. Is the land in the thermal district?—l am not quite certain ; it is somewhat near the

boundary.
136. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] It is in the thermal district ?—I was not certain about it.
137. Mr. Herries.] If the Maoris are dissatisfied they have their remedy?— Yes, and will

quickly exercise it.
138. In the Supreme Court ?—Yes.
139. Have you any remedy against them?—We have a right, according to our power of

attorney, to enter and cut the timber ourselves, and pay them the royalty.
140. Suppose they refuse to allow you to enter?—Then we should be blocked. Ido not know

what would happen.
141. You are in this position : that they can enforce their agreement with you, and you cannot

enforce your agreement with them ?—Yes. Of course, if they had a disagreement with us they
might force us out of the bush by mere force of strength.

142. Then, in the agreements they practically have the best of it?—Yes, as Maoris usually do
in my experience.

143. They do not wish to come under the Maori Council at present?—No.
144. And this clause will compel them to put their land under the Maori Council?—I presume

it would, from my reading of it. I have not seen the later clause, but it compels some one, I
understand, to get a title.

145. So far as you are concerned you would not object to go before the Maori Council?—Not
if the Natives would agree.

146. The clause says the Council can modify or ratify ?—I do not want my agreements modi-
fied ; I want them ratified.

147. But, so far as the Maoris are concerned, they want to deal direct with you without going
to the Maori Council at all ? —Yes. I got them together and asked them, and they said they would
not do it.

148. Did you ever apply for an Order in Council to get the restriction taken off the block ?--
No.

149. You were not advised that it was necessary ?—No.
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150. And you did not consider it necessary ?—-No. As far as I know it is a good valid agree-

ment as between man and man; that is the advice we got.
151. And you reckon you will lose £5,000 if this legislation passes ?—Yes; we would if it

affects us as we think.
152. And the Maoris would be very heavy losers?—Yes. Our conditions are different to many

others. We employ the Maoris, and have a good staff of them employed.
153. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] I want you to say again whether, in your opinion, this contract

between yourself and the Natives is enforceable on one side and not on the other ?—I take it in
good faith that the agreement is a good valid agreement.

154. But, in fact, they could refuse to carry out theirpart of the agreement, and you have no
power to enforce it ?—ln that case it would be against me.

155. You understood that risk when you entered into the speculation ?—No.
156. You understood there was no risk at all?—Yes.
157. You considered it was perfectly lawful to contract with the Natives for timber rights ?—■Yes, in the chattel state.
158. When did it occur to you that you could contract with them for their timber in the

chattel state ?—When I took up the land over twelve months ago.
159. That was the reason why the contract is drawn up to make them the contractors and

you the contractees ?—The contract was drawn up by a solicitor, and was intended to be binding
on the Natives and on us.

160. In the ordinary way you would be the contractor ?—Yes.
161. But I suppose you were advised by your solicitor that the best way would be to put the

Natives in as the contracting party with yourself?—When I thought it was likely to come to
business I went to a solicitor and told him that I was making arrangements to acquire the right
of the timber—to get the Natives to supply the timber to me—and that I wanted a document to
cover my rights under those conditions, and the document is the document I now present.

162. You explained to him that you had entered into a contract with the Natives to cut
the timber, and asked him to draw up the document in such a form as to give you legal rights ?
—That is so.

163. You say that if your contract was knocked on the head by any legislation it would be
very hard on you, and also very hard on the Natives ?—Yes.

164. May I understand, too, that it would be impossible for the Natives to let their timber
rights legally under some other form ?—No. I was presuming that if the passing of this Act
affected the right of the Natives to deal with me, it would prevent them getting a living.

165. If the clause referred to existing agreements that were not made legal before a certain
date, the cancellation of that agreement would cancel all future agreements: you read the
clause in that way ?—Yes.

166. Supposing the Natives had transferred that land to the Council, and the Council had
submitted it to public tender, would there have been any loss on the part of the Natives?—Yes.

167. In what way?—ln the first place, they would not have got 6d. per 100ft. by public
tender at the time they let it to me. If it is advanced to Is., as 1 have heard to-day, at the time
they sold it to me they could not have got 6d. As a matter of fact, the Government to-day
are offering large areas of land at 12s. 6d. per acre in the neighbourhood, and cannot sell
it—it is hanging fire. The Natives will suffer in that respect, and they would sufler very
seriously in another respect. With me they get Is. per 100ft. for breaking out the timbers, which
they never would have got from any other man, and they would suffer in that respect. It is an
absolute livelihood for them, and you would deprive them of it. You would reduce their earning
rate from £11 lis. to £2 10s.

168. Why do you say no one would engage these Natives in the way that you do and pay
them 6d. royalty?—I do not know that any other people would employ Natives in the bush as I
am doing.

169. Are you not aware that other sawmilling companies have provisions in their agreements
for the employment of Natives ?—There may be, but certainly not in my neighbourhood.

170. You say that if this land had been put up to public auction when you took it up, the
Natives would not have got the price you gave?—That is my candid opinion. They would not
have got 6d. a hundred for it.

171. And if it were put up to auction now, what price would it fetch, do you think? —At the
present time it might fetch the 6d., but Ido not think that it would fetch more. I could name a
man I could get the timber from at 4d. We have bought a little for 4d. alongside the block, so
it does not look as if they could get the 6d. even now.

172. You say you can get bush in the vicinity at 4d. ?—Yes.
173. Have you bought it at 4d. ?—Yes ; small areas on the edge of this bush of mine. But I

have another large area adjoining it also offered to me at 4d.
174. You can give the 6d. for the royalty and can employ the Natives at Is. ?—Yes.
175. You can pay the freight and can undertake all the other expenses, and at the same time

sell it in the market and allow 17J-per cent, discount ?—That is so.
176. That is outside any profits you may have for yourself?—All our profits come after that.
177. You give away 17-J- per cent. ?—Yes.
178. Even at the price you say is a very great price, and you say that no one would give it,

you are satisfied with your own profits and can give a discount of 17£ per cent. ?—That is to the
dealers. We are obliged to give it. They give a percentage again out of that to the builders —10 per cent.

179. Have you your agreements registered?—Not registered—they are stamped.
180. They are only stamped ?—Yes,
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181. You say that all the owners of these blocks have signed the agreements?—Not all. In
the Waiteti they have. Idonot think there is any one outside of that.

182. You have verified that yourself?—We have not got all the block. There is land outside.
As far as I know, all the owners of the bush part have signed our agreement. In the Okoheriki
Block that is not so. There are some owners in that that have not signed.

183. How do you proceed in getting these agreements signed ; do you employ any one to get
the signatures?—No, I got the signatures myself. I have a licensed interpreter, and he and I
go and get the signatures wherever we can. We call a meeting generally, and get them there.

184. How much does it cost you to get the signatures for your agreements? —It does not
cost a great deal to get the signatures, but in most cases we have made advances which were
from out of the royalty.

185. As a rule you pay the money before they sign ?—No; after they sign.
186. Will you say that you made advances before they were entitled to receive anything?—

Yes ; before the timber is cut.
187. Do they demand these advances, or do you hold them out as an inducement ?—

They demand them.
188. You have to give them something before the Natives will sign ?—No ; they are perfectly

satisfied. Of course, there are many expenses outside of that.
189. You have got the signatures of the owners of the block of land you are working ?—Yes.
190. You only started last month : you started getting signatures in August last ? —About the

15th August.
191. And before your mill started last week you had to advance money ? —Yes.
192. You could not say roughly what it cost you per signature in expenses, counting your own

expense ?—I have no idea.
193. You have to get an interpreter, a Justice of the Peace, and probably an adult witness ?—

No; only a Justice of the Peace and an interpreter.
194. What system do they work on ? For instance, how do you assure yourself that the

money is paid to each owner ? How do you pay them?—I agree upon the advance I will give to
the Natives, and they form themselves into a committee. The committee is called together, and
the money is divided by it.

195. You trust the committee to disburse the money amongst the owners ?—Yes.
196. And your responsibility ceases when you hand over the money to the committee?—Yes.
197. And from what you can understand, the committee works satisfactorily ?—They have to

a point, but for the future it has been decided that I am to keep a separate account for each
individual and to pay him his royalty.

198. Then, instead of paying over the money to the committee, you will keep it in hand?—
Yes.

199. But the committee was practically the body that worked up the interest in your agree-
ment to its culmination : the committee formed themselves into a body ?—After they had signed
the deed the Natives formed themselves into a committee, and then the advance is made and paid.

200. Previous to this did you go to each individual Native, and afterwards did they all meet?
—We had a number of meetings, and thoroughly threshed the matter out.

201. Did they resolve themselves into a committee which undertook to complete the contract?
—No ; the contract was completed, but there was so much money to be paid as an advance.
It was notified that the money would be paid on a certain day, and that they were to meet and to
make their own division of it. The money was paid in an open room.

202. You said something about the Government purchases of Native land : have you any
personal knowledge of lands purchased by the Government ?—No; only hearsay knowledge from
the Natives.

203. Perhaps you have heard that the land along the line of railway at Mamaku was
purchased years ago in connection with the building of the railway ?—-I have heard there were
purchases that were made.

204. And lands for which the Natives were paid compensation ?—I have heard that.
205. That would be a few years ago ?—lt would be.
206. You have no personal knowledge of any land purchased there ?—No.
207. Talking about the purchase of land with standing bush on it: according to your own

showing, if the bush were put up at auction, say, last August, it would not have fetched the same
royalty that you are giving now ? —No.

208. And, say, five or ten years ago, when the land was purchased by the Crown—fifteen
years ago in some instances—was there any activity in the timber-market at all?—Not the activity
in that class of timber. It was worked very little.

209. Was there any effort by private individuals to establish sawmills ?—The Mamaku mills
were established.

210. But when the Government made these purchases ?—I have no knowledge when the
Government purchases were made.

211. In fact, the price of timber has gone up with quite a jump within the last twelve months?
—It has advanced within the last eighteen months.

212. A good deal of attention is given now to the acquisition of bush lands for milling pur-
poses ?—I suppose there is.

213. Well, what impelled you to go in for it ?—I had nothing in view of any extra thing in
timber.

214. Why did you not go in for it years ago ?—I had not gone into the district; but whenI got
into the district I conceived the idea of going into the timber business.

215. But you had been in the timber business before ?—Yes.
216. And no one in the district had attempted to acquire the timber before you went ?—No.
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217. There had been no talk about it?—No ; no one wanted it.
218. Mr. Remington.] How long have you known that district ?—For the last thirty-five years.

I have only been living in the district for two and a half or three years, but I have been living
within a few miles of it and have been continually up and down the places.

219. The Chairman.] You said that you had bought timber at 4d. per 100 ft. from the
Europeans ?—That is so.

220. From Crown tenants ?—I think so. I know the one offering now is a Crown tenant, and
I think the one I bought from is a Crown tenant.

221. If these Europeans had got this land from the Crown, and paid6d. a hundred, how was it
possible that they could sell it to you at 4d. ?—They had not paid 6d. for it. They bought the
land and the timber at 12s. 6d. an acre. It was opened under the three tenures of the Act.

222. Did you buy from Europeans who had taken up the land under the right of purchase?—
Ido not know what his tenure is. The other man I referred to has the right of purchase, and
he offers it to me at 4d.

223. Can you do that without the permission of the Commissioner ?—Yes; and the Crown
collected the royalty as rent. Thousands of acres have been sold for 4d.

224. Then, they are not acting according to the Gazette notice?—The public outside the
Government are not. The Government have been selling land regardless of the timber. Any
person could take up land under the three tenures of the Act, and could do what they like with it,
but now the timber has to be considered.

225. Has any alteration been made in the Act ?—No ; but regulations have been issued.
226. Do you think the regulations can supersede the Act ?—Well, they are acting on the

regulations.
227. In this case, where you bought it from theEuropean, you did not engage the European to

do the work for you as you did the Natives ?—No.
228. Then, he does not receive the benefit of the 2d. in the one case and the Is. in the other?

—That is so.
229. So that the Native really gets Is. 2d. more for his timber than the European?— Yes; but

the Natives provide the labour.
230. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] With regard to the consumption of timber at Botorua, Botorua has

been developed very much lately ?—Yes.
231. And the necessity for timber is also growing with it ?—Yes.
232. And your sawmill is within how many miles?—Fifteen miles ; we are three miles back

from the line, but we have a tram-line right along the road.
233. Mr. Fraser.] About what percentage do you send to Botorua as compared with Auck-

land ?—Very little.
234. Mr. Herries.] Mr. Carroll asked you whether there was not some new activity in the

sawmilling line at Botorua?—There has been nothing new.
235. There have been three mills at work there for the last ten years?—Yes, and the only

additional one is our own.
236. The other mills are buying timber from the Crown tenants ?—I believe the Natiri Mill

is on Native land.
237. Mr. Harding.] What are you paying for therailway rate ? How do you obtain the con-

cession down to 3s. to Auckland ?—That is the recognised price.
238. Did you deputationise the Bailway Department ?—I did not.
239. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] You do not know the terms of the earlier milling contracts?—No.
240. Mr. Hone Heke.] What is the freight from your bush to Botorua ?—One shilling. We

are in the bush three miles before we reach the railway-line.
241. Have you heard any instance where the Government have purchased land at 35., and

afterwards found out it was very valuable and handed the land back to the Natives '!—No, I have
never heard of such a case.

;i42. They have retained that benefit for themselves ?—Yes.
243. Do you know that the rule is now, according to the Crown Lands Board, in the disposal

of timber on Crown lands, that the conditions are very stringent in regard to the quantity to be
cut and the payments to be made; that if you negotiate with the Crown for a timber-area on
their own lands that their conditions are very stringent, and that they made it conditional that
you must cut a certain number of feet every year?—They are restrictions that refer to kauri
timber.

244. In regard to ordinary timber—such as rimu, matai, and totara—the Crown Lands Board
cannot sell any of their timber below the rates that are set out in the regulations issued by the
Minister?—That is so. lam dealing with rimu, and 6d. is the price that. the Government sells at
everywhere. There is no restriction with regard to rimu. In the part of the North Island referred
to rimu has had a very great struggle to come in at all as against kauri. It is different in the
South Island.

245. In regard to the Is. you allow the Natives for felling and cutting the timber, in the event
of the Natives failing to satisfy you you can enter and cut it yourself ?—Yes ; in that event the Is.
would cease to be]paid. That Is. isjpaidjior labour, practically.
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Wednesday, 4th November, 1903.
Frank Thomas Moore, of Johnsonville, examined. (No. 9.)

1. The Chairman.] You are aware that the Native Affairs Committee have been taking evi-
dence in connection with clause 31 of the Maori Land Laws Amendment Bill, as regards Europeans
dealing with Natives in reference to timber ?—Yes.

2. Have you had any transactions with the Natives in regard to their timber ?—Yes.
3. Have you any agreements with them ?—I have.
4. Can you produce them ? —Yes.
5. I may tell you that the Committee have agreed not to make public the full contents of

these agreements, hut previous witnesses have given all the information in connection with them
that the Committee desired; and if you keep the agreements and read out a sort of precis of them
the Committee can ask you questions regarding the terms under which you have entered into the
agreements with the Natives for timber rights?— Yes. The agreements are for a block of land in
the Puketapu Block. [Witness explained provisions of agreements.]

6. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] What is the area of the Puketapu Block ?—Six thousand acres.
7. Does that represent the timber part of it—six thousand acres of timber land?—Yes.
8. Where is Puketapu situate?—Near Taumarunui—aboutfive miles from it.
9. In the Bohe Potae area—the King-country? —Yes, in the King-country.
10. Mr. Jennings.] Is it between Taumarunui and Piriaka?—No; it is up the river from

Taumarunui.
11. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] Have you seen the land yourself?—Yes.
12. You have been over it?—Yes.
13. What does the timber consist of?—Totara, matai, rimu, and kahikatea.
14. What are the proportions—is it chiefly totara, chiefly matai, chiefly rimu, or what?—

Chiefly rimu.
15. Is there a fair percentage of totara in the bush ?—Yes.
16. Is it good totara?—Yes, fairly good. There are some faulty trees, as is usual in totara

forests.
17. How many feet would it cut per acre?—Taking the whole six thousand acres, there is a

lot of useless bush—it is not all milling-bush. I dare say two-thirds of the area contains fair to
good milling-bush which might average 100,000 ft. to the acre.

18. The Chairman.] That is the average in the whole timber-area?—No; two-thirds of the
block would average that.

19. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] How far away is it from the Main Trunk Bailway line ? —About six
miles, I estimate it.

20. It would be necessary to have a tram-line, of course, running from the block to carry the
timber to the Main Trunk Bailway line?—Yes.

21. Would that be fairly easy of construction, from ihe nature of the country ?—The nature of
the country in there is difficult. It would be fairly easy for that country, but it would not be an easy
matter—it would be costly.

22. Who have you contracted with—presumably with the owners of the Puketapu Block ?—
Yes.

23. Are you satisfied yourself that you have dealt with all the owners ?—Yes; we have
obtained the signature of every Native who is an owner in the Puketapu Block.

24. You have seen the order of the Native Land Court ?—Yes.
25. And you have gone through the names ?—Yes.
26. You have got all the signatures of the Natives?—Yes. The reputed successors were

taken.
27. To represent the deceased's interests ?—Yes, that is so.
28. And, in some cases, trustees for minors ?—Yes.
29. They may, or may not be, the successors and trustees when the legal award is made;

but, however, they are the reputed ones?—Yes.
30. In obtaining signatures for your agreements, whom did you employ?—Mr. John Grace,

a licensed interpreter, of Tokaanu.
31. Do you represent yourself, or a company ?—I represent a company.
32. What terms did you make with those you employed to secure the signatures to your

agreement?—l paid them £1 10s. per signature.
33. And, on completion, anything in the way of a bonus or lump sum?—Not to the interpreter.

That was his full payment and travelling-expenses. There was no bonus beyond that.
34. Did you make any special arrangements with the leading chiefs of the owners ? Did you

enter into any special agreement with any of the chiefs owning the land ? —We entered into
an agreement with Te Heuheu. We negotiated with him for the whole thing. He was the
only man, as a matter of fact, we negotiated with. The Natives intrusted him to deal with their
land, and we negotiated with him.

35. Did you make any agreement with him, so far as he was personally concerned, as to the
remuneration he was to get when the agreement was completed—for his work or whatever
influence he might have with his people ?—We did.

36. Well, state just briefly what the nature of it was?—We undertook to pay him—to cover
the cost of travelling the country with the interpreter and obtaining the deed for us—£soo, and
upon his doing this work for us another £1,000 in the course of two years, providing everything
was satisfactory. This is a personal agreement, and quite outside the other agreement.

37. What is the nature of your contract ? What do you contract to do, and what do the
Natives contract to do ?—We contract to pay them 2s. 3d. per 100 superficial feet for totara ; on
matai, lOd.; on rimu, Bd. ; and on kahikatea, 6d.
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38. Log-measurement or sawn measurement ?—Sawn measurement.
39. Mr. Mander.] Without any labour?—Yes, without any labour; and we also contract

to allow the Natives to retain a one-third interest in the company.
40. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] That is to say, you take them into partnership ?—Yes. They take up

one-third of the shares in the company in order that they may, in addition to the royalties, parti-
cipate in any profits the company may make.

41. Mr. Hone Heke.] Are those paid-up shares ? No. They will contribute by devoting 20
per cent, of their royalties towards the payment of these shares until such shares are paid up. In
order to work this bush we obtained from them two documents, one in which they propose to lease
to the Native Council 640 acres, which the Council in turn will be asked to lease to the company,
so that the company might have land for their own mills, plant, and so on; and under this con-
tract we then pay the prices agreed upon for the timber growing on the remaining area of the
block. I may say that the Natives greatly appreciate the terms we have made with them, which
they declare are the best they have yet obtained. These royalties are, it must be admitted,
high for a block of country in the interior of the island, and, in addition to the royalties, they
become shareholders and participate with the company in any future value the timber may
possess.

42. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] Before we get to the commenting stage, we just want to get the actual
terms of the contract with the parties?—We covenant to pay the prices I have already given.
We have the cutting-right deed, and an agreement in the same terms for dealing with the bush on
the 640 acres in the block which it is proposed to place in the hands of the Maori Council.

43. So that the Maori Council can give to the company a valid lease of the land on which the
sawmill and plant are to be erected ?—Yes.

44. Mr. Hone Heke.] It is only for the purpose of obtaining a legal lease of the land ?—
Yes.

45. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] With regard to the second agreement for the 640 acres, the same
schedule accords with the other agreement?— Yes.

46. You said that by a special contract with Te Heuheu you agree to give, him £500, and on
the completion of this agreement a further sum of £1,000?—Yes ; two years after.

47. Have you contracted in similar or lesser degree with any other Native chief on the same
land ?—No.

48. This would be, of course, irrespective of what might be his share inroyalties as an owner ?
—Yes.

49. He is an owner, is he not ?—Yes; and is also a director of the company.
50. When do you think you will be able to start timber-sawing on this block ?—We could start

within six months. We could start at once to lay down the tramwa\ s and erect the mills.
51. When do you propose to do it ?—So soon as we get a valid titlefrom the Council for the

640 acres, and an additional area, such as set out in that second agreement, sufficient to war-
rant the expenditure of the capital necessary.

52. You do not expect to be able to take timber out of that bush until you have constructed a
tramway to the railway?— That is so.

53. As a man of business and looking ahead, when do you think the railway will reach that
point?—lt has reached it now from Auckland ; it has reached Taumarunui.

54. How far is the place from Taumarunui ?—Six miles.
55. Then, all you have to do now is to make your tramway a distance of six miles to the rail-

way, establish your plant, and start to work ?—That is so.
56. Is your block adjoining that on which Mr. Ellis is cutting?—Yes. He is not actually

cutting, but he expects to commence presently.
57. Will the same tramway that may be used by Mr. Ellis be used by you as well?—Yes ; we

propose to join.
58. Join together in making a tramway ?—Yes.
59. When did you form your company for the purpose of securing these timber rights ?—We

registered the company three months ago ; but, of course, the negotiations with the Chief Te Heu-
heu began over a year ago, or about a year ago.

60. After you start operations there do you undertake to pay the Natives their royalty as you
cut the timber?—Yes, monthly.

61. Then, how do you make your deductions from what they have to receive to pay off their
liabilities as shareholders?—We deduct 20 per cent, of the royalty.

62. Then, you pay them the royalty less 20 per cent, which you fund towards the payment of
their shares in the company?—The basis upon which this company was formed was devised by
themselves. That is why they are interested. From our point of view we would rather have been
by ourselves, but we had to accede to their request.

63. The total area then involved in your agreements with the Native owners is—(1) The
6,000 acres in the Puketapu Block ; and (2) the 640 acres ?—Yes, cut out of the 6,000 acres.

64. That is, the land involved in your two agreements?—Yes.
65. Mr. Jennings.] Have you a mill at work at present ?—No; our documents are only

just completed and stamped, and until the land is vested in the Council and leased to us we cannot
start.

66. Are you engaged in any other milling operations?—No.
67. Is the mill at Piriaka working?—l do not know.
68. Will you not bring this timber down to the bridge at Taumarunui?—Yes ; we would ship

it on the railway there.
69. That would to a very great extent do away with the tram-line?—No. It is six miles from

the Taumarunuirailway-bridge to the bush ; and we cannot bring it down the river, because the
bush is not growing on the Wanganui Biver, but on a tributary of it.
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70. Is it in the direction of Te Puke ?—Yes.
71. You have a preference clause in your agreement for the employment of the Natives ?—Yes.
72. Would that act detrimentally to the white labour?— No. The manager of the mill is to

use his discretion, and will only employ such Natives as will give him a return equivalent to that of
white labour.

73. What is the usual custom with regard to Mr. Ellis's bush? Do the Natives usually do
the work ?—No ; Ido not think they do. Even though preference is given to them, very many of
them do not take it up.

74. Mr. Hone Heke.] How many shares in the company do you propose to let the Natives
have ?—Ten thousand.

75. Is there any condition in the agreement as to the quantity of timber to be cut per year?—
No ; the short term for which we lease the block—twenty-one years—necessitates fairly rapid
cutting.

76. Supposing the company fails, would the Natives be under any liabilities ?—No. There is
a clause in the agreements to the effect that if anything unsatisfactory happens within two years
—such as any failure on the part of the company to work the bush—the whole contract ceases.

77. Will the Maoris be implicated in the liabilities if the company fails within that period?
—The Maoris remain shareholders.

78. You have awarded them 10,000 shares?—Yes.
79. And all the liabilities which a shareholder naturally suffers according to law will fall

on them ?—Yes; they are ordinary shareholders, and in that case, I take it, they are responsible.
80. What is the cause for you and the Natives making it a condition that 640 acres of

this 6,000 acres are to be transferred to the Native Council, and then by the Council to the
company?—Because we supposed that 640 acres was the largest area that the Council would
grant to one individual or one firm.

81. It was for the purpose of securing a valid title to a portion of the land upon which to
erect your mills, and so on?—Yes. I may say that this clause 31 of the Bill, which makes
it a penal offence to deal with the land outside that 640 acres, is a clause calculatedto crush us and
render the whole undertaking impossible, because 640 acres is really too small an area to tackle,
with the capital required.

82. What about the penal clause you refer to ?—Under clause 31, if we felled a tree outside
the area leased to us by the Council we would be fined £50 and the value of the tree.

83. The 640 acres are outside of the 6,000 acres ?—Yes.
84. And does that penal clause apply to the 6,000 acres ?—Yes. The clause in the proposed

Bill will prevent us touching a single tree outside the 640-acre allotment.
85. Leave aside the clause in the Bill : have you made any condition in regard to the removal

by your company ofany milling-timber other than that you have already recited—totara, matai, rimu,
and kahikatea?—No. As yet we are not aware that there is any timber of any value for milling
purposes except these four kinds.

86. Should I be right in saying that if you did cut other timber on the block which has now
or may hereafter, during the progress of your works, become a marketable timber, you will not be
lawfully doing so, and if you do you may be liable to the Natives for penalties?—Yes. In nego-
tiating it is understood that should any such trees be found we should come to terms with the
Natives in reference to them.

87. You have a clause of that nature ?—We had it, but it was dropped out.
88. Have you had a large experience of timber?—A New-Zealander's experience—being born

in the bush,-and having a general experience.
89. You said that two-thirds of these 6,000 acres would average per acre 100,000ft. of

timber ?—Yes.
90. Would that be in log-measurement or sawn measurement ?—lt is an awkward thing to

estimate correctly.
91. Mr. Mander.] You said before that it was sawn measurement?—Yes; but exact measure-

ment might be less than my estimate.
92. Mr. Hone Heke.] Did you send an expert bushman to make an estimate of that block ?—

No ; we took an expert with us to assure us that there was sufficient timber in the block to warrant
us in taking it up. It is immaterial whether there are 50,000 ft. or 100,000ft. per acre, as we pay for
it by royalty.

93. You have ascertained what the railage is from there to Auckland?—Yes.
94. 3s. lid.?—Yes, less something; 3s. lid. gross.
95. The royalty for the timber growing on the 640 acres you have already bought in your No. 1

agreement under the conditions you set forth?—We have already contracted to pay the prices set
out for the timber.

96. And you say that your company will start as soon as it receives the lease of the 640 acres
from the Council ?—Yes ; providing we are also allowed to mill the bush upon the additional area.
The company will not start operations at all if restricted to the timber on the 640 acres.

97. Of course, we are taking it for granted that your contract on the 6,000 acres is good ?—
Yes.

98. And as soon as you get that lease from the Council you intend to start ?—Yes,
immediately.

99. Do you know whether the Natives have started to transfer that 6,000 acres ?—Yes; a
document is already signed, and we were ready to submit it to the Council, but our legal advisers
told us to delay the matter a little while.

100. Has this 640 acres been cut off by survey?—No.
101. You have allocated the 640 acres?—Yes, we have allocated it from the natural bound-

aries.
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102. Mr. Field.] The benefits the Natives will derive will be threefold—that is, the royalty

they will receive, the option of taking up shares by which they will receive dividends, and the
employment they will get from the company ?—Yes. -103. You intend to give them the full benefit of that employment clause?—Yes, we are bound
to do so by our terms.

104. Who prepared these deeds ?—Messrs. Travers, Bussell, and Campbell.
105. Were they acting for all theparties?— Yes.
106. We may assume that they took care of the Natives' interests ?—They were really acting

for the Natives in the first place, and we agreed to allow them to act for us once the terms and
conditions were fixed.

107. They were originally the Natives' solicitors?—Yes.
108. And afterwards you agreed that they should act for you also?—Yes; because we regarded

the company as almost a Maori company.
109. You are partly Maori yourself?—Yes, a quarter Maori, and it is owing to that fact that I

became associated with the Natives—owing to my Native kinship.
110. A question was asked you by Mr. Carroll as to the remuneration or bonus to be paid to

Te Heuheu ?—Yes.
111. Will you tell the Committee what amount of trouble he was put to in order to earn this

money ?—Yes. He is put to the trouble of spending something like twelve months in negotiating
and travelling the country discussing the matter with his fellow-owners; also, he undertakes to
assist us to procure tramway rights, and generally to help and advise the company in order to make
a success of the whole undertaking.

112. Does he pay his own travelling-expenses out of this money ?—Yes.
113. There would not be a very large sum in profit to him ?—Not very large, because he has

to attend to the drawing of these documents and the signing of them round the country, which is a
tedious and costly matter.

114. At all events, you are of opinion that he fully earns all he is going to get?—Yes.
115. Coming to the question of royalty, I notice that under your contracts, other than the

royalties mentioned by you, there is mentioned heart of totara 4s. 6d. ?—Yes, hewn or squared.
116. That is per 100 ft. superficial ?—Yes.
117. On fencing-posts, 7s. per 100?—Yes.
118. On house-blocks, £d. per lineal foot ?—Yes.
119. On straining-posts, 6d. each ?—Yes.
120. And you consider those royalties to be very advantageous to the Natives ?—Yes, very.
121. Assuming your estimate of the quantityof timber on the heavily covered portion of the

land at 100,000 ft. per acre to be correct, do you think it would be fair to say the average royalty
would be Is. per 100ft. ?—Yes, I do.

122. And the Natives would be receiving royalty there for £50 an acre ? —Yes; that is, on the
best part of the block, say, 4,000 acres.

123. That is £200,000 that they would receive in royalties ?—Yes, if my estimate is correct.
124. Are you aware whether the Government have bought any timber land in the vicinity of

your block?—Yes.
125. Have they bought any land covered with as good timber as yours?—I do not think so.
126. Have they bought heavily timbered land?—Yes; but the country that I saw purchased

by the Government contains a lot of waste country.
127. Have you in your mind any particular block which was bought by the Government?—

Yes ; on the south bank of the Wanganui Biver, opposite our own block.
128. How big is that block ?—I think it is about 16,000 or 17,000 acres.
129. How much of it is timber-covered?—A fourth; probably less.
130. What did the Government pay for that land ?—I am not quite sure, but the Native

owners told me 2s. 6d. Of course, it is only hearsay.
131. That was for the land and the timber ?—Yes, the land and all.
132. You say about a fourth or so would be good milling-timber?—No, I would not say good

milling-timber. It would be just good enough to mill.
133. Apparently the price paid was about £2,000 for the block ?—Yes.
134. Do you think that is a fairly good venture ?—Yes, of course ; because they would have

the land as well as the timber.
135. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] When did they buy this land?—I do not know. I was simply told

by the Natives.
136. Mr. Field.] It was a recent purchase—it would not be ten or twenty years ago?—No;

it would be subsequent to the Waimarino purchase.
137. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] What is the name of the block ?—I do not know.
138. Mr. Field.] Are there any provisions in your agreement stating that the Natives have

the right to use the land for residential purposes ?—Yes.
139. You do not intend to turn them off neck and crop?—No.
140. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] Is there a grant for this land ?—Only for the 640 acres.
141. Mr. Field.] Of course, you have no title for the land?—No; only the agreement to

take timber.
142. You say you have a clause in your agreement under which you permit the Natives the

use and occupation of the land ?—Yes; the agreement speaks for itself.
143. If you had not that clause in the agreement, do you think you could turn them off

at any time?—No.
144. Mr. Mander.] Is the timber fairly easily got out of this property ?—Fairly easy.
145. What do you reckon it will cost you to put it to the mill from the bush—to crosscut and

deliver it ?—Not more than 4d. to 6d. per 100 ft. to begin with.
s—l. 3a.
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146. But the average of the whole bush ?—About 9d.
147. And the cost of delivery to therailway-station?—Would be a very few pence per 100ft.—

perhaps 3d.
148. It would cost Is. altogether?—Yes.
149. What is your estimated loss between log and sawn timber?—I am not in a position to

answer that.
150. But if you have had a long experience in milling you will have an idea of what the usual

loss is?—No ; I have not had much experience in milling.
151. Mr. Fraser.] I want to be perfectly clear on the evidence with regard to the 640 acres,

which you go to the Council for: I presume the position is this—that you could not acquire by lease
anywhere in that locality land where you could put up your mill ?—That is so.

152. The only means by which you could secure a title to the land would be by going to the
Council?—Yes.

153. And you propose to do that by taking a lease for twenty-one years over the 640 acres,
with all the rights of a lessor upon it ?—Yes.

154. From that centre you propose to cut the timber all round ?—Yes.
155. Have the negotiations between you and the Natives so far been of an amicable nature ?—

Yes, very amicable.
156. And, so far as you know, is there generally a consensus of opinion among the Natives that

it would be beneficial to themselves?—Yes; they are quite delighted, I may say, with what we pro-
pose to do. We undertake to find the capital and brains, and open the bush, and they reap more
than a fair share of the profits, as many people admit.

157. What do you estimate the expense will be to place the timber on the railway from your
proposed mill? What expenditure will you have to incur first?—Quite £5,000 will have to be ex-
pended in the construction of the mill and tramway.

158. Mr. Mander.] Is it a wooden tramway ?—Yes. If iron rails were used it would be very
much greater.

159. Mr. Herries.] About this company of yours :is it a bond fide company to work the
timber?—Yes.

160. Is it registered yet?—Yes.
161. Begistered in Wellington?—Yes.
162. Are the directors appointed ?—Yes.
163. Who are they ?—John Orr, of Johnsonville ; William Moore, of Johnsonville ; Isabella

Moore, of Johnsonville ;' Te Heuheu Tukino, Native chief, representing the Natives ; and myself.
164. Those are only the provisional directors?—Yes.
165. Is the prospectus issued yet to the world in general?—No, not yet.
166. When do you propose to issue the prospectus?—When I am sure of the title and am safe

with regard to what I may ask people to take shares in.
167. You are waiting until this legislation happens ?—Yes.
168. And you are waiting until you get the 640 acres from the Council ?—Yes.
169. You are not getting the timber land in order to sell it to any one else ?—No.
170. It is a bond fide company which is to be floated?—Yes.
171. With what capital ?—£30,000.
172. One-pound shares ?—Yes. .
173. Of which one-third may be taken up by the Natives ?—Yes; one-third of the shares

have been applied for by the Natives.
174. It is not compulsory on the part of the Natives to take up shares ?—No; but they have

applied for the whole number. We wished to exclude them, because it wouldbe more favourable to
us from the European point of view, but their representative insisted upon them being included to
make it what he called a Maori company.

175. And supposing the legislation does not pass, and you get your title to this 640 acres, are
you sanguine about floating the company ? —Yes.

176. Have you received offers to take up sufficient shares to make it all right?— Yes; my
family and Mr. Orr can take up sufficient shares to float the company.

177. And everything is awaiting the decision of the Legislature?—Yes.
178. You have read this clause 31 ?—Yes.
179. Have you any objection to taking your deeds before the Native Land Council for the

whole block—not the 640 acres, but the 6,000 acres?—No; that is what I would like to do. I
would like to take the whole block before the Council if the Council would ratify the transaction.

180. But the clause says they can ratify or modify ?—Yes. " Modify " may mean anything.
181. You consider that it is an unfair thing to ask you to do that?—Yes.
182. Are the Natives willing to put the whole block into the hands of the Council?—Yes.
183. They have no objection?—They would prefer otherwise, but they are willing to do it.
184. They prefer to deal with you direct rather than through the intermediary of the Council ?

—Yes, because they think their royalties will not come out so well through the Council.
185. But, still, if clause 31 were passed there would be no difficulty on the part of the Natives

to put their land through the Council ?—The difficulty would be this : the Council could not grant
us more than 640 acres.

186. Do you anticipate that?—Yes.
187. On good grounds?—I am legally advised that the Council is governed by the Land for

Settlements Act, and cannot grant more than 640 acres to any one.
188. You have been advised to that effect ? —Yes.
189. And it would be impossible, if that advice is correct, to give a lease for more than 640

acres ?—Yes, if the advice is good.
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190. Mr. Mander.] And you would not be justified in building a mill for that area ?—No.

We do not know who the Maori Council are.
191. What district are you in?—The Maniapoto. Why I say that is because the President

of the Council is an officer of the State—a Land Purchase officer who might be opposed to any one
getting a footing.

192. You have no confidence in the Maori Council yourself ?—-No.
193. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] And for that reason you are apprehensive ?—Yes.
194. Mr. Herries.] If any Native were dissatisfied he could sue you in the Supreme Court ?

If he refused to sign he would have his rights against you in any Court of law ?—Yes ; but not a
single one has refused.

195. Then, if you do not carry out your contract they have a right in law to sue you?—No ;
we should simply forfeit all we have spent in going as far as we have gone.

196. They could not recover damages from you for not carrying out your contract?—-No ; but
we must within two years begin operations.

197. Supposing you are in the middle of your operations and you suddenly stop, can they get
damages from you ? —There is no provision to that effect. Their own interest in the thing is so
large that it is practically a controlling interest.

198. You must make a start in your operations within two years?—Yes.
199. Supposing the Maoris refused to carry out their contract, have you any remedy against

them?—No, I do not think we should have ; but the terms we are offering the Maoris are such that
we feel perfectly safe in their hands. They receive asubstantial royalty, and hold one-third interest
in the company ; and there is another thing, I do not think it will be necessary to call up more
than 20,000 shares, and consequently they will then be half owners in the company themselves.
I know from the nature of the bush that the royalties will be very profitable, and they will also
participate in the future value of the timber. The Maoris have everything to gain and nothing to
lose by this contract.

200. If any one loses it will be the white man ?—Yes.
201. What arrangements have you made about felling and cutting the timber?—We have not

made any special arrangements, but we erect the mill and start proceedings.
202. Do the company fell the timber, or the Maoris ? —ln the first clause of the agreement

the Maoris make the company agents in the matter, which, of course, this new Bill proposes to
prohibit.

203. Then, the Maoris make you the contractors for felling it, and you employ the Maoris
again ?—Yes.

204. What price do you propose to give them—day wages or contract ?—We propose to pay
day wages.

205. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] That is not the subject of agreement yet ?—No.
206. Mr. Mander.] You are at liberty to deal with whom you like to fell and deliver the

timber to the mill?—No ; we are compelled to give preference to the Native owners in employ-
ment.

207. Whose idea was this partnership ?—The idea of the Natives.
208. They came voluntarily forward and asked for it ?—-Yes ; they insisted upon being

allowed to acquire this interest in the company.
209. How did you come into it? Did the Maoris approach you, or were you looking for

timber in the district?—My mother is a half-caste, and cousins of ours knew that Te Heuheu was
desirous of forming a company on these lines, and brought the matter before me and introduced
me to him. That was the point from which we started.

210. What I want to get at is whether the Maoris approached the white man?—Yes,
211. Then, it is not the white man who wants to get anything from the Maori ?—No ; it is the

Maori who wanted to get a company formed to share this thing with him. That is the true
position.

212. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] You said, in answer to Mr. Herries—or, I drew it as an inference—
that you did not start operations because you were waiting the decision of the Legislature ?—Yes.

213. What decision of the Legislature ?—To see whether that clause 31 will render it impos-
sible for us to cut the timber.

214. Had that clause not been suggested at all this session would your operations be now
going on ?—I think so. We should have been further advanced in the floating of our company.
Our next step would be to acquire our tramway rights.

215. I understand you to say that your real objection to the clause is the possibility that the
Council would have power under that clause to modify or alter any agreement that came before
it?—Yes.

216. Otherwise you would be willing to submit your agreements to the Council for confirma-
tion?—Yes.

217. At the same time, I think you said the terms are so good that you do not fear anything
at all from the Natives ? —That is so.

218. But you do fear some modification in the terms from the Council?—No ; in the area,
not in the terms.

219. You would be perfectly confident, supposing that clause passed—seeing that you would
have to submit your contract, if of legal effect, to the Council—to submit it for confirmation ?—
Yes.

220. You would have no fear whatever that the Council would modify the terms ?—-That is so.
221. Your fear is in regard to the limitation of the area?—Yes.
222. And you have been advised that the Council could not possibly grant you a lease of a

larger area than 640 acres ?—Yes.
223. Were that restriction removed you would be perfectly satisfied?—Yes, that is so.



36I.—3a. F. T. MOORE

224. You said that if the Natives chose to revoke their contract or stopped you carrying it out
you would have no remedy against them ?—No.

225. If they went on the land and prevented you removing the timber, could you compel them
to carry out the agreement ?—No.

226. You would prefer this contract to be taken on its merits, but you want that legalised and
validated ?—Yes.

227. If there was a clause to that effect you would be satisfied, but failing any such clause
as will give you an extension of your area you would prefer that there should be no legislation on
the subject ?—Yes.

228. Mr. Herries.] You told me you would have no remedy if the Natives did not carry
out their contract ?—Yes.

229. Why have you no remedy ? Is it not because you have no contract with the land ?—Yes ;
in law, I understand, I should have no remedy.

230. Because the Maoris are worth nothing?—Yes. The cutting-rights are in law useless;
only a lease of the land is useful.

231. The only reason why you have no remedy is because you cannot recover anything? You
could sue them, and probably get damages awarded, but there would be nothing to get because
their land is their only asset ?—Yes, that is so.

232. You are quite satisfied that you have got a legal and valid contract with regard to the
timber?—Yes.

233. And you have been advised that the Maoris have a perfect right to sell their timber?—
Yes.

234. You would not have entered into the contract unless you were sure of that ?—No ; legal
advice has declared the contract to be perfectly valid, but the proposed legislation would render it
invalid.

235. You are opposed to any legislation that would render your valid contract invalid?—Yes.
236. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] Supposing the Natives refused to carry out their part of the contract,

have you been advised as to what steps you could take against them ? Could you take action for
breach of contract?—Of course.

237. Have you been advised that you could successfully take action ?—The question has never
arisen.

238. We want to know what your advice has been on that particular point, supposing the
Natives failed to carry out their contract?—I believe that is a question of law, and if we went to
law we should not know what would be the result. lean rely on the liberal and justway in which
they are treated to prevent any breach of contract. They are getting from this company terms
which have never hitherto been given.

239. Mr. Hone Heke.] The company is appointed attorneys for the Natives?—Yes.
240. In that capacity do they take from the royalties any of the moneys for the felling and

cutting ?—No.
241. The royalties you have already recited are clear moneys to be paid the Natives without

any deduction for cutting and felling ?—That is so.
242. Or for the laying-down of the tram-line ?—No money is to be deducted from the Natives

for anything excepting the 20 per cent, to pay for their shares.
243. If the company fails in their work within two years they are not called upon by your

agreement to pay for the destruction of any of the timber that the company may have cut
during that time? —Supposing the company fails to carry out their undertaking within two years,
then everything is void. The royalties are payable monthly, so that not more than a month's
royalties will ever be owing to the Natives.

244. Are you joined together with the syndicate, in regard to this timber, called the
Donahoo Syndicate?—No, we are not joined; we are a separate company.

245. It is not appertaining to the same block?—We have a part of the Puketapu Block, and
they have another part.

246. Have the two points been defined by survey? — I understand the Donahoo part is
defined by actual survey, but ours is defined by natural boundaries.

247. You said that you will construct your tramway in conjunction with Mr. Ellis's com-
pany ?—lt is proposed to do so.

248. Have you entered already into an agreement on the subject?—No; it has been dis-
cussed only.

249. The Chairman.] Do you consider that land first-class land, as defined by the Govern-
ment—that is, the land itself, apart from the timber?—No; I should consider it very second
class. I should consider it poor land—pumice.

250. What value would you put on the land, apart from the timber?—A very few shillings
per acre.

251. Two shillings?—Yes, probably. It is questionable whether it will carry grass.
252. Have you considered the value of the timber per acre you will cut from the land? Can

you give us any idea?—-On 4,000 acres it would be about £50 per acre. I may be over the mark
with regard to the number of acres—say, 3,000.

253. You think it would amount to £50 an acre?— Yes; the best bush in the Puketapu Block
would yield £50 an acre.

254. Do you consider, then, that the proposed legislation—especially with regard to clause 31
—would be inimical to your interest?—I do.

255. And if this clause became law you would not be prepared to carry out your contract with
the Natives?—No, I dare not. I would be liable to a penalty of £50 if I felled a tree on any of the
land other than the 640 acres, and such an area is too small to work.
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256. Do you think it is in the best interests that you should be allowed to carry out this agree-

ment ?—Yes, I do.
257. If the Council is satisfied with your agreement they will ratify it, will they not ?—Yes.
258. Mr. Jennings.] Is that block you are interested in part of the Waimarino Block?—No ;

it is part of the Puketapu Block.
259. Mr. Field.] It is just north of the Waimarino Block ? —Yes.

Thursday, sth November, 1903.
A. W. Hogg, M.H.8., examined. (No. 10.)

1. The Chairman.] You received a letter from this Committeeasking you to attend to-day to
give evidence in reference to a letter read by the Premier in the House and purporting to come
from you?—Yes. I received the letter from a resident of the district, and believing the matter to
be of importance I submitted it—accompanied by a short note of my own—to the Premier. I may
say that I have received previous letters from the writer, whom I personally know as aman of good,
reputation, who has taken for years past an interest in public affairs, and who, I believe, is very
much respected in the locality. I would have no hesitation in giving you his name, except for the
fact that he has not given me any authority to do so, and I have some reluctance in giving the name
of a private correspondent. I may say this, however, that from what I know of the writer I have
every confidence in his statements being absolutely correct.

2. Mr. Herries.] Have you got the letter?—No; I handed it to the Premier, and so far as I
know it is now in his possession. It was correctly read to the House.

3. The Chairman.] There were some members of the Committee who were not present in the
House when the letter was read. Perhaps you could give the Committee the purport of the
letter ?—I think the letter was published in the Wellington papers at the time, and I presume
it appears in Hansard; but I can give you the purport of it if you wish. The writer stated
that there had been some parties representing a Palmerston syndicate at Baetihi buying the
rights over the Native bush in a block of land there from the Native owners, and that these
operations had been going on for a considerable time. The writer thought it was not in the
interests of the district that all that fine timber should find its way into the hands of one
syndicate. That is about the purport of the letter.

4. Mr. Willis.] Were there any signatures to the letters when they were put in the papers?
—Of course there is a signature attached to this letter. There is no signature which has trans-
pired, but the Premier has the letter and the signature.

5. The Chairman.] We cannot take any notice of an anonymous letter ?—I might say that
the writer has written in absolutely good faith.

6. The position is this : that it has been entirely owing to the letter having been read by the
Premier in the House that the Committeehas been occupied the last fortnight in taking evidence in
connection with dealings with Natives withregard to their timber, and the Committee wishes to
get all the evidence possible on the subject in order to see if any injury has been done to the
Natives. As I understand from the statement you made to-day, and from the letter sent, it was a
warning to the Government to prevent the Natives from being deprived of their interests in this
timber for a very small remuneration. The Committee has been taking evidence from those
Europeans who have been engaged in this timber business, in order to see what terms they have
been making with the Natives ; and the Committee is anxious to know if there is any evidence to
show that any unfair advantage has been taken of the Natives by these Europeans in their dealings
with the Natives. That is the object we have had in view during the last fortnight, and we wish
to get full information with regard to the letter which was read. That is the position the Com-
mittee isplaced in now?— Yes. Well, it takes a little while to get a reply from Baetihi, and I am
not in a position to say whether the writer will authorise me to give his name or not. All I can
say is that I know the writer, and that his word may be relied upon.

7. Did the writer mention any prices that were being paid to the Natives for the timber?—No.
8. There is just a bare statement ?—Just the letter which was mentioned by the Premier in

the House.
9. Mr. Herries.] Did the writer say that the Natives were being robbed?—l think he said that

they were being exploited. I think he complains that the timber was being secured by a syndicate
instead of by a number of sawmillers.

10. Mr. Remington.] Possibly there has been a misunderstanding with regard to the meaning
of the words " exploited to the disadvantage of the Natives " ?—I cannot say whether he meant
that or not.

11. Could he tender evidence on this matter?—I will wire to him at once to see whether he
will come down.

12. Mr. Willis.] Is this individual interested in any way in the timber business ?—He is a
resident of the district, and has timber property.

13. Mr. Hone Heke.] Is he a Crown tenant?—I think he is.
14. Mr. Moss.] Does he want the timber himself?—l cannot say that.
15. Mr. Hone Heke.] When you say he is a resident there and has timber country, and say

you think he is a tenant of the Crown, do you think he has got his timber by that means—by
selection ?—I know he has land containing timber.

16. Was the land Crown land?—I cannot say whether he is a leaseholder or freeholder,
17. But was the land Crown land?—Yes, at one time.
18. He acquired his land from the Crown ? —Yes.
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19. The Chairman.] You say he is working this timber :is it on his own land ?—1 do not
know whether he is working it, but he has land containing timber which he acquired from the
Crown.

20. Mr. Remington.] I would like to have the matter made quite clear : in giving the Premier
that information, you did not give it because you thought that the Natives would be exploited
—that an unfair advantage was being taken of them?—No ; I gave it to the Premier in order that
he might make inquiries if he liked.

21. Mr. Willis.] Were there any other circumstances which might have led to your bringing
it before the Premier—circumstances which led you to suppose that- the Natives were being dealt
with in an unfair manner?—No.

22. All you had to do was to give him this letter ?—-Yes.
23. Mr. A. L. D. Fraser.] The letter made no reference to the Natives leasing the land? It

was only one man acquiring it to the detriment of some of the local settlers?—Yes.
24. Mr. Herries.] Is the writer of the letter a white man ?—Yes.
25. I mean he is not a Maori or a half-caste ?—No; he is an Englishman, I think.
26. He is not a sawmill-owner?—l cannot say whether he is interested in a mill or not.
27. Has he a mill at this place ?—He is a very intelligent man, and is very well known. He

takes a good deal of interest in local affairs and in county matters, and that is how I came to know
him. lam sorry that I cannot give you his name, because I have not got his consent.

A. L. D. Feasee, M.H.8., made a statement. (No. 11.)
Mr, A. L. D. Fraser: A company known as the Taupo Timber Company (Limited) leased

from the Natives a total of 6,245 acres, divided into what is known as the Tihoi bushes, 4,170
acres, term of lease thirty-three years ; and Pouakani, 2,075 acres, for twenty-one years. The
leases are strictly in terms of the Order in Council duly gazetted and dated the 14th November,
1900. The company under the leases pays £2 per acre for the totara and matai only, for every acre
of good timber bush, in five equal annual payments. The prospectus of the company states that
" the rent is nominal merely." The estimate of cost of putting the business into sound working-
order will be as follows :— £

Estimated cost of tramway through bush to Putaruru, including for-
mation, bridges, and light steel rails, assuming the distance to be
forty miles, at £1,500 per mile ... ... ... ... 60,000

Boiling-stock ... ... ... ... ... ... 7,500
One log-hauling engine, with steam-engine, &a. ... ... ... 1,200
Two band sawmills, with all accessories, capable of cutting 150,000ft.

per week, and cost of erecting same ... ... ... 10,000
One small sawmill at bush ... ... ... ... ... 2,000
Sheds, buildings, &c. ... ... ... . ... ... ... 500
First working-expenses ... ... ... ... ... 5,000
Bush tramways, four miles, at £150 ... ... ... ... 600
Grice's freehold ... ... ... ... ... ... 12,500
Boy allies on account ... ... ... ... ... ... 1,000

Total ... ... ... ... ... ... £100,300
Very careful estimates compiled by competent men show that there should be a profit on an

output of 12,000,000ft. per annum, sawn timber, of from £40,000 to £50,000, and that is making a
provision for a'substantial reserve fund. Mr. James McKerrow, for over twenty years Surveyor-
General, Secretary of Crown Lands, Chief Commissioner of Bailways, and Chairman of the Land
Purchase Board, made a careful inspection of the Native Bush by taking a square acre and lining
it off with prismatic compass, measuring it by tape, and all necessary examination, to come to
almost a definite conclusion, and he concludes by saying, " as a precaution against exaggeration,
if one-third is deducted from the mean of the 3 acres specially examined, an estimate of 40,000 ft.
of totara, and 8,000 ft. of matai per acre may be accepted for the 5,410 acres in this forest." This
refers to a portion of the leasehold only, or a total of 216,000,000 ft. of totara and 43,000,000 ft.
of matai. The total amount to be received by the Natives for the purchase of the timber will
be £12,490.

This statement is not made in any way as questioning the bona fides of the company's
negotiations with the Natives, but simply as an illustration of what the Government considers
to be fair and equitable terms as between European and Native in the acquisition of timber
rights.

Friday, 6th November, 1903.
Dr. Findlay, Soli3itor, of Wellington, examined. (No. 12.)

The Chairman : The Committeeare aware that you are able to give some evidence in reference
to what is called the Taupo Timber Company. A statement has been madebefore the Committee in
reference to the position occupied by that company, and the Committee would be pleased if you
could give in as short a form as possible what youknow as to the position of the company in regard
to the acquisition of timber rights on Native land.

Dr. Findlay : Yes. I have been connected with the company as a solicitor for some two or
three years now, but I am afraid I cannot give you so much information as Mr. Atkinson, who is
present with me, and who isreally the originator of the company. He is familiar with every step
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in the company's progress since its origination to the present day. My submission therefore
would be that you permit Mr. Atkinson to state shortly to you its history. He has the figures
and necessary knowledge, and therefore can speak at first hand, while I should not be able to do
so. I could, perhaps, shorten the proceedings if I were given permission to appearhere as solicitor
for the company just to lead Mr. Atkinson on the lines you may wish to hear him.

The Chairman: You cannot do that, Dr. Findlay, because a solicitor can only appear before
the Committee by request or as a witness. If Mr. Atkinson knows the history of the company
from its inception he will no_ doubt be able to answer the questions members of the Committee
may wish to put to him.

Dr. Findlay : I may, perhaps, be permitted to ask questions when Mr. Atkinson has con-
cluded his statement to the Committee.

Tudoe Atkinson examined. (No. 13.)
1. The Chairman.] The reason the Committee require information from you in reference to

the Taupo Timber Company is this : that they have been inquiring into the agreements that have
been made between the Europeans and the Natives with regard to timber rights, and they wish to
get all the information possible from those who have made such agreements with the Natives in
connection with timber rights. If you can give us shortly the nature of the rights that you have
over Native lands it will be quite sufficient. We do not want to go into the details ?—This matter
was begun by me in 1898. I took the initial steps, and my reason for going to Taupo in the first
instance was because I received a request from certain Native owners of the bush there. They
told me that they had timber lands near Taupo which they would be glad to sell at £1 an acre, and
I visited the lands and subsequently had various meetings with the Natives—of whom there were
a great number, several hundreds—at different places. These Natives were scattered over many
parts of the North Island, which, of course, involved a great deal of time and travelling-expenses,
and so on ; and I finally agreed through interpreters to give them £2 an acre for the bush upon
certain terms which were embodied in an agreement which was prepared by Mr. Maurice Bich-
mond, submitted to Mr. H. D. Bell, and afterwards to the Natives in turn. Various amendments
were suggested by the Natives themselves, and finally the form of the agreement was settled. It
was in 1899 when the terms of this agreement were settled. Those agreements—because there
was more than one—at that time gave me the right to some portion of the area of timber presumed
to contain about 5,000 acres. This bush is known as Tuaropaki, and lies within two distinct blocks
known as Tihoi and Pouakani, and is situated north of Taupo and between Taupo Lake and the
Waikato Biver. I and a few of my friends here, who relied upon my statements, spent some thou-
sands of pounds in the preliminary steps taken ; but it soon became clearly evident that we could
do nothing at all under the somewhat primitive agreements we had unless we could get some more
substantial title. The country was entirely unknown, and lies some forty miles from the railway
in a direct line. The country was totally unexplored, and as soon as one came to investigate it
was found that without a large amount of capital the whole project would fall through. It was at
this point that I approached Dr. Findlay and represented the facts to him, and asked him to take
the matter in hand with a view to seeing whether we could get a more secure title. I prepared a
memorandum of the facts—l think Dr. Findlay has a copy of it which I could read—which memo-
randum was placed before the Government. I may say at once that the Natives from the very
beginning were in favour of the steps being taken, and were extremely anxious that the matter
should be pushed on. They were in full accord as a body—but, of course, you get a few dissen-
tients in everything—with what was being done, and their only complaint was that it was not done
quick enough.. I can produce a copy of the statement which was lodged with the Government,
and which, as I understand, moved the Government after ample consideration to give effect to the
prayers of the Natives. It contains all that could then be said of the bushes, and the conditions
under which they could be taken up ; and, moreover, if I had to write it to-day I should have to
alter it very little. It is on record in the Government offices, and could be put in before the Com-
mittee, as there is nothing to be concealed about it.

2. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] That is the application for the Order in Council ?—lt is the state-
ment supporting the application. The application was put in, I think, near the beginning of the
year 1900, and the Order in Council was granted in November of the same year. Dr. Findlay
saw the Minister a good many times during the interval, and he instructed me from time to time as
to progress. I was anxious to get on, and he said Ministers were considering the matter, and
having it reported on, and so on. Then the Order in Council was finally given which is before the
Committee, and I need not go into the terms of it. The whole point of our undertaking lies in this:that our difficulty has been, and still is, in finance. When we began we did not realise to the full
extent what an enormous number of difficulties lay ahead of us, and from that beginning, as I have
said, there has been a continual struggle with our finances. We have had to make sacrifices and
give inducements for money which have put our interests wholly in the background as the
original promoters ; we can only expect to make anything out of it by very careful management.
Numbers of first-class business-men have declined to enter into the matter on account of its un-
certainties and difficulties, and had it not been for the way in which it had been tackled, and for
the pluck of the men who were behind it, we could never have got so far a» we have. Ourrailway
will cost us alone over £100,000 ; in fact, when we have completed our scheme as a whole it will
have cost us £150,000 at least. The railway, which in our circular was put down at forty miles in
length, has turned out to be fifty-one miles, owing to the roughness of the country and the
necessity for careful grading.

3. Mr. Hemes.] What other agreements have you with the Natives? We have only heard
that you paid them £2 an acre ?—The conditions under which we hold the leases are set out in the
Order in Council. The Government were very definite about these conditions. One of the con-
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ditions was that we were to cut a certain minimum quantity of timber—1,000,000 ft. per annum—
but the first year was to extend to eighteen months from the time we had secured our tramway
route. At least 1,000,000 superficial feet per annum has to be sawn and marketed, and for this
purpose fifty-one miles of tramway had to be acquired and the tramway built.

4. Do you give the Natives £2 an acre for the timber?—Yes.
5. There is no royalty over the timber?—No. It is £2 an acre for the actual bush-area.

We had, at our own cost, to measure the area. It was assumed to be then about 5,000 acres,
but, of course, we could never tell how much of that we should be able to obtain. We could not
claim that we held even one-half of it under our original agreements, when the Order in Council
was made. Under this Order in Council the Government reserved the right to take timber or raw
produce over our tramway from Crown lands.

6. Do you employ the Natives ?—Yes ; that is a condition, so long as they work properly. We
employ a number now.

7. Do you pay them day wages?—Yes ; they are under Mr. Luxford, who is an experienced
miller. They get the same pay as the white people. They are paid and work under the Auckland
Sawmillers' award.

Dr. Findlay, Barrister and Solicitor, made a statement. (No. 14.)
Dr. Findlay : I would like to point out how the Taupo timber matter stood when I first

became connected with it. Mr. Maurice Bichmond had prepared an agreement of much the same
character as those agreements you have been dealing with. Mr. Bell perused it, and advised
that, in his opinion, the agreement was a valid one. The difficulty was this : that it created no
title mfuturo—it gave no title in the future. The timber might be cut, and when it was cut it
became a chattel and might then be removed. Mr. Atkinson had obtained an agreement over a
large part of these 5,000 acres, and what confronted me was whether the title was sufficiently
good—despite Mr. Bell's opinion as to the validity of the agreement—to spend £70,000 on the
project. That was the estimated cost involved. It struck me that to spend £70,000 upon the
title which Mr. Atkinson had was madness, and I considered that he would not get the amount he
required unless he got something more substantial in the way of security. The statement handed
in by Mr. Atkinson was drawn up, and I was asked whether the Native Land Department would
facilitate the removal of the restrictions from this land, not for the purpose of giving us any
privilege, but for the purpose of opening these forests to the markets of the colony. The Order
in Council was ultimately made in terms which gave us no privilege. Any one else could have
come in and applied for these rights if he chose to offer better terms and could have got them.
That is an important consideration when you are judging as to the fairness of this bargain. For
two months that Order in Council stood as an advertisement to the people of the colony that
they might make a bargain with the owners of this forest and secure it if they gave more than we
offered. We can prove that Mr. Bartholomew, who is an expert sawmiller, and a gentleman for
whom I acted once as a solicitor, and many others, went up to see that land. I asked Mr. Bar-
tholomew his opinion as to whether this venture was worth going into for £2 an acre, and he
confidently told me that it was not, for the reason that it was impossible to get the timber out
save by a tramway of over forty miles in length. That was one of the reasons why he would not
enter the enterprise, and others went to see the forest and turned their backs upon it, because, in
their opinion, to give £2 an acre for it was highly reckless and imprudent. Nothing further was
done until the two months referred to had expired. Mr. Atkinson had the agreement, and
undertook the work of getting the signatures. I saw Mr. Sheridan, who said that we would
have to get at least a hundred and fifty signatures, and most probably the number
was nearer two hundred. His own impression was that the title could never be
secured from the whole of the Natives, and that many of the interests were undivided. That
will give you an idea of the difficulties which confronted us in this enterprise. I saw Mr. Seddon
twice—that is, about three years ago. At that time I had not the advantage or disadvantage—
whichever way you choose to put it—of knowing Mr. Seddon as well as Ido to-day. I knew the
late Sir John McKenzie, because in Otago I had acted as his solicitor. Mr. Seddon took up this
position : he said, " I will not allow any exploitation of these Native forests if the people con-
cerned are to succeed by means of our public works." Now, agreements had been secured by Mr.
Atkinson at Taumarunui and the places along the main trunk line, and Mr. Seddon said, "If
that timber lies alongside the main trunk line you can take your answer now— No."

Hon. Mr. Carroll: You had applied to the Government before that ?
Dr. Findlay : Yes ; Mr. Bartholomew, I think, was my client then. Mr. Seddon said, "I

will find out how far this main trunk line can tap this forest." Three months elapsed—which, I
believe, is the usual time for official replies—and then I was told that the matter was being con-
sidered by the Auckland Land Commissioner. Some inquiries were made there, and I believe
he recommended that as these forests could not be tapped by the main trunk line it was prudent
that they should be leased. At any rate, the Government took nine months to consider the
matter, and then they thought fit to release the restrictions, so that those wanting timber all
over the colony could compete with us in getting this area. As I have said, several people looked
at it and nothing was done. The next interview I had with Mr. Seddon was to consider the
question of the Crown's right to run over our tramway, and it was made a condition that the Crown
produce—timber and flax, and so on—coming from Crown Lands should have the right to pass
over our tramway at a price to be agreed upon by assessors. We are now practically in the
hands of the Government. I think you will find, if you look at our leases, that the Minister
has power to determine our leases if we do not comply with the conditions. These conditions are
that we must employ Natives where possible; that we must bring out 1,000.000ft. of timber
within eighteen months, and yearly thereafter ; and that we must give the concession I have re-
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ferred to to the Crown to take out timber and raw material over our tramway orrailway ; and
unless we comply with these conditions our leases are to be forfeited. At that time the whole ofthe area the syndicate had in view was 5,000 acres, and no more. Upon subsequent survey
it was found that there was a little over 6,000 "acres; but if you will compute the esti-
mated timber on that area, and the capital which will have to be expended to take it out,
you will find that we have agreed to pay a very good royalty indeed, because the timber
could not be got out unless we made this tramway or railway, which may be worth nothing to
us at the end of the term; and we must therefore treat the whole cost of the line
as part of the sum we are paying for the bushes. The next point I wish to emphasize is this :the fairest possible test is that Mr. Grice owned a freehold of 43,000 acres, and had held it for over
twelve years. Some time after we had secured these Native rights we approached Mr. Grice to
see what he would take for his freehold. The reports state that the estimated timber consists
roughly of200,000,000 ft. on each area—both Mr. Grice's and the Native land. Mr. Grice had inde-
pendent valuations made of the timber and of the land. Messrs. Bell and Co. acted for him.
Some three months or more expired during the negotiations, and finally we paid £13,000 for the
43,000 acres belonging to Mr. Grice—the freehold of the whole 43,000 acres, including the bush, for
£13,000. Mr. Grice was confronted by the same difficulty of getting anything off the land as had
confronted us. On this land there is a large amount of flax, and we are advised that we can use
two mills. If you compare the terms you will find that we pay the Natives very little less for
the mere timber than what we are paying Mr. Grice for the timberplus the freehold. This keen
business-man sold his 43,000 acres of land because there was no chance of his doing anything
with it unless he got arailway. Our estimates, however, were falsified. We took the experience
of people in the colony and America as to using a wooden tramway, and we got a report condemn-
ing the use of a wooden tramway, and were told that it would cost us more than steel rails.
When I was in London this prospectus was sent to me, and I confess it puts somewhat too rosy a
complexion on the scheme. I saw some people on the Stock Exchange—Mr. Begg and others—
and they said, " You want a construction bond. There is no proof that that will be obtained."
They asked me what the total output was, and other questions. Mr. Begg slept upon it for a
week, and then rejected it, and I found that others would not touch it. Then we had to face
this position : " Are we going to give up the whole thing or find an additional £70,000 to make
this railway ? " And that is where we are to-day. The best experts we have consulted tell us
that if we put in a wooden tramway we shall not make the venture a success ; but that if we
put a railway in it will pay us to do it although the railway has to be given up at the end of the
term.

Mr. Moss : Have you no claim over the railway at the end of the term ?
Dr. Findlay: None at all on that portion between Litchfield and Putaruru, but it remains

ours from Litchfield to the bushes; but we are asking the Government to allow us to lay down
the rails from Putaruru to Litchfield. In the meantime McLean Bros., of Auckland, who are con-
structing the tramway, are in difficulties as to transport. I am quite prepared to give the Com-
mittee a complete list of our shareholders. A number of people in Wellington have spent
thousands of pounds practically of their savings in trying to help this thing through, because
they felt that the amount they had still in it would go unless they faced the additional capital
required. The original shareholders had about 75,000 shares. They had no more money. They
issued 75,000 preference shares, and then it was found that more money was wanted, and deben-
tures were issued for £60,000 having a first charge over everything. That is our present position,
and we still want £30,000 to go on with. The difficulty is that we have to buy steel rails for our
tramway, and the difference amounts to £40,000. I thought of appealing to the Government, but
we have no encouragement from it that we are likely to get any help, and it will probably amount
to this: that those who are in it still will have to find the necessary amount. Mr. James Fulton,
the engineer, and McLean Bros, have undertaken to construct a railway which will enable the
rolling-stock of the Crown to go over our line. We have intimated to the Government that we
shall keep the line in such a condition that they can run their trucks and passengers over it. That
is the position just now. If we can pull through and get our £30,000 we think we can do very well
—perhaps exceedingly well—but if not, then the prospect before us is not a very hopeful one.
Now, every matter of this kind which touches politics seems to have a sinister side to it, and I
want to say that no person in any way connected with politics has or ever has had the faintest
interest in this concern. When I was first approached I think the syndicate consisted of seven
or eight people, and they were all on the Opposition side in politics. Mr. T. W. Hislop was one
of the original investors in this project, and put in some £700 or £800, on which he got no interest.
When the Order in Council was obtained and the leases secured he took his chance and accepted
£1,300 and went out gladly. It may be taken as perfectly clear from this what his opinion was at
the time the leases were secured. It may have been said that we had a really good thing, but that
is a fair indication of the position. The Government have been particularly vigilant in connection
with this matter. On one of the first applications I made I was called upon to supply a list
showing the names of all those who had anything to do with the concern, and that is now in the
hands of the Government. If the Committee will peruse that list it will find that so far as there
may be any political aspect of the matter, I believe I am the only one interested who belongs to
the political party at present in power. That is, I think, all I can tell you.

Tudor Atkinson further examined. (No. 15.)
8. The Chairman.] You were giving your evidence before this Committee, and were interrupted

this morning: have you anything further to say in connection with this matter?—I do not quite
know what the Committee most desires ; the whole subject is a very intricate one. Ihave brought
with me a copy of the Order in Council, a copy of the original agreement, and a copy of the lease
now taken in terms of the Order in Council. I shall be glad to answer any questions.

6—l. 3a.
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9. Mr. Hone Heke.] Does the lease include the provision that Mr. Fraser spoke about this
morning, that the Minister has a right to terminate the lease?— Yes.

10. Mr. Herries.] How does the Minister come in ?—He is made a party to the lease by Order
in Council, under a special deed of covenant required to be entered into by anybody taking up
the land.

11. Mr. Hone Heke.] Is that embodied in the lease?—lt is embodied in the lease, and also, I
think, in the deed of covenant entered into between the company and the King. [Document pro-
duced.]

12. Mr. A. L. D. Fraser.] You estimate, Mr. Atkinson, that the outlay of the syndicate will
be practically £150,000 ?—Yes, at least.

13. The larger amount being required for laying down the railway ?—Yes.
14. The timber being in the bush, you were led to believe by the opinions ofexpertsthat it will

pay you to have an iron railway better than a wooden tramway ?—Yes, if we get the capital—
that is the point.

15. I hope you do not think that any of these questions are being put to you with a view to
questioning the bona fides of the company ?—Certainly not. I will answer all questions without
bias and straightforwardly.

16. That is the position : it will ultimately pay you to have a railway of your own ?—Yes.
17. And that is your anticipation ?—Yes.
18. By the Order in Council were you not empowered to lease the land?—Not in the ordinary

sense. We have no grazing rights or any rights of property over it, except the right to construct a
tramway and use it for timber purposes strictly. All other rights belong to the Natives, and there
is a clause requiring us to give back absolutely the land from time to time not required for timber
purposes.

19. In the Order in Council it states that you may execute any grant to the said land : does
that only refer to the power given to you to erect a tramway or buildings on that land ?—Yes.

20. It does not give you power to occupy the land?—No; we have taken no such power,
except, of course, for timber purposes only.

21. Can you say what is the actual bush-area of the leasehold?—When the negotiations
first began the actual area had never been surveyed, and it was presumed to be about 5,000 acres.
It was then assumed to contain about 150,000,000 ft. of totara and matai. We bore the cost, and
actually surveyed the bush-area for the purpose of making payments to the Natives at the rates
specified; and upon the plan annexed to our circular to members, dated the 24th March, 1902,
you will find the areas accurately set out. They are the true areas ascertained by actual
survey—6,24s acres in the various forests—that is, on the Native lease.

22. That is the bush-area ?■—Yes.
23. The Order in Council empowered the leasing of over 20,000 acres, did it not?—Yes.

These bushes are islands in an open waste, and at that time it was not known with any degree
of certainty where the bushes being unsurveyed lay. The larger area was included for the
purpose of giving ample scope for tramways. It is rough country, and you might get through
with the tramway in one place, while in other places it would be impossible. The larger area was
thrown in to allow for exploration and selection of best tramway routes.

24. Do you pay £2 per acre on 6,245 acres only ?—Yes.
25. Turn to your position before the Order in Council was issued : you advised yourself in

the matter—you had a legal opinion as well as your own that your agreement was a valid and
legal one ?—The weight of opinion was on that side, that it was a valid agreement; but I may say
that the line of demarcation between a legal and illegal agreement in the purchase of timber-areas
runs into a very fine one. But, with regard to this preliminary agreement, that is where out diffi-
culties began, and they must by no means be underrated at any time. The two properties, Tihoi
and Pouakani Blocks, upon which the bush-area stood, were then owned by three hundred Natives
in each block—between two and three hundred—and we only had about fifty signatures to our
original agreements before the Order in Council was granted. But then it was presumed that those
fifty—it may have been sixty or more—were men with full interests. So that it was a very pre-
carious holding. It was impossible under that holding to lay out any money on a large scale.

26. If you had had the whole of the signatures would you have felt your position fairly secure?
—I should never have got the money for the tramway, because there was no term of years men-
tioned. Of course, I have learned a great deal more in the five years of struggle I have had than I
knew before, and at the time, all this information that one now gets so readily was wanting. We
had to discover all that, and it has taken a great outlay of money and time.

27. If you were entering upon similar ground now you would not tread on such thin ice as to
the validity of the agreement ?—lt is always a difficult matter.

28. You still think there is some doubt about it ?—I am advised that there is a little doubt
about it.

29. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] There is a difference between your original share titleand the leases
since obtained under the Order in Council ?—An infinite difference; and the test of these things lies
in the finding of the money.

30. Mr. A. L. D. Fraser.] I understand that under the agreement you were to pay the Natives
£2 an acre ?—Yes, in five annual instalments.

31. The conditions contained in the Order in Council were the conditions that you had sub-
mitted to the Cabinet, and you were agreeable to them ?—Some of them were, and some emanated
horn the Government.

32. The majority were your own?—The majority had been taken from the preliminary agree-
ment which had been elaborately threshed out and amended by the Natives so as to get a com-
pletely harmonious base of understanding.
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33. When the Order in Council was issued it was open to any one to enter into negotiations

for that land ?—Yes.
34. But subject to the conditions that you had laid down to a very great extent?—Got from

the Natives ? Yes, many of those terms were suggested by us, because they were the terms on
which the Natives had agreed it was reasonable to dispose of their timber.

35. The point I wish to make is this : that any one outside yourself negotiating for that land
would be bound by the conditions or terms that you had placed in the Order in Council ?—They
would be bound by the terms of the Order in Council, of course.

36. After the issue of the Order in Council your position, as compared with the position pre-
vious to the issue of the Order in Council, was this: that you might say you had a gilt-edged
security ?—Yes; the position was very much better. Of course, there were rehearings in connec-
tion with the blocks to be disposed of, and the interests of owners had to be ascertained and sub-
divided ; then the whole of the Native signatures—that is, of the rightful owners—had to be
obtained for the corners of the blocks in which the bushes lay.

37. But your position was very much sounder?—Yes ; after we had got the leases signed by
the proper owners and confirmed by the Court.

38. And in the face of that you did not see your way to give more than £2 per acre ?—-Cer-
tainly not. The first agreement would have been impossible. I found that out when I tested it
on the money-market.

39. You paid Mr. Grice how much ?—Thirteen thousand pounds odd; 6s. 3d. per acre all
round for the 43,000 acres.

40. Have you any idea whatMr. Grice paid for it ?—No, I have not.
41. You told us this morning that you had an understanding with the Government that you

would carry on your railway when it was completed anything they might require in the way of
passengers, goods, and timber?—The terms are limited by this deed of covenant with the King.
One of the conditions the Government made was that we were to bring out produce from Crown
lands.

42. At what rate ?—At rates to be agreed upon, or failing that, at rates to be fixed by arbitra-
tion.

43. So that, as a matter of fact, you do not know what the Government would pay ?—No; it
would depend largely upon the class of line. If we continued the running of a horse-line it would
cost at least 3s. per 100 ft. to bring the timber down to the railway, which, of course, would be a
great deal more than the charge on the same length of Government line.

44. Mr. Hone Heke.] Where from"?—From the bush to Putaruru, fifty-one miles; our experts
advise us that it will cost us at least 3s. a hundred on the horse-tramway. That would be the actual
haulage.

45. Mr. A. L. D. Fraser.] And then from Litchfield to Auckland?—lt would be another 3s.
from Putaruru to Auckland.

46. But the agreement with the Government is on the assumption that you propose to lay down
arailway-line ?—lt is called a " tramway." We have had to acquire all the freeholdright out over
the whole distance, except over the Government portion, about five miles from Litchfield to
Putaruru.

47. You do not propose to carry the timber from Crown lands on a horse-tramway ?—The Go-
vernment can compel us to do so, subject to their paying a sufficient sum to be settled by
arbitration or mutual arrangement.

48. Is it, as far as you are informed by your experts, a fair estimate to say that from this
leasehold property there will be recovered about 250,000,000 ft. of timber—totara and matai?—
Yes ; or 230,000,000 ft. That document [the circular to members of the company] shows it.

49. I am quoting from Mr. McKerrow's estimate? — His estimate, I thiuk, was about
600,000,000 ft. for the two properties, but he reduced that to 400,000,000 ft. to be on the safe side—
that is, on the Native and the freehold land together.

50. I am treating of the leasehold ?—Yes; it would be about 230,000,000 ft. I think Mr.
McKerrow's estimate is a fair one.

51. Taking the selling-price at present, what would be the value of totara and matai at Auck-
land or the Thames—the shipping-port—per 100ft. ? Would it be fair to say 16s. 6d. per 100 ft.
for the totara and matai?—That would be for first quality. The price is too much all round. In
that estimate sufficient allowance is not made for seconds and thirds, I think.

52. Perhaps it is a question you are not quite capable of answering?—That is so. I may say I
am mainly responsible for those estimates, but they were given to me by a sawmiller. Sufficient
allowance was not made there for seconds and thirds, which in totara are very large.

53. It would be an exaggeration to say it was worth 16s. 6d. ? It is only fair to you and the
company to say that it is an exaggeration in the prospectus ?—I should say that price might be
applied to timber of first-class quality only.

54. But taking the seconds and thirds it is exaggerated ?—-Yes ; it is extravagant.
55. Mr. Mander.] You say that you were compelled under the agreement to run the timber

out by a horse-tram? —We were compelled to put in a tramway—the kind was not specified—
sufficient to market the output.

56. But you would not think of running fifty miles with horses ?—lt would be impossible to
do it, some people say, but I think myself we could do it profitably with horses. They say lam
over-sanguine.

57. Do you not think it could be done more profitably with engines?—Very much. But our
difficulty has been want of capital, as I have tried to emphasize, and it would have been impossible
—and I say it deliberately, because I have been four or five years at it—-to get the capital to put
the tramway down unless we had consented ultimately to put in an iron tram-line, and we certainly
could not have got it then without the aid of the freehold.
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58. Have the grades been laid down carefully ?—Yes ; 1 in 45 is the ruling grade.
59. You believe that the different title you now have, as compared with the titleyou had when

you first bought the property, is much more advantageous and adds very much more to the value
of the timber ?—Yes; it adds very much to the value of the property.

60. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] You could not have floated your company without it ?—No; even on
the leasehold alone it would have been absolutely impossible. We could have done nothing with-
out the freehold ; the freehold itself includes 5,500 acres of timber, and much of the land when
cleared will be worth £2 or £3 an acre. Then there is the flax, and it has on it also the line of
tramway which leads to the leasehold. The freehold is the key to the position.

61. You consider the proximity of a bush to the railway is a considerable factor in forming
an estimate as to its value ?—A very material one.

62. If close to the railway-line it would be worth very much more ? In this case you could
have paid 2s. or 3s. more ?—Yes ; but the timber would have been consumed long before this if it
had been near a railway. I am prepared to say—and this opinion is founded on the practical
experience of many men who have talked with me on the subject—that if we had to use our own
horse-tram only, and were to pay Is. per 100ft. royalty on our timber, it would be a fair equivalent
to pay 4s. or ss. per 100ft. royalty if the bushes were close against the Government railway-line.

63. When you speak of the price of your timber, do you mean the wholesale or retail price in
the market?—The price referred to in the circular is intended to represent the selling-price to the
consumer. That would be retail.

64. Mr. Hone Heke.] I understood you to tell Mr. Fraser that if you included all grades of
totara and matai 12s. would be a safe figure ?—On the average of the whole turn-out of the mill
that would be a fair price, I think.

65. Mr. Mander.] Have you any knowledge of the proportions of totara, matai, rimu, and
kahikatea?—The totara and matai predominate wholly in the Native bush. The rimu is a very
small proportion. The totara is more than twice as much as matai.

66. With regard to totara and matai, you give me the price at 12s. per 100ft. ?—Yes, that is
so.

67. Mr. Field.] You said that £150,000 would have to be spent before you got the first load of
timber out?—Yes.

68. Does that include the cost of the railway ?—Yes.
69. It includes everything ?—Yes. The railway will cost pretty well £100,000.
70. And you are still in trouble as to whether you can get the £40,000 which is needed?—Yes.

I have no doubt we shall get it, because by hammering away all these years we have got other
moneys, and I have no doubt we shall get this ; but we have the ordinary risk of the money-market
—its stringency, and so on. The original promoters, who spent many thousands of pounds, have
only ordinary shares, which are of value only if we succeed. Then there are the preference share-
holders and debentureholders. We shall have to issue further debentures.

71. Dr. Findlay said that for a period of two months following the issue of the Order in
Council anybody could have come in and secured this timber?—I think the doctor rather mis-
understood that. My opinion was that two months had to elapse before the Order in Council was
valid—it matures in two months.

72. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] But there was two months to proclaim it to the outside world?—Yes.
73. Mr. Field.] And at the end of the two months the whole world was placed in the same

position as yourself ?—Yes.
74. But you held your documents from the Natives?—Only fifty or sixty had signed.
75. And of those fifty or sixty some belonged to one block and some to another ?—Yes.
76. Subject to the rights acquired under that document the whole world was on even terms

with you ?—Yes.
77. You did not give up your agreement prior to the Order in Council? That was not one of

the conditions?—No.
78. If I had come in and bought from the Natives who had signed your original contract,

would you not have tested the matter ?—lt is just a question of legal right and equity.
79. But you were advised by Mr. Bell, at any rate, that the documents were valid ones?—

Yes ; it was the element of uncertainty that arose when it came to spending large sums of money.
80. This property is owned by the company, I understand?—Yes.
81. I presume there is nothing private about this question : what did you, as the original pro-

prietor, get out of it on the formation of the company ?—I took ordinary shares. I have had no
money ; in fact, we spent between us £12,000 or £15,000 before we moved.

82. And you have got no money back ?—No.
83. How many shares did you get ?—I have 19,000 ordinary shares. (See letter in Appendix.)
84. And how many shares are there in the company?—One hundred and fifty thousand—that

is, in the two companies, 75,000 in each.
85. You do not consider, then, that you are overpaid?—No; I have had to bear the brunt of

the whole thing from the start. I was to have had one-third, but I have had to give away largely
to capital; if the thing fails I do not want anything. I am interested in seeing the business
developed, and I want to see a large industry built up there on fair lines.

86. And, taking all the circumstances into consideration—the expenditure and the inaccessi-
bility of the bush—you consider that the Natives are getting a fair thing out of it?—l do not think
any one would give more. If you take yourself back five years, when timber was not so- valuable
as it is now—and bear in mind that Mr. Bartholomew visited this bush and would not touch it,
because he said it would not pay for generations; and also remember that Prouse Bros, also at
that time went up to Taumarunui and investigated the bushes there, and said they would not pay
to work because the expenditure would be too heavy, you must come to the conclusion that the
price paid was areasonable one.
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87. Mr. Hone Heke.] What time are you speaking of?—1898 or 1899. I say positively that
it would have been impossible—looking back to the position of timber as it stood then—to have
obtained the money on a royalty basis, because royalty is paid on bushes more easily available and
not requiring such great efforts to get the timber to market. I know that it would be a hopeless
quest to seek capital for that bush on a royalty basis. Of course, people are apt to judge the
matter now by the present condition of things, but when we took that bush up the timber was not
in anything like the present demand, and if it were not for the tramway that we are putting in it
would now be valueless, just as the bushes at Waimarino and Taumarunui would be valueless if it
were not for the main trunk railway, so far as capitalists and timber-men are concerned. The
capital could not be got except on the basis of constructing a line and taking a far-reaching view
of the matter.

88. Mr. Field.] You know there has been inserted in the Maori Land Laws Amendment Bill
a clause—clause 31—providing for the review of all contracts giving timber rights over Native
lands ?—I am told so.

89. This inquiry has not been made with a view to assailing your transaction, but in the
course of consideration of the clause in question, and in taking evidence in connection with other
people's dealings, it was suggested that you were getting a much better bargain than other saw-
millers were. We have had it in evidence that people who have obtained bush very much closer
than your bush are paying 2s. 3d. for totara, Is. for matai, Bd. for rimu, and 4d. for kahikatea.
Now, do you know enough about the subject to say whether those prices compare unfavourably
with the price you are paying, or what do you say in answer to that question ? Do you think you
are getting a much better bargain than other sawmillers are ?—No ; I consider we have given
enough, taking into consideration the cost of building this long tramway of fifty-one miles. On
the other hand, judging from the general rates given, the prices you have named seem to be very
fair.

90. Mr. Harding.] I understand that you have started work on the tramway ?—Yes.
91. Are you laying down a horse-tramway, or rails sufficiently strong to carry an engine?—We

are laying down a wooden tramway, but so graded and sleepered that we can convert it without
any additional cost. Our bridges are all railway-bridges. Mr. James E. Fulton is our engineer,
and his capacity is well known. We have laid the tram down in wood, but with a view to using
steel rails as soon as it is possible to purchase them.

92. What about your curves; have they been considered too?—Yes; all the curves and
grades have been taken into consideration, and we have imported a special engine. Our object is
solely to get the timber out, and we recognise that unless the whole thing is done on economical
lines we shall find ourselves in difficulties.

93. Mr. Heke.] You have already stated, in answer to a question, that your expenditure for
the railway will be about £100,000 ?—Yes.

94. Does that include rolling-stock ?—Yes ; but that would not be very heavy relatively to the
whole of the expenditure.

95. Would the £100,000 include the steel rails ?—Yes.
96. And the formation of the line ?—Yes.
97. With regard to the rolling-stock proper : is that included ?—Yes; I think that amount

might cover it. At present we shall have a 24-ton engine and twenty timber-wagons of an
improved type.

98. To be safe, you make the estimate for the railway £150,000 ?—No; that is our total
expenditure for everything—for the railway, property, and everything else.

99. Including the plant at the mills?—-Yes.
100. Have you a plant at the mill working now ?—-Yes ; cutting. We supply the contractors

for the line with the necessary timber.
101. Can you give us any idea as to the output of the mill?—The mill is capable of cutting

about 12,000,000 ft. a year, working with a double shift. The mill will be lighted with
electricity, and is constructed with the greatest regard to economical handling ; and we are in a
position now, when the railway is through, to cut 10,000,000 or 12,000,000 ft. a year.

102. Is it in full working-order at the present time?—Yes; subject to being tuned up. The
whole thing is there, but it will take a little time to get things into complete working-order.

103. Supposing the Putaruru-Litchfield line was built up to within two or three miles of where
the bushes are being worked, what royalty would you be able to give ?—1 think the property would
be worth about the same royalty as has been given on the main trunk line, speaking generally and
without going into a calculation.

104. What proportion of bush is there on Grice's property—your freehold ?—There are over
5,500 acres of milling-bush, but a portion of that does not contain much totara. It is matai and
rimu, but of very good quality.

105. When you were negotiating with the Natives for the purchase of this timber lease were
there any other Europeans keen enough to move about for the same purpose?—No ; no one would
look at it. There had been several men up there, the Natives told me, but they would not look
at it—the difficulties were too great. They offered it to me at first for£1 an acre, and that induced
me to go there.

106. When did you start to negotiate with the Natives about Taumarunui?—lt was prior to
the negotiations I have been speaking about.

107. Did you obtain the right over many blocks there ?—I have agreements over a group of
blocks around Taumarunui.

108. You said there were 5,500 acres of timber-area on your freehold ?—Yes.
109. Does the line of railway run through that or alongside of it ?—-The freehold extends from

the Waikato Biver to Taupo Lake, and the tram runs twelve miles or more south from the river
through the freehold before it turns in towards the leasehold bushes.
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110. What amount of royalty would you be able to give the Natives if the line was a Govern-
ment line and was already made up to this bush ?—lt would be worth the same money as the
timber would be worth on the main trunk line—2s., perhaps, for totara, and Is. for matai, and so
on.

111. But on what measurement ? Would you give 2s. for totara on the log-measurement ?—
That would need consideration; but, speaking generally, I would say 2s. would be a fair average
on the output.

112. With regard to the timber at Taupo: if you had a railway constructed there by the
Government, would you say you could give Is. per 100ft. log-measurement all round on all the
timbers?—Yes ; because there is a large proportion of matai and totara. The proportion of the
cheaper timbers is small.

113. Beferring to your ability to give Is. all round, log-measurement—l am speaking ofthe two
properties, and include the four timbers totara, matai, rimu, and kahikatea—would you be able to
give Is. all round ?—Possibly.

114. You could not say definitely ?—I think that might be afair price, knowing as Ido the pro-
portions of totara and matai on the property.

115. Hon. Mr. Carroll.] Have you a list of the shareholders of the company registered ?—I
have not got one with me, but I will gladly supply it to the Committee. (See Appendix.)

116. The Chairman.] Is there any flax on the Native land at Taupo ?—Yes.
117. Have you the power to work the flax under the agreement ?—No ; that lies with the

Natives. The flax is very scattered, but they tell me there is quite a considerable quantity.
118. Is there any flax on your freehold ?—Yes; but we have no rights over the flax on the

Native land.
119. Mr. Parata.] Your rights are confined to the timber ?—Strictly to the timber.
120. Mr. Mander.] By putting this railway into that country, and making the flax a market-

able commodity, I suppose you would increase the value of the Native property considerably ?—
Yes, undoubtedly.

APPENDIX.
Sir,— Wellington, 7th November, 1903.

I enclose herewith list of names of ordinary and preference shareholders in the Taupo
Totara Timber Company (Limited) which I undertook to hand to you.

In reply to Mr. Field, I said that I held 19,000 ordinary shares. I originally held as vendor of
interests in both companies 22,500, or 11,250 in each. Of these, however, I have parted with
some to friends and relatives, all of whose names appear on the list handed in. I now hold 19,482
ordinary shares—that is, 9,741 in the Taupo Totara Timber Company (Limited), and a like number
in the Wellington Industrial Development Company (Limited) which owns " Grice's freehold " ; so
that the consideration I received in respect of the Native bushes was 11,250 ordinary shares in the
Taupo Totara Timber Company (Limited). Yours, &c,

The Chairman, Native Affairs Committee, Wellington. Tudor Atkinson.
The Taupo Totara Timber Company (Limited).

Preference Shareholders.
Bayly, G. Om runholder, Pahiatua; Williams, William, runholder, Te Aute, Hawke's Bay;
Williams, Allen, M., runholder, Te Aute, Hawke's Bay; Warren, Lucy F., Wellington; Crawford,
H. E. V., runholder, Pahiatua; Munro, Charles J., Palmerston North; Bayley, F. E., Captain
20th Hussars, Cairo; Strang Bros., runholders, Palmerston North; Bussell, H. H., runholder,
Hawke's Bay; Abraham, B. S., merchant, Palmerston North ; Luxford, S. W. and W. L., saw-
millers, Dannevirke; Collins, William E., M.D., Wellington ; Fell, Walter, M.D., Wellington ;
Denniston, G. J., runholder, Bangitata; Williams, G. A., station-manager, Kaikoura North;
Stuart, Thomas, runholder, Napier; Dalston, N. H. M., General Manager, Midland Bailway Com-
pany, Wellington; Guthrie-Smith, W. H., runholder, Napier; Guthrie-Smith, Georgina M.,
Napier; Hastie, William, runholder, Kaikoura North; Bayley, J. F., Halls Dunbar, N.B. ;
Bayley, E. C, Captain 15th Lancers, Punjaub ; Bussell, A. E., runholder, Palmerston North ;
Keiller, W. A., runholder, Bull's, Bangitikei; Keiller, E. J.,runholder, Bull's, Bangitikei; Wenley,
G. S. V., merchant, Napier; Wilson, J. G., runholder, Bull's, Bangitikei; Hoby, Arthur, dentist,
Wellington; St. Hill, Charles P., runholder, Porangahau, Hawke's Bay; Birch, Lydia, Thoresly,
Marton; Barnett, Lewis E.,M.D.,Dunedin; Fell, Arthur, London, England; Saunders, J.,contractor,
Wellington; Atkinson, E. G., schoolmaster, Wanganui; Fell, Henry S., clerk in holy orders, care
of Dr. Fell, Wellington; Mace, George W., runholder, Bramerton, Masterton ; Logan, Francis,
solicitor, Napier; Maclaurin, B. C, professor, Wellington; Findlay and Dalziell, solicitors,
Wellington ; Ferguson, William, civil engineer, Wellington ; Wenley and Lanauze, merchants,
Napier ; Fulton, JamesE., civil engineer, Wellington; Chambers, T. M., runholder, Havelock North,
Hawke's Bay ; Chambers, Bernard, runholder, Havelock North, Hawke's Bay; Nolan, Octavia J.,
Hawera ; Birch, W. C. O, runholder, Moawhango ; Dalrymple, J. T., runholder, Bull's, Bangitikei;
Cook, C. H. H., professor of mathematics, Christchurch; Bruce, J. Charles, Portsoy, N.8.;
Abraham, M. F., Palmerston North ; Gaisford, H. W., runholder, Dannevirke ; Empson, W.,
headmaster, Wanganui College; Pease, J. F., runholder, Hawera; Atkinson, MaryH., Wellington;
St. Hill,Felix P., civil engineer, Wellington ; Potts, JaneE., Kereru Koputarua ; Loughnan, C. A.,
solicitor, Palmerston North; Atkinson, S. A., solicitor, Wellington; Bussell, A. E., Palmerston North.
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Atkinson, E. T., solicitor, Wellington; Fell, W., M.D., Wellington; Collins, W.E., M.D., Wel-
lington ; Fulton, James E., civil engineer, Wellington; Miles, A. H., merchant, Wellington;
Pharazyn, C. B.; Lysaght, B. C, runholder, Hawera; Findlay and Dalziell, solicitors, Welling-
ton; Atkinson, A. C, dentist, Hawera; Price, Thomas, timber-merchant, Petone; Lysaght,runholder, Hawera; Simpson, B. M., General Manager, Phoenix Assurance Company, Wellington ;
Nolan, B. H., runholder, Hawera; Hoby, A., dentist, Wellington; Fell, A., London; Atkinson,
H. D., clerk, Wellington; Fell, Charles, solicitor, Nelson; Warren, Holmes, Tiraumea, Alfredton ;
Hall, Henry, solicitor, Wellington; Atkinson, S. A., solicitor, Wellington; Swan, J. S., architect,
Wellington; Empson, W., headmaster, Wanganui College ; Pease, J. F., runholder, Hawera;
Barton, E. L., runholder, Hawera; Atkinson, Lady, Wellington; Stocker, B. E. S., clerk,
Wellington; Halliwell, H., solicitor, Hawera; Fantham, A. A., auctioneer, Hawera; Atkinson,
Mrs. E. F., Wellington ; Dalston, N. H. M., Manager, New Zealand Midland Bailway Company,
Wellington.

Sir,— Piriaka, King-country, 28th October, 1903.
Noticing by paper report of parliamentary proceedings that a Bill is before the House—the

Native Land Laws Amendment Bill—which if passed will cause us considerable expense, I now
write you to explain our position, hoping you will help us if you can.

We have negotiated with the Natives for the right of cutting the timber now standing or other-
wise on a block of land called Waimarino No. 6, of about 1,360 acres, of which about one-third is
fair milling-bush of mixed timber—kahikatea, rimu, matai, and totara—the rest fern-scrub and
valueless trees. We are to pay the owners a royalty of 2s. per 100 ft. for first class of any sort, Is.
for second class, and 6d. for third class, all any sort of timber, and to pay for leasehold of mill-site
a rent of £15 per acre per annum, which the Native Council have given their approval to; and we
are only allowed about 300 acres to go on with, and to cut no more until all valuable or saleable
timber is removed of the portion allotted to us, and to sow down in grass land gone over. The
Natives have now received £200, which was to be deducted out of royalty ; and clearing and level-
ling a portion for mill-site and making tram-line, and other work and general expense, has cost us
about £300 more ; and there is no way of getting back any of it unless the mill goes on, and we are
only workers, and can ill afford to lose so much. We are to pay a higher royalty than the Govern-
ment is charging, and, besides, when we entered into negotiations for the bush it was quite legiti-
mate, and to make void a transaction that was done according to the existing laws of the country
is anything but fair. Hoping you will do what you can in our behalf, we remain,

Yours, &c,
Hugh Mclvor. Edward Jamieson.

Mr. Jennings, M.H.8., Wellington. Andrew Fleming. George Morris.

(Telegram.) Kohukohu, 30th October, 1903.
For kahikatea and rimu, Is. lOd.; kauri and totara, 3s. 6d. ; delivered at mills.

Hone Heke, Wellington. Hori Karaka.

(Telegram.) Kohukohu, 1903.
Kauri Timber Company giving—kauri, 3s. 6d. hundred delivered; kahikatea, Is. lOd.

Hone Heke, Wellington. Hori Karaka.

[Translation.]
(Telegram.) Te Kuiti, 24th October, 1903.

Please strongly oppose the proposal of the Government in regard to the timber-bushes of the
Maoris ; we are satisfied with the arrangements. Manawaiti,

Massey, Wellington. And all of us.

Approximate Cost ofPaper.—Preparation,not given; printing (1,425 copies), £26 14s.

By Authority : John Mackay, Government Printer, Wellington.—l9o3.
Prict, It.
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